
The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

 BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

September 7, 2023 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

   CLOSED SESSION: 

 A.   CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION – Significant exposure 
      to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Government Code § 54956.9: One case. 

OPEN SESSION: 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT

This portion of the meeting is reserved for people desiring to address the Board on matters not on the

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting.

2. CONSENT CALENDAR:

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board.

A. Approve the Board Minutes for August 17, 2023

B. Approve the Warrant List for September 7, 2023

C. Approve Award of Contract for Primary Clarifier #1 Rehabilitation Project

D. Approve Award of Contract for On-Call Contract for Construction Projects (2023-2025)

E. Approve Application of Allocation of Capacity for APN 179-041-27 350 Merrydale Road

F. Approve  Resolution 2023-2317 Project Approval and Notice of Exemption Solar Photovoltaic
System Upgrades 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B through D. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through F. 

4:55 PM 

5:00 PM 

Estimated 
Time 

4:30 PM 

4:35 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


September 7, 2023 Page 2 of 4 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

 

 

3. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. General Manager’s Report – verbal 

2. Collections Department Report – written 

3. Operations Department Report – written 

4. Engineering Department Report – written 

5. Administration Department Report – written 

6. Quarterly Treasurer’s & Financial Reports as of June 30, 2023 – written 

7. Report on Point Blue Conservation Science’s STRAW Program 2022-2023 – written 

 

4. REQUEST FOR DONATION FROM POINT BLUE CONSERVATION SCIENCE FOR THE STUDENTS 
AND TEACHERS RESTORING A WATERSHED (STRAW) PROGRAM  

Board to review the Request for Donation from Point Blue Conservation Science for the Students and 
Teachers Restoring a Watershed (STRAW) program. 

 

5. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) BETWEEN THE LAS GALLINAS VALLEY 
SANITARY DISTRICT (LGVSD) AND THE OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL THREE (OE3) 

Board to review and approve the MOU between LGVSD and OE3. 

 

6. EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS FOR MANAGEMENT AND UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE  

Board to review and approve the Employment Agreements for Management and Unrepresented 
Employee. 

 

7. RESOLUTION 2023-2316 ADOPTING THE SALARY PAY SCALES EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023 

Board to review and approve Resolution 2023-2316 adopting the Salary Pay Scales effective July 1, 
2023. 

 

8. LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT RESPONSE TO THE GRAND JURY  REPORT 

Board and staff to review Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District’s response to the Marin County Civil Grand 
Jury report “Build More ADUs – An RX to Increase Marin’s Housing Supply” 

 

9. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS: 

 

1. CLARK  
a. NBWA Board Committee, 2023 Operations Control Center Ad Hoc Committee,  

Other Reports  
 
 
 

5:10 PM 

 

6:10  PM 

 

6:40  PM 

 

6:45  PM 

 

6:30 PM 

 

6:35 PM 

 

6:55  PM 

 

2



September 7, 2023 Page 3 of 4 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

2. FORD
a. NBWRA, 2023 Operations Control Center Ad Hoc Committee,

2023 McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, 2023 Fleet Management  Ad Hoc Committee,
2023 GM Evaluation Ad Hoc Committee, 2023 San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

3. MURRAY
a. Marin LAFCO, 2023 Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,

2023 Development Ad Hoc Committee, 2023 San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

4. ROBARDS
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, 2023 Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,

2023 McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, 2023 Development Ad Hoc Committee,
2023 GM Evaluation Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

5. YEZMAN
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  2023 Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE,

Marin Special Districts, 2023 Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee,  Other Reports

10. BOARD REQUESTS:
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

11. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

12. ADJOURNMENT

 FUTURE BOARD MEETING DATES: SEPTEMBER 21 AND OCTOBER 5, 2023 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before September 4, 2023 4:30 p.m., I posted the Agenda for the 
Board Meeting of said Board to be held on September 7, 2023, at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas 
Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: August 30, 2023 

_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
Board Secretary 

7:05 PM 

7:10 PM 

AGENDA APPROVED: Megan Clark, President Patrick Richardson, Legal Counsel 

7:15  PM 

3



September 7, 2023 Page 4 of 4 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

 
  _________________________________________________________________  

 

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study sessions. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 
Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting. 

 

4



 

 
 

 

9/7/2023 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

 Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM A 

5



 

 
 

 

9/7/2023 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



 

 

 Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Award of Contract for Primary Clarifier #1 Rehabilitation to Pacific Infrastructure 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the award of contract to Pacific Infrastructure for the Primary Clarifier #1 
Rehabilitation project. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Primary Clarifier #1 mechanism installed in the 1980s has reached the end of its useful life. 
The project provides for replacement of the 80-foot diameter clarifier arm, center column, and 
associated components including catwalks and drive units with upgraded components made of 
stainless steel. The project includes proper off-site disposal of the old mechanism. Project 
duration is tentatively set at 300 calendar days due to the long lead time of the equipment. 
 
The District opened bids for the project on August 17, 2023. Pacific Infrastructure of Pleasanton is 
the apparent low bidder. Staff has evaluated the two bids and found that Pacific Infrastructure is a 
responsive and responsible bidder. 
 

Bidder      Bid Price 
1. Myers & Sons Construction LLC (Sacramento)  $1,565,565 
2. Pacific Infrastructure (Pleasanton)   $1,366,200* 
* - Apparent low bidder. 

 
The low bid price exceeds the current FY 2023-24 CIP project budget of $1,000,000. The 
unfunded portion and other remaining project costs such as construction management and 
inspection services will be funded from unspent capital carryover funds from other approved 
projects. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On June 1, 2023, the Board approved Call for Bids for Primary Clarifier #1 (PC#1) Rehabilitation 
using in-kind clarifier mechanism manufactured by Ovivo (formerly Dorr-Oliver/Eimco).  
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
$1,366,200 

Item Number_______2C_________ 

GM Review   ______CP__________ 

 

19

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

 Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Award of Contract for On-Call Contract for Construction Projects (2023-2025) to 
Piazza Construction 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the award of a 2-year contract to Piazza Construction for the On-Call Contract 
for Construction Projects. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On August 24, 2023, the District opened bids for the On-Call Contract for Construction Projects 
for FY 2023-2025. Piazza Construction of Penngrove, who was the District on-call contractor for 
the prior 2-year period, is the apparent low bidder with a base bid of 12% on the labor mark-up. 
Their current bid of 12% is 5% higher than the previous bid, which is reasonable given the bid 
climate and high inflation rate. Staff has evaluated the bids and found that Piazza Construction is 
a responsive and responsible bidder. 
 

Bidders Labor Mark-up 

1. Piazza Construction (Penngrove) 12%* 

2. CATS4U (Healdsburg) 18% 

* - Apparent low bidder. 

The contract would allow the District to have a standby contractor under contract to perform small 
projects that can be typically completed in one week and more importantly provide construction 
services during emergency response. The contract duration is 24 months with a maximum budget 
of $200,000 per fiscal year. Compensation for each on-call task is based on time and expense 
tracking according to force account rates as outlined in the current Labor Surcharge & Equipment 
Rental Rate Book published regularly by Caltrans Division of Construction. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Maximum budget of $200,000 per fiscal year. 

Item Number__________2D______ 

GM Review   _________CP_______ 

 

20

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 
 

 Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: September 7, 2023 
Re: Application for Allocation of Capacity for APN 179-041-27 
 350 Merrydale Rd 
Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 
Standard Contract:    Yes           No     (See attached) Not Applicable       X      . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the issuance of a Will Serve Letter for the proposed project at 350 Merrydale 
Road. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The project consists of demolition of existing one-story buildings and construction of nine (9) 
buildings to provide forty-five (45) townhouses and condominiums, and a Community Room at 
350 Merrydale Road. As part of the project, the existing 6” VCP sewer main serving the property 
will be abandoned and replaced with a private gravity sewer system consisting of 6” and 4” PVC 
service laterals. At the request of District staff, 233 Linear Feet (LF) of the existing 6” public sewer 
on Redwood Highway will be upgraded to 8” PVC from the point of connection to the downstream 
trunk sewer manhole. The applicant has satisfactorily addressed and incorporated District plan 
review comments. District staff has reviewed the plans and information submitted. Based on the 
information provided, a Will Serve Letter has been drafted and a connection fee of $308,382 has 
been assessed for the project.  
 
Staff issued Preliminary Conditions of Approval in September 2020 limiting the number of 
residential units to forty-five (45) due to previous overflow on the Mulligan Trunk Sewer and 
outlining the responsibilities of the applicant, such as design and construction of all sanitary sewer 
facilities, including quitclaim of the existing 10’-wide sanitary sewer easement. District staff hired 
Nute Engineering in 2019 and Hazen & Sawyer in 2020 to investigate the cause of the sewer 
overflow and to analyze hydraulic impacts of the proposed project to the overall Mulligan system. 
The results indicated that Mulligan Pump Station has sufficient capacity to accommodate the 
proposed project. Subsequent inspections by District staff indicated that debris buildup due to an 
upstream construction project may be the cause of the overflow. Based on the analyses and field 
inspections, staff concluded that sufficient capacity exists for up to forty-five (45) residential units 
for the project. 
 
The Will Serve Letter is contingent upon satisfaction of the conditional requirement to fulfill 
connection fee obligation before the District provides the final sign-off.  
 
Potential Access Issues to Impacted Sewer Facilities: None; proposed improvements to the sewer 
main will be within public street right-of-way. 

Item Number________2E________ 
GM Review  ________CP_________ 
 

21

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 
 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
Additional Flow Contribution: The District Ordinance refers to one Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) 
as a Single-Family Dwelling Unit that includes up to 20 Plumbing Fixture Units (PFU). Assuming 
200 gallons per day (gpd) per EDU, the flow contribution per PFU is approximately 10 gpd. 
 
The estimated additional flow from the proposed project is approximately 9,000 gpd. It will have 
some impact on downstream sewer facilities. Staff is tracking additional flows from proposed 
residential and commercial developments and will be evaluating the combined effects as part of 
the overall collection system hydraulic analysis. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Connection Fee Revenue of $308,382. 
 
 

 
Figure 1. Location Map 

22



  
 

1 

101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300  • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

Date:    September 7, 2023 
 
Property Owner(s):  Ridgewood Properties/Francine M. Clayton 
 
Property Owner Address: 454 Las Gallinas Ave, Suite 284 
    San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
Applicant:   Michael R. Hooper with Campus Properties, LLC 
        
Project Name:   350 Merrydale Rd 
    
Project Address:  350 Merrydale Rd  
    San Rafael, CA 94903 
 
Project APN:   APN 179-041-27 
 
Re: Will–Serve Letter 
 
You have requested a Will–Serve Letter from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“LGVSD”) at 
the September 7, 2023 Board Meeting. 
 
Subject to the terms and conditions in this letter, LGVSD will serve the project consisting of 45 
townhomes or condominiums (residential units). This letter may be used to submit to another local 
agency to satisfy a condition for either tentative subdivision map approval or any other permit approval. 
 
This letter is contingent upon the following: 

1) Satisfaction of all of the conditions and requirements set forth in the Preliminary 
Conditions of Approval issued in September 2020 to the applicant. 

2) Satisfaction of the conditional requirement to address any corrective actions in the sanitary 
sewer improvement components of the project and fulfill connection fee obligation before 
the District signing off on the final inspection. 

 
The standard terms and conditions of approval are as follows: 
Initial Item Condition of Approval 
 1 Applicant shall pay for the facility capacity fee (new connection fee) in accordance 

with LGVSD ordinances and policies.  Please note payment date obligation and 
amount obligation. 

 2 Applicant agrees to abide by all conditions of approval of the Board of Directors 
and District staff. 

 3 This Will-Serve approval terminates three (3) years from the Board meeting date 
unless all building permits have been issued for the project. 

 4 Field verification before and after construction is required for this project. 
Applicant shall accommodate and coordinate with District hired third-party 
inspector. 

 5 Prior to the connection of any sewer lateral, you must contact the District for the 
sewer lateral inspection permit and the application is available on District website. 
A lateral tie-in inspection is required before any lateral can be backfilled. 

 6 After the sewer lateral inspection is completed and the connections is verified, the 

23



LGVSD Will Serve Letter 
350 Merrydale Rd 

2 
101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300  • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

project will be added to the sewer user charge and will receive a charge for this 
service annually. 

 7 Applicant shall reimburse the District for all plan review, field verification before 
and after construction, and inspection fees accrued associated with this project. 

 
A complete summary of the project specific conditions of approval is included in the Board Meeting 
minutes. 
 
The Connection Fee approved by the Board is as follows: 

Connection Fee for 45 Townhomes/Condominiums at $8,189/unit:   $   368,505.00 
Credit for 147 existing PFUs at $409/PFU:  <$     60,123.00> 
Application Fee:    $          500.00 (paid) 
Engineering Review and Inspection Fees:    $             TBD     
Total Fee:    $   308,882.00 
Outstanding Balance:     $   308,382.00 
 

The proposed PFU shall be subjected to field verification upon project completion. The connection fee 
may be adjusted for actual number of additional plumbing fixture units. 
 
The District ordinance provides for payment of the Connection Fee over a two-year period according to 
the following: 
 

1. 10% of the Connection Fee is due within thirty days of Board approval of final plans and 
specifications; 

2. 40% of the Connection Fee is due within one year, September 7, 2024; or upon the date of 
building permit issuance, whichever occurs first; 

3. 50% of the Connection Fee is due within two years, September 7, 2025; or upon the date of 
building permit issuance, whichever occurs first; 

 
Please remit $308,382 and make the check payable to Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Please note if 
payment schedule as above is not followed, you risk losing your allocation. 
 
By issuing this Will-Serve Letter, LGVSD is not incurring any liability of any nature, including but not 
limited to mandate, damages or injunctive relief.  LGVSD is making no representation to the applicant 
nor waiving any rights it has under any applicable State or Federal law.  In the event there is any court 
imposed moratorium on LGVSD, a connection to the District system may not occur.  In the event any 
government agency imposes a moratorium on LGVSD, a connection to the District system may not occur.  
In the event there is not sufficient capacity, a connection to the District system may not occur. 
 
If connection has not been made within three years, the allocation will be terminated without prejudice.  
Upon request, you will receive a refund of 90% of the above fees and you will be able to re-apply for an 
allocation at the fee rate then prevailing.  Please sign and date the original of this letter and return it to the 
District office within 10 days.  The copy is for your records. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Michael P. Cortez, PE District Engineer 
 
 

24



LGVSD Will Serve Letter 
350 Merrydale Rd 

3 
101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300  • San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472-1734  •  Fax 415.499-7715  •  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

AGREED: 
 
_____________________________________________________ Date:_________________________ 
Project Applicant Signature 
 
Cc: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 

25



Page 1 of 2

Agenda Summary Report

To: Board of Directors
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer

(415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org
Mtg. Date: September 7, 2023

Re: Approve Resolution 2023-2317 Project Approval and Notice of Exemption
Solar Photovoltaic System Upgrades

Item Type:  Consent X Action     Information Other             .

Standard Contract:    Yes      No (See attached) Not Applicable     X     .

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Board to approve Resolution No. 2023-2317, directing staff to file the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Notice of Exemption application with the County Clerk of Marin for the Solar 
Photovoltaic (PV) System Upgrades project.

BACKGROUND
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is the lead agency for the following project, which will be 
performed by FFP BTM Solar, LLC (aka ForeFront Power):

1. Solar Photovoltaic System Upgrades. This project provides for the replacement of the 
existing solar PV system consisting of solar panels, power inverters, and combiner boxes 
with more efficient components and the reuse of existing infrastructure as appropriate on 
the same parcel APN 155-011-15 without altering topographic features of the site and 
expanding the existing footprint of the facility.

Pursuant to Guideline 15062 of CEQA, LGVSD may file a Notice of Exemption application with 
the County Clerk of Marin after approval of the project. This procedure will be utilized for 
potentially environmentally sensitive projects that warrant filing of Notice of Exemption.

The project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to Section 15301 and 15302 of the CEQA Guidelines 
as depicted in the Notice of Exemption application attached and as summarized below.

Section Guideline
15301 Class 1 consists of the operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, 

or minor alteration of existing public or private structures, facilities, mechanical 
equipment, or topographical features, involving negligible or no expansion of existing 
or former use.

15302 Class 2 consists of replacement or reconstruction of existing structures and facilities 
where the new structure will be located on the same site as the structure replaced 
and will have substantially the same purpose and capacity as the structure replaced.

Documents attached include:
1. Resolution No. 2023-2317
2. Solar Photovoltaic System Upgrades Notice of Exemption Application

Item Number______2F________

GM Review _______CP_________

26



Page 2 of 2

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION
N/A

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
N/A

FISCAL IMPACT
N/A

Figure 1. Site Map

Storage Pond #2

Storage Pond #1
Marsh 
Pond

Solar Arrays

27



Resolution No. 2023-2317 Page 1 of 1

RESOLUTION No. 2023-2317

A RESOLUTION APPROVING SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC SYSTEM UPGRADES PROJECT
AND MAKING DETERMINATIONS AND AUTHORIZING THE FILING OF A NOTICE OF 

EXEMPTION FROM CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

WHEREAS, the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) requires a public agency to 
approve or to determine to carry out a project subject to CEQA before filing a Notice of Exemption; and

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board of Directors, by this Resolution, 
approves the Project(s) described below.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board of 
Directors, which finds and determines as follows:

1. Approves the Project(s) described as follows:

a. Solar Photovoltaic System Upgrades Project

2.   Finds that the Project(s) is (are) exempt from CEQA pursuant to the Notice(s) of Exemption 
attached and incorporated herein by this reference.

3.   Finds that no Project(s) is (are) subject to CEQA Guideline 15300.2.

4. Directs staff to file the Notice(s) of Exemption pursuant to 15062 of the CEQA Guidelines.

* * * * *   * * * *

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin County,

California, at a meeting thereof held on September 7, 2023, by the following vote of the members thereof:

AYES, and in the favor thereof, Members: 

NOES, Members: 

ABSENT, Members:

ABSTAIN, Members:

____________________________________
Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary,
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

APPROVED:
(seal)

____________________________
Megan Clark, Board President

28



29



 

 
 

 

9/7/2023 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 3.1 

30



Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report – April-June 2023  9/7/2023 

Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report Page 1 of 4 

SSO SPILL SUMMARY 

• 6/20/2023 – 899 Northgate Drive

o Category I (Did make it to waters of the state) SSO

o 1439 -gallon SSO (Captured and Returned 650 gallons to system).

o Cause – Roots/Wipes

KEY MAINTENANCE PROJECTS 

• Completed Annual PM on Secondary Clarifier-2.

• Installed Weir Washer on Secondary Clarifier-2.

• Irrigation pump #2 removed and sent to shop for repair estimate.

• Installed signage on dead end golf course road.

• Installed 2 new hoists and modified intake screens on pond return sump.

• PG&E crews replaced the reclamation pump station transformer.

• Recycled water Clean In Place pump 2 rebuilt.

• Contractor replaced media on 3 Siloxane vessels on BERS skid due to Siloxane
breakthrough.

• Completed annual PM on BERS skid, rebuilt both gas compressors, replaced all plastic
gaskets and filter elements, and leak checked system.

• Completed annual maintenance on both boilers.

• Completed annual Electrical PM on Marinwood Pump Station Motor Control Center.

• Ran plant water to WAS thickener polymer activation unit.

• Installed 4 life rings on Aeration basins.

• Primary Clarifier-2 annual PM completed and installed new Sprayer nozzles and block
off plate on old bypass weir box.

• Primary Clarifier-3 Annual PM completed and installed new Sprayer nozzles.

• Replaced Volvo generator block heater and upgraded block heater electrical supply.

• Routine Preventative Maintenance Work Orders – Treatment Plant/Pump

Stations/Reclamation

• (400) Fleet Maintenance Inspections

SAFETY ISSUES AND TRAINING 

• Bloodborne Pathogens/Emergency Response Training – DuAll

• Hearing Conservation and Silica Exposure Training – DuAll

• Heat Illness and Fire Extinguisher Training – DuAll

• Annual Hearing Tests – DuAll

• Hot Work and Confined Space Entry (Refresher) Training - DuAll

OTHER 

• Collection System – Pump Station Maintenance (Routine)

• Collection System – “Shutout” Manhole Sealant delivered

• Air Release Valve Maintenance (Quarterly)

Agenda item 3.2

31



  Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report – April-June 2023  9/7/2023 

   
 

 

Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report Page 2 of 4 

REQUESTS FOR PROPOSALS 

• None 

PERFORMANCE METRICS 

Collection System Cleaning and CCTV Inspection 

• Flushed/Rodded = 138,921 feet; Percent of District = 25.1%. 

• CCTV Inspected = 38,010 feet; Percent of District = 6.9% 

• Manhole inspections performed = 846 

• USA Ticket Work Orders = 645 

CNG Fueling Stations 

• Smith Ranch Fuel Station  

o 16 Fill-ups  

o Total Diesel Gallon Equivalent (DGE) = 365 DGE 

o Average MPG = 5.10 MPG/3-month miles driven = 1,663 or 25.6 miles/day 

Pump Station Highlight – Civic Center (2 - 10hp + 2 – 20hp pumps) 

Location: 111 McInnis Parkway (East of Embassy Suites) 

Parcel 180-410-08 

Date Constructed: 1989  

Expansions: None 

 

 

 

 

32



  Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report – April-June 2023  9/7/2023 

   
 

 

Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report Page 3 of 4 

Lateral Construction and Repair Inspections 

• Applications received = 33 

• Full Replacement Inspections Performed = 8 Full Replacements 

• Cleanout Installation Inspections Performed = 3 Cleanout Installations 

• Spot Repairs/Upper/Lower Replacements Performed = 12 partial replacements or spot 

repairs 

 

 
 

Sewer Lateral Ordinance No. 180 - Number of Applications Processed 

• Home Sale Applicants = 41 received 

• Building Permit ($30,000 valuation) Applicants = 6 received 

 

      
 

 

 

35%

13%

52%

Lateral Construction and Repair 
Inspections

Full Lateral Replacement

Cleanout Installation Inspection

Partial Replacement - Spot
Repair/Upper/Lower Lateral

87%

13%

Applications - Home Sale vs Building 
Permit (Triggers)

Home Sales

Building Permit ($30,000
Valuation)

33



  Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report – April-June 2023  9/7/2023 

   
 

 

Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report Page 4 of 4 

Sewer Lateral Ordinance No. 180 - Letter of Findings  

• Home Sale Letter of Findings Issued = 52; 13 - recommend replacement, 26 -have 

defects that require monitoring, 11 - no work or monitoring required, 2 – Incomplete 

Applications, 0 – Illegal connection 

 

       

21%

50%

25%

0%

4%

Letter of Findings Issued

No Work Required

Has Defects That Require
Monitoring

Recommend Replacement

Illegal Connections

Incomplete Application

34



Plant Operations Department Report – April - June 2023 9/7/2023  

Plant Operations Department Report Page 1 of 2 

CRITICAL PROCESS 

• Treatment plant effluent was discharged to Miller Creek through the end of April and
was then directed to the reclamation storage ponds in May and June.

• Three Biowheel aeration trains were in operation during this report period. Persistent

drive chain component failures were observed by operations staff and replaced by

maintenance staff throughout the quarter.

• Yard piping between the new secondary clarifiers and the chlorine contact chamber was

inspected with a camera in June which confirmed that debris was not obstructing flow.

A redesign effort to resolve the existing flow restriction followed.

NON-CRITICAL PROCESS 

• Department supervisors and lead staff completed the Regional Government Services

leadership academy courses during this reporting period.

• Plant staff worked with the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade/Recycled Water

Expansion (STPURWE) project general contractor to complete the fencing,  paving and

miscellaneous punch list items.

• April- Three department staff members attended the CWEA Annual Conference.

• May – New siloxane filtration media was installed by a contract firm in the Biogas

Energy Recovery System (BERS) conditioning skid.

• June – Department of Energy sponsored San Francisco State University Industrial

Assessment Center representatives submitted their treatment plant energy audit report

to staff.

• May- Maintenance staff installed a weir washing apparatus on secondary clarifier #2.

• June- West Yost submitted the SCADA network cybersecurity assessment to staff.

• June- STPURWE Project Ribbon Cutting Event held at McInnis Park Golf Club House.

PERFORMANCE METRICS 
Sewage Treated 

• 5.18 million gallons per day average daily influent flow from April through June.
Recycled Water Production 

• 11.84 million gallons of recycled water was pumped to North Marin Water District

• 59.86 million gallons of recycled water was pumped to Marin Municipal Water District

Reclamation 

• Pond Levels Beginning of April – Pond #1 = 6.3’ - Pond #2 = 6.2’ ~ 70% of Capacity

• Pond Levels at the End of June – Pond #1 = 8.3’ - Pond #2 = 8.2’ ~ 92% of Capacity

Solar Power Generation 

• 14,694 kWh offsetting approximately $3,673 in PG&E/MCE electrical consumption costs

using an average rate of $0.25/kWh. Inverters A & B were shut down 12/2021 for safety.

Agenda item 3.3

35



   Plant Operations Department Report – April - June 2023 9/7/2023   
 

 

Plant Operations Department Report  Page 2 of 2 

 

Biogas Utilization 

• Total Digester Gas Produced – 3,705,712 scf – Microturbines at 99% uptime producing a 

total of 52,225 kWh, offsetting approximately $13,056 in PG&E/MCE electrical 

consumption costs using an average rate of $0.25/kWh. 

 

NPDES PERMIT COMPLIANCE 

All water quality parameters met or exceeded permissible limits for this period. Annual and 

monthly reports were submitted to their respective regulatory agencies in accordance with 

permit requirements. On average, laboratory staff perform 138 process control and 25 

regulatory compliance analyses per week during this report period. 

Flare
11%Microturbines

72%

DG Boiler
17%

RNG Boiler
0%

RNG 
Vehicle

0%

36



Engineering Department Report – June through Aug 2023       9/7/2023 

Engineering Department Report (See attached for additional info) Page 1 of 6 

DESIGN (Number of projects in design phase: 13) 
• John Duckett Pump Station & Sewer Main Capacity and Storage

o Staff has reprioritized project scope based on new hydraulic modeling information from
Hazen & Sawyer.

o Pump station pumping capacity appears adequate for peak wet weather flows.
o Top 2 priorities: pump station electrical upgrades and exposed gravity trunk sewer creek

crossing.
o Staff to evaluate next steps.

• Miller Creek Rock Vane Repair
o Received comments from the Water Board requesting corrective actions to address erosion

and other deficiencies on the annual vegetation and geomorphic monitoring reports by
WRA.

o Staff contracted with WRA to design the rock vane repair.
o WRA began communicating the preliminary repair scope with agencies having jurisdiction.
o Staff to call for informal bids under UPCCAA; project estimate: $100k.

CONSTRUCTION (Number of projects in construction: 7) 
• Standby Generator System Installation for Adrian, McPhail, and Industrial Park PS

o Received BAAQMD permits for all three pump stations.
o Contractor has placed orders for all three gensets and awaiting delivery.
o Contractor has completed sitework, conduit installation, concrete foundation, and other

preparatory work for genset installation.

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (Number of projects: 1) 
• Multipurpose Lab Building Design

o Staff discussed draft RFP with the Ad Hoc Committee on 8/22/2023.
o Advertised RFP on 8/28/2023.
o Proposal requirements:

▪ Main Features: Lab, Education Center, Boardroom, and Parking Lot
▪ Minimum Requirements: ADA, City of San Rafael Permits, CEQA, Sea Level Rise,

Renewable Energy, Light Pollution, Sustainable Design, LBC and LEED Certification
▪ Other Considerations: Bay Trail, Wildlife Ponds, PG&E Easement, Geotechnical and

As-Builts
▪ Grant & Foundation Funding Support

CALL FOR BIDS (Number of projects: 5) 
• John Duckett Force Main Access Structures (third rebid)

• Biosolids Land Application

o Issued RFP/Call for Bids for land application in lieu of a sludge injection contract with Neal

Carstensen.

o Bid opening: 8/7/2023.

o Awarded contract to Synagro for the biosolids land application project for $395k.

o GHD is preparing draft Pre-Application Report for submittal to the Water Board.

• Digester MCC-2 Upgrade – Awarded to Blocka Construction for ~$1M.

• Primary Clarifier #1 Rehabilitation – Pending award of contract to Pacific Infrastructure for ~$1.4M.

Agenda item 3.4

37



  

 

Engineering Department Report (See attached for additional info) Page 2 of 6 

• On-Call Construction Contract FY 2023-2025 – Pending award of contract to Piazza Construction for 

$200k. 

 

OTHER  

• Executed Right To Enter with Marin County for levee repair along Gallinas Creek. 

• Executed Temporary Construction Easement with PG&E for helicopter landing.  

• Miscellaneous Land Development Projects 

38



Engineering Report (June through Aug 2023)

Job No. Project Name/Updates % Completion

DESIGN PROJECTS

11200‐03 0%

11500‐09 20%

20600‐04 25%

(On‐hold)

20300‐09 55%

21300‐04 55%

21350‐01 55%

21600‐01 55%

21600‐03 50%

21600‐09 75%

22500‐03 10%

23200‐01 60%

TBD 5%Reclamation Pond Catwalks and Diversion Boxes

Venetia Harbor Paving

• Staff to finish the grading and paving plan based on topographic data and prepare informal bid set based 

on available budget for FY 2023‐24.

Pump Station Site Lighting Improvements 

• Freyer & Laureta will revise design per latest staff review comments.

• Light fixture type and model shall meet Dark Sky Initiative specifications.

• Staff to call for bids based on available budget for FY 2023‐24.

Emergency Bypass Pumping Analysis & Emergency Response Plan 

• Freyer & Laureta continues to prepare the draft emergency response plan.

Collection System Hydraulic Model

• Staff discussed flow monitoring results with Hazen.

• Hazen continues to update the model and incorporates the information from the latest as‐built 

information.

• Five (5) additional flat panel light fixtures and conduit trenching were completed as part of STPURWE.

• Staff is evaluating if additional area lighting is still required for safe operations at night.

Plant Lighting Improvements

Solar Photovoltaic System Upgrades

• Conducting weekly meetings with ForeFront and Kenwood Energy on design and permitting aspects of 

the project.

• Design of new solar PV system is in progress by ForeFront.

• Tentative construction start date: Nov 2023.

• Tentative construction completion date: Oct 2024.

• Waiting for 3 new catwalks from Zappetini.

• Staff is developing new scope for replacement of critical gates and valves based on available budget for 

FY 2023‐24.

• Staff has reached out for informal bids from several contractors.

• Freyer & Laureta and staff are evaluating the feasibility to expand current design scope to replace the 

existing variable frequency drive with a prefabricated single or duplex control panels at Captains Cove and 

Marin Lagoon pump stations.

• Staff to call for bids based on available budget for FY 2023‐24.

Smith Ranch Pump Station Electrical Upgrades

• Freyer & Laureta is nearly complete with the electrical design and is updating plan set per staff 

comments.

• Staff to call for bids based on available budget for FY 2023‐24.

John Duckett Pump Station & Sewer Main Capacity and Storage

Automatic Transfer Switches for Pump Stations

• Staff has reprioritized project scope based on new hydraulic modeling information from Hazen & Sawyer.

• Pump station pumping capacity appears adequate for peak wet weather flows.

• Top 2 priorities: pump station electrical upgrades and exposed gravity trunk sewer creek crossing.

• Staff to evaluate next steps.

• On‐hold pending evaluation of final treatment facility layout.

• Need to discuss rescoping of design services with Hazen to reprioritize tasks based on recent storms and 

new secondary treatment process performance.

Flow Equalization Basin

Miller Creek Rock Vane Repair

• Received comments from the Water Board requesting corrective actions to address erosion and other 

deficiencies on the annual vegetation and geomorphic monitoring reports by WRA. 

• Staff contracted with WRA to design the rock vane repair.

• WRA began communicating the preliminary repair scope with agencies having jurisdiction.

• Staff to call for informal bids under UPCCAA; project estimate: $100k.

Engineering Department Report Page 3 of 639



Job No. Project Name/Updates % Completion

TBD 5%

CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

11500‐09 17%

12300‐05 Rafael Meadows Pump Station Standby Generator Installation 95%

Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade & Recycled Water Expansion 99%

12600‐07 Pending

21300‐03 82%

21600‐08 95%

23500‐05 95%

REQUESTS FOR PROPOSALS

24600‐01

CALL FOR BIDS

20200‐01

21500‐08

21600‐07

22600‐01

• Contractor completed punchlist items. 

• Contractor to haul off‐site the old genset for proper disposal.

Combined Project ‐ TWAS Enclosure/Sludge Basin and Reception Pad

• Apparent low bidder: CATS4U for ~$2.85M.

• Award of contract pending budget reprioritization among Digester MCC‐2 Upgrade, Primary Clarifier #1 

Rehabilitation, Biosolids Land Application, and Battery Energy Storage System projects.

John Duckett Force Main Access Structures 

• No bids received after bidding twice.

• Staff is rebidding the project for the third time.

• Bid opening: 8/17/2023.

• Contract duration: 300 calendar days.

• Pending award of contract to apparent low bidder, Pacific Infrastructure, for ~$1.4M.

Digester MCC‐2 Upgrade

• Bid opening: 8/7/2023.

• Contract duration: 500 calendar days.

• Awarded contract to Blocka Construction for ~$1M.

Primary Clarifier #1 Rehabilitation

Annual Plant Paving and Fencing at Various Locations

• On‐going with Hanford ARC. 

12600‐07 &

16650‐02

Center Pivot No.1 Replacement

• Amerine Systems installed the new center pivot equipment for irrigation at Pasture No. 1.

• Pending completion of punchlist items, such as programming issues.

• Received BAAQMD permits for all three pump stations. 

• Contractor has placed orders for all three gensets and awaiting delivery.

• Contractor has completed sitework, conduit installation, concrete foundation, and other preparatory 

work for genset installation.

• Target completion date: 9/29/2023.

Grit Screw Conveyor Systems Replacement 

• Hazen & Sawyer provided inspection services for the project.

• CATS4U completed the installation per plans and specifications.

Standby Generator System Installation for Adrian, McPhail, and Industrial Park PS

Biosolids Land Application

• Issued RFP/Call for Bids for land application in lieu of a sludge injection contract with Neal Carstensen.

• Bid opening: 8/7/2023.

• Awarded contract to Synagro for the biosolids land application project for $395k.

• GHD is preparing draft Pre‐Application Report for submittal to the Water Board.

Multipurpose Lab Building Design

• Staff discussed draft RFP with the Ad Hoc Committee on 8/22/2023.

• Advertised RFP on 8/28/2023.

• Proposal Requirements: 

   ‐ Main Features: Lab, Education Center, Boardroom, and Parking Lot

   ‐ Minimum Requirements: ADA, City of San Rafael Permits, CEQA, Sea Level Rise, 

     Renewable Energy, Light Pollution, Sustainable Design, LBC and LEED Certification

   ‐ Other Considerations: Bay Trail, Wildlife Ponds, PG&E Easement, Geotechnical and As‐Builts 

   ‐ Grant & Foundation Funding Support

Miller Creek Vegetation Maintenance

• Staff to redefine scope based on available budget for FY 2023‐24.

• Top priority: new plant entrance gate and new paving for traffic loop. 

• Staff to call for informal bids under UPCCAA.

Engineering Department Report Page 4 of 640



Job No. Project Name/Updates % Completion

24125‐01 

OTHER PROJECTS

20100‐04 Phase 2: 85%

21500‐08 Continuous

21500‐08 95%

N/A 50%

(Design)

22125‐02 10%

24125‐03  Continuous

24125‐02  Continuous

LAND DEVELOPMENT

Flood Protection Plan

Integrated Wastewater Master Plan

• Conducted re‐scoping internal meeting with all departments.

• Kennedy Jenks is finalizing Phase 2 technical memos, including condition assessment on treatment plant, 

collection system, disaster resilience, and asset management.

• Bid opening: 8/24/2023.

• Contract duration: 2 years.

• Pending award of contract to apparent low bidder, Piazza Construction, for $200k.

• Bid price: 12% labor markup.

On‐Call Construction Contract (2023‐2025)

• The repair of the sludge lagoon liner has been removed from the biosolids land application project due 

to project constraints. 

• Staff is working on UPCCAA informal bid package to repair/replace the liner after the lagoons are 

emptied.

Standard Specifications and Drawings Update

245 Nova Albion Way

• Total of 100 living units.

• Pending Land Development Ad Hoc Committee discussion.

Northgate Redevelopment  ‐ 5800 Northgate Mall

• Redevelop Northgate Mall to include both retail and multi‐family units. 

   Project Concept 2025: retail space plus 965 multi‐family units

   Project Concept 2040: retail space plus 1374 multi‐family units

• Pending Land Development Ad Hoc Committee discussion.

On‐Call Inspection Contract (2023‐2024)

• Executed FY 2023‐24 contract with Bellecci & Associates for collection system, development, and other 

projects as necessary.

• Awarded contract to Hazen & Sawyer to update the 2000 LGVSD Standard Specifications and Drawings. 

• Held kick‐off meeting in July 2023 to review project progress and discuss next steps.

350 Merrydale Rd

On‐Call Engineering Contract (2023‐2024)

• Obtaining proposals for FY 2023‐24 contract.

• Total of 192 apartment units.

• Pending formal submittal of plans and specifications from the developer.

• Construction of 45 townhouses/condominiums.

• Reviewed sewer improvement plans and provided comments.

• Pending Board approval of issuance of Will Serve Letter.

Los Gamos Apartments

WildCare Temporary Building ‐ 251 North San Pedro Rd

• WildCare submitted plans for approval of temporary portable trailers, small sheds, and animal caging for 

operation during construction of new facilities at its permanent location.

• Submitted Flood Protection Plan prepared by ESA to the Water Board in compliance with the NOA.

• Awaiting comments from the Water Board.

• Continue to hold biweekly progress meetings with GHD.

• Provided response to Water Board comments on the Biosolids and Site Characterization Workplan  and 

Sampling and Analysis Plan .

• Continue to assist the Purdue research team with its soil and groundwater sampling efforts.

Biosolids Program

Sludge Lagoon Liner Replacement/Repair

Engineering Department Report Page 5 of 641



Job No. Project Name/Updates % Completion

SEWER LATERAL VIDEO INSPECTION ‐ COLLECTIONS DEPARTMENT

• Reviewed 36 sewer lateral inspection videos and issued Letters of Findings.

Building Permit Lists

• Reviewed building permit lists from City of San Rafael: 

        ‐ Issued 4 request for information letters

• Reviewed building permit lists from Marin County: 

        ‐ Placed 17 permit holds 

        ‐ Released 15 permit holds

• 2 Bay Laurel – New ADU

• 208 Los Ranchitos Rd – New ADU

• 1499 Lucas Valley Rd – New ADU

• 44 Circle Rd – New Single Family Residence

• Pet Emergency & Specialty Center of Marin at 1 Thorndale Dr – Conversion of Existing Office Building to 

Pet Clinic 

• 33 Meadow Dr – New ADU

Other Projects Reviewed by Staff (Will Serve Letters Issued):

• 26 Point Gallinas Rd – Residential Interior Remodel and Addition

• 74 Circle Rd – New Garage  

• 34 Roosevelt Ave – Residential Interior Remodel and Addition

Other Projects Reviewed by Staff (Will Serve Letters Not Required):

Engineering Department Report Page 6 of 642



Administration Department Report – April through June 2023 9/7/2023 

Administration Department Report Page 1 of 4 

FINANCE 

• Sewer Use Charge Cost for Service and Rate Study by Hildebrand Consulting and
Proposition 218 Notice for fiscal years 2023-24 through 2026-27 completed. The Public
Hearing was held on June 30, 2023 and the maximum rates for the next four fiscal
years was approved by the Board.

• Marin Water provided commercial and residential water use data which was used to
calculate the Sewer User Charge for fiscal year 2023-24.

• Government Finance Officers Association’s (GFOA’s) Annual Conference attended by
Administrative Services Manager McDonald in May.

• Caselle Accounting Enterprise Resource Planning software system went live on June 13.
QuickBooks ran in parallel through the end-of-fiscal year June 30.  Implementation and
training continued into July.

• Audit Engagement with Nigro & Nigro for fiscal year 2022-2023 kicked off in June.

• Budget for fiscal year 2023-24 was adopted on June 30.

• California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust (CERBT) Valuation Packet submitted to
CalPERS along with Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) retiree actuarial valuation
based on valuation date of June 30, 2022.

• Quarterly recycled water use through June 30 is beginning to increase, which is a
normal summer pattern. Recoverable recycled water Operation & Maintenance (O&M)
costs are collected quarterly from Marin Water (MMWD) and North Marin Water
District (NMWD) based on their proportional share of recycled water received.  The
billing was $34,501 and $6,822 respectively.

ADMINISTRATION 

• Schedule of Values (SOV) for District capital assets reviewed and updated for Property
Insurance renewal application.

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

$90,000

Apr-Jun21 Jul-Sep 21 Oct-Dec
21

Jan-Mar
22

Apr-Jun
22

Jul-Sep 22 Oct-Dec
22

Jan-Mar
23

Apr-Jun
23

Recycled Water Total O&M Expenses

Agenda item 3.5

43



   Administration Department Report – April through June 2023 9/7/2023 

   
 

 

Administration Department Report  Page 2 of 4 

• Pooled Liability, Property Program, and Alliant Crime Insurance Program renewals 
submitted to CSRMA. 

• Summer 2023 Heron Newsletter published. 

• Marin County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan (MJHMP) meetings attended 
on April 6 and May 3.  Critical Infrastructure and Hazard Ranking details provided to 
consultant to be included in the MJHMP under development.  A comprehensive 
evaluation of hazards was undertaken at the county, regional, and watershed level to 
best address hazards facing the District and strengthen opportunity for grant funding at 
the earliest opportunity, in 2024.  A separate Local Hazard Mitigation Plan with direct 
engagement with OES/FEMA was not pursued.  

• Eleven Resolutions of the Board drafted, approved, and processed including review of 
the remaining District Board Policies. 

• A total of nine regular and special Board meetings were held during this 3-month 
period. 

• Two additional Low-Income Sewer Rate Assistance Program (LISRAP) applications were 
received. A total of 19 applications have been received and 16 approved.  There are 3 
pending LISRAP applications waiting for support documents to be received. 

• Sewer Lateral Inspection Program activity has remained steady over the last three 
months. Administration support was provided on 47 inspection applications between 
April 1 and June 30. Of these, 41 were triggered by home sales and 6 were initiated by 
construction permits. There were 14 notification letters mailed to property owners 
who have pulled building construction permits with the City of San Rafael or the County 
advising them of their requirement to have their sewer inspected. 

  

• Sewer Lateral Replacement Program continues to provide an option to homeowners 
interested in payment assistance for their sewer lateral replacement. A total of 116 
properties are participating in the loan program as of June 30.  Two loans were repaid, 
and no new applications were processed this quarter. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

Sewer Lateral Video Inspection Activity

Home Sales Construction Notification Letters

44



   Administration Department Report – April through June 2023 9/7/2023 

   
 

 

Administration Department Report  Page 3 of 4 

• Planning for redesign of District website began, vendors identified, and initial web 
redesign presentation made by Streamline to District staff.    

HUMAN RESOURCES 

• Vacant Plant Operator position filled on May 1.  Plant operations fully staffed as of June 

30. 

• The third recruitment effort for the Electrical Instrumentation Technician (EIT) was 

successful.  Offer made and accepted, employee to start work August 21. 

• Successor Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) bargaining sessions with Operating 

Engineers Local 3 (OE3) held on April 12, May 3, May 17, May 31, June 7, June 22, and 

June 28.  

• CPS HR Consulting continues to provide Human Resource support to the District. 

a. Weekly meetings held with Cheri Fairchild, CPS HR Project Coordinator, to discuss 

ongoing HR issues. 

b. Feedback to management provided on specific HR issues. 

c. Updates to the Personnel Polices & Procedures manual were drafted to 

incorporate harassment policy changes and recent legislatively enacted leaves 

among other changes. Final policy revisions to be presented to the Board after 

MOU successor language incorporated into manual.   

SOLID WASTE and SB 1383 ORGANIC RECYCLING 

• Zero Waste Marin (ZWM) Board meeting was held on April 20 and was attended by 
Administrative Services Manager McDonald to stay abreast of issues related to SB 1383 
enforcement and reformation of the ZWM Local Area Task Force 

• The Annual Marin Sanitary Service (MSS) Franchiser Group meeting was held on May 2. 

• Marin Franchisor’s Group, which LGVSD is one of seven member agencies, contracted 
with R3 Consulting Group to provide consulting services for the 2024 Solid Waste Rate 
Setting Process and to review MSS’s 2024 Indexed Rate Application. 

• Preliminary review of franchise fees collected indicates that the revenue resources are 
sufficient to reasonably cover the current costs of the District for conferring the benefit 
associated with the solid waste franchise agreement. 

CONTRACTS / REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

Contracts executed between April 1 and June 30 listed below: 

Vendor 
Name 

Description Manager  Date of 
Agreement 

Term End 
Date 

Contract  
Amount 

45



   Administration Department Report – April through June 2023 9/7/2023 

   
 

 

Administration Department Report  Page 4 of 4 

Custom 
Tractor 
Service 

Reclamation Pastureland Irrigation Operations 
and Maintenance 

Liebmann 5/3/2023 6/30/2024 $121,400  

Kemira 
Water 
Solutions 

BACC Chemical Bids - Ferric Chloride Liebmann 5/15/2023 6/30/2024 See File 

EOA  Technical Support for Regulatory Permits and 
NPDES Permit Reissuance 2023-2026 

Liebmann 5/8/2023 6/30/2026 $499,600  

West Yost Grant Funding Support Paxton 6/7/2023 6/30/2024 $74,960  

Du-All Onsite Safety Consultant Services Amendment #2 Pease 6/15/2023 6/30/2024 $56,736  

Preparative 
Consulting 

Emergency Management and Business Continuity 
Plan Amendment #1 

Pease 6/20/2023 6/30/2024 $67,661  

Data 
Instincts 

Public Information and Awareness Amendment #1 McDonald 6/13/2023 8/31/2023 $10,000  

Regional 
Government 
Services 

Human Resources, Financial Management, 
Organizational Services Amendment #3 

McDonald 6/20/2023 6/30/2024 $64,500  

Caselle  Extension of implementation term  - no change in 
amount 

McDonald 6/12/2023 8/30/2023 N/A 

 

PENDING AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS – STATUS REPORT 

# Item Description Date Responsible Status / Notes 
     

1 Grant Funding report on opportunities 12/16/2021 Curtis 
West Yost to 

provide services 

2 Public Use of Reclamation Area 1/6/2022 Dale Revise Ordinance 

3 Electrical Vehicle Study 6/16/2022 Curtis 
Develop Scope of 

Work 

4 Status of SB 1383 Enforcement 11/3/2022 Dale Report in October 

5 CalPERS OPEB Liability and Funding Status 12/15/2022 Dale Report in October 

6 Diversity, Equity, Inclusion Policy 3/2/2023 Dale Develop 

7 Emergency Preparedness 3/2/2023 Greg 
Presentation to 

Board 

8 Environmental Preferrable Purchasing Policy  Dale Develop 

9 Real Property Administration  Mike Develop 

 

46



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\ADMIN\ASR 4th QTR Treasurer's Report June 2023.docx Page 1 of 3 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Quarterly Treasurer’s & Financial Reports as of June 30, 2023 

Item Type:   Consent   Action  Information  X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 

 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Information only 
 
BACKGROUND 
Board Policy F-20-10, Financial Reporting, and Board Policy F-70-120, Investment Reporting, 
require that quarterly reports be submitted to the Board. It is prudent and beneficial to present 
these reports to the Board at the same time. 
 
TREASURER’S INVESTMENT REPORT 
Pursuant to the State of California Government Code Section 56300, the District’s investment 
policy adopted on July 21, 2022, and industry best practices, staff prepares a quarterly report on 
the District’s cash position, investments, and liquidity. 
 

As specified in California Government Code Section 53646(e), if all funds are placed in Local 
Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), FDIC-insured accounts and/or in a county investment pool, the 
reporting elements may be replaced by copies of the latest statements from such institutions. 
 

The attached Treasurer’s Report presents the District’s bank and investment account balances as 
of June 30, 2023. Total investments of $24,075,052 are held in the Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF) and in two restricted debt service accounts, which reflect a decrease of $1,401,871 during 
the previous twelve-month period. 
 

Included with the Treasurer’s Report is the LAIF remittance advice from the State Controller’s 
Office which includes a report on earnings ratio, interest rate, and current market value. The LAIF 
report for the quarter ending June 30, 2023 shows the interest rate of 3.15% up from 2.74% in 
March, with quarterly interest earned of $181,867. 
 

The District is required to maintain cash in debt reserve funds, equal to one year’s debt service for 
the State Revolving Fund and for the loans from Bank of Marin. The Quarterly Account Summary 
for the Bank of Marin Certificates of Deposit are included with this Treasurer’s Report. 
 

The District’s investments comply with its investment policy and the District has sufficient funds 
available to meet its obligations for the next six months. 
   

Item Number_____3.6_________ 

GM Review   ______CP________ 

47

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\ADMIN\ASR 4th QTR Treasurer's Report June 2023.docx Page 2 of 3 

 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT 
District staff is required to provide a quarterly summary report that compares actual revenues and 
expenditures to budgeted amounts, including relevant information on debt proceeds and debt 
service payments. 
 
Cash Balance  
The District has $30,690,796 of cash and investments on hand as of June 30, 2023; a decrease 
of $4.3M from June 30, 2022 primarily due to construction expenditures related to the Secondary 
Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion (STPURWE) Project. 
 
The operating account balance fluctuates based on operating needs and it is not uncommon for 
the balance to change over the prior quarter or year. Of the cash on hand, the District has 
designated portions of it for the following uses:  
 

• Encumbrances of $9,601,704 for capital projects and services as of June 30, 2023. 

• Reserves of $9,074,941 pursuant to the District’s policies. 

• Connection fees of $797,904 which are available only to fund capacity related projects. 

• Debt service restricted reserve funds of $909,067 as required by loan covenants. 

• Accumulation of $400,129 in cash for the Private Sewer Lateral Assistance program. 

• Special assessment funds for operation and maintenance of the pump stations at Marin 
Lagoon and Captains Cove of $10,538 and $3,657, respectively. 

 
After subtracting the $20.8M of designated and encumbered funds above, the District is left with 
$9.9M in unrestricted funds as of June 30.  
 
The District will utilize these unrestricted funds to cover unencumbered operating expenses and 
capital outlay during the revenue gap between July and December while waiting for the first 
installment of sewer service charge and property tax revenue collected by Marin County to be 
deposited in December.  
 

Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual Financial Statement 
Attached are the quarterly financial statements as of June 30, 2023, with highlights explaining 
significant variances and analysis below. 
 
Revenue 
 

• Permits and Inspection Fees (#9022) revenue was lower than anticipated, most likely due 
to a decrease in home sales over the prior year which would have otherwise triggered 
inspections. 

• Miscellaneous Income (#9773) includes the settlement payment for the remaining warranty 
value on the older Sharp solar panels.  

• Interest Income (#9200) was higher as interest rates rose over the prior year.  Interest 
income from all accounts was $441,478, over anticipated revenue by $339,767. 

48



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\ADMIN\ASR 4th QTR Treasurer's Report June 2023.docx Page 3 of 3 

 

Expenditures 
 

• Salary and Benefit (#1001) costs were approximately 7% under budget for the year. 

• Workers Compensation (#1701) expenses have increased along with increased employee 
positions and salaries.  A pooled deposit of $106,073 was paid in July 2022 based on 
forecasted salary. A final premium audit for the 2021-2022 period was completed in 
December which resulted in an additional expense of $30,541. 

• Chemical costs remain high, both from the rise in price and the volume of use over the 
winter storms. Both Hypochlorite (#2107) and Bisulfite (#2110) were over budget.  

• Other Outside Services (#2326) budget included bio-wheels maintenance support. The 
delay in completing the STPURWE project has resulted in a delay in recognizing outside 
maintenance as an operating cost. 

• Other Consultants (#2360) costs are over budget because two mid-year consulting 
contracts with West Yost were approved after the original budget was adopted, one for 
cyber engineering and training for $50K and the second for a cyber baseline assessment of 
the wastewater treatment plant and collection system for $50K. 

• Utility Power (#2535) costs will continue to be high until the new solar power system 
installation is complete. Additional Net Energy Metering (NEM) True-Up Charges of 
$117,944 for the period August 2022 through July 2023 was recently billed and paid in 
August 2023. 

• Office Supplies & Equipment (#2133) were over budget primarily due to replacement of 
obsolete computer equipment and network upgrades at the plant and District office. Higher 
copier and printing costs along with supplies to support new employee positions also 
contributed to the increase over the prior year. 

• Computer Software & Services (#2716) has been separated into three accounts to properly 
account for Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA) as required 
by GASB 96. 

Total Operating & Maintenance expenses, including debt service, of $15,428,034 reached 97% of 
budget through June 30, 2023. 
 
Capital outlay expenditures reached 51% of budget as of June 30, 2023.  A total of $9,030,551 
was spent out of an available $17,676,068. The remaining balance of unspent capital carryover 
funding was allocated towards capital projects in the fiscal year 2023-2024 budget.  

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
See above. 

49



I. Account Summary: Bank and Investment Accounts

2023 2022

Summary of Bank and Investment Accounts

OPERATIONS:

Bank of Marin
Operating Accounts 4,608,966            9,923,442            (5,314,476)        
Liquid Savings 226,493               225,758               735                    
Private Sewer Lateral Rehab 400,129               388,210               11,919               
Surcharge-Marin Lagoon 10,538                 15,978                 (5,440)               
Surcharge-Captains Cove 3,657                   1,498                   2,159                 
Connection Fee 797,904               587,687               210,216             
Capital Project Reserve Fund Money Market 3983 23                        666,020               (665,996)           

Petty cash 145                      431                      (286)                  
Investment Accounts

Debt Service Reserve-Recycled Water 605,626               602,641               2,984                 
Debt Service Reserve-SRF Loan 303,441               301,946               1,495                 
Local Agency Investment Fund 23,165,985          21,768,594          1,397,391          

Cash and Investments 30,122,907$        34,482,206$        (4,359,299)$      

IBANK ISRF AGREEMENT: 567,760               567,760               -                        

RESTRICTED 2017 BOND 

US Bank Bond & Cost of Issuance Funds 129$                    123$                    6$                      

TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS 30,690,796$        35,050,089$        (4,359,293)$      

II. Account Activity for Bank of Marin Accounts

Bank of Marin operating account activity is for paying regular operating expenses of the District.  Funds are 
transferred from the Liquid Savings to the Operating account as needed.

Statement of Compliance:
The investments accounts are invested in compliance with the District's investment policy, adopted at the 
July 21, 2022  Board meeting and California Government Code Section 53600. In addition, the District does 

have the financial ability to meet  its cash flow requirements for the next six months.

Prepared by: Approved by: 

Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager Curtis Paxton, General Manager

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
Treasurer's Report - Operating and Investment Accounts

June 30, 2023

June Change from 
Previous YearAccounts Summary

29%

3%
66%

2%

2022

16%

4%

78%

2%

2023

Operating

Restricted

Investment

Other / IBank

Q:\ACCOUNTING\Quarterly Financials\2022-23\4th Qtr\4th QTR Treasurers Report June 2023 8/28/2023 6:13 AM50



7/20/23, 12:52 PM Untitled Page

https://laif.sco.ca.gov/Result.aspx 1/1

MALIA M. COHEN

California State Controller

LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND
REMITTANCE ADVICE

Agency Name LAS GALINAS VLY SANITARY DIST 

Account Number xx-xx-005

As of 07/14/2023, your Local Agency Investment Fund account has been directly credited
with the interest earned on your deposits for the quarter ending 06/30/2023.

Earnings Ratio .00008636172883763

Interest Rate 3.15%

Dollar Day Total $ 2,105,879,371.05

Quarter End Principal Balance $ 23,165,985.20

Quarterly Interest Earned $ 181,867.38

51



Account Number: xxxx-xx5679 
Statement Period: 03/31/23 - 06/30/23 
Page: 1 of 1

PO Box 2039
Novato, CA 94948-2039

Customer Service Information
Branch: 415-472-2265
Touch Tone Banking: 800-654-5111

Lost or Stolen Card:
24 hours 7 days per week 866-626-6004

Written Inquiries:
496 LAS GALLINAS AVE #4
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903

Visit us Online: www.bankofmarin.com

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
"BANK OF MARIN DEBT RESERVE"
101 LUCAS VALLEY RD SUITE 300
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903-1795

Account Summary for PUBLIC FUNDS JMBO CD0003-715679

Total Current Balance $605,625.82
Total Interest Year To Date $1,481.77

Transaction Detail

Date Description Deposits Withdrawals Balance
03/31 Beginning Balance $604,896.76
04/30 Interest 729.06 605,625.82
06/30 Ending Balance $605,625.82

Deposit Number 0000-000001
Principal $571,431.58
Current Balance $605,625.82
Total Interest Year To Date $1,481.77
Current Rate 0.494%

Original Deposit Amount $569,178.89
Original Deposit Date 08/01/12
Last Maturity Date 08/01/20
Current Term 60 Months, renewable
Next Maturity Date 08/01/25

00008225 00029040 0001 0001 BOMB1110070123055234 01

00008225 BOMB1110070123055234 01     0000

101010101010101010101010
101011011100100000100011
110010110100110100111100
101000110100010110101101
101111011010100000100000
101111011001110011001111
101100001001100000000100
101101110001000101110111
100011100100001011100110
110001001100101101111001
100010100000001011001110
101100010010101011111011
111010011010011001001100
110001010001001001010101
100100110110011110000000
100100001100110111010001
110001000101100001111110
110010111000111001110101
100001011101101110111100
101001011000111100110101
110100101000110111011110
101110010011010001111101
100101110111100010011010
111111111111111111111111

52



Account Number: xxxx-xx6073 
Statement Period: 03/31/23 - 06/30/23 
Page: 1 of 1

PO Box 2039
Novato, CA 94948-2039

Customer Service Information
Branch: 415-472-2265
Touch Tone Banking: 800-654-5111

Lost or Stolen Card:
24 hours 7 days per week 866-626-6004

Written Inquiries:
496 LAS GALLINAS AVE #4
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903

Visit us Online: www.bankofmarin.com

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
101 LUCAS VALLEY RD SUITE 300
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903-1795

Account Summary for PUBLIC FUNDS JMBO CD0003-716073

Total Current Balance $303,441.24
Total Interest Year To Date $746.52

Transaction Detail

Date Description Deposits Withdrawals Balance
03/31 Beginning Balance $303,071.85
04/29 Interest 369.39 303,441.24
06/30 Ending Balance $303,441.24

Deposit Number 0000-000001
Principal $286,304.76
Current Balance $303,441.24
Total Interest Year To Date $746.52
Current Rate 0.494%

Original Deposit Amount $286,304.76
Original Deposit Date 07/30/13
Last Maturity Date 07/30/20
Current Term 60 Months, renewable
Next Maturity Date 07/30/25

00008228 00029046 0001 0001 BOMB1110070123055234 01

00008228 BOMB1110070123055234 01     0000

101010101010101010101010
101011011100100000100011
110010110100110100111100
101000110100010110101101
101111011010100000100000
101111011001110011001111
101100001011000000000100
101101110001000101100111
100011100100001011110010
110001001100101100110001
100010100000111010100010
101100011010001110111101
111010001011100111101000
110001001000011000110101
100100111010111110000000
100100001100110011101001
110001100101101000011010
110010011010001100110001
100001101000010001100000
101000011001101100011001
111101001000100001011010
101110011111010011100101
101011110101000010110010
111111111111111111111111

53



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Revenue/Expense

Revenue

9011 ꞏ Sewer Service Charge

9007 ꞏ Special Assessment - Current 16,147,206.77 15,930,508.00 216,698.77 101.36%

9770 ꞏ Sewer Service Charge Direct Bil 961,060.73 980,000.00 -18,939.27 98.07%

9771 ꞏ Sewer Service Chrg Reimbrsmt PY -45,287.20

Total 9011 ꞏ Sewer Service Charge 17,062,980.30 16,910,508.00 152,472.30 100.9%

9880 ꞏ Recycled Water 141,568.67 172,000.00 -30,431.33 82.31%

9022 ꞏ Permits and Inspection Fees 37,750.00 71,745.00 -33,995.00 52.62%

9024 ꞏ Application Fees 7,250.00 3,775.00 3,475.00 192.05%

9101 ꞏ Private Sewer Lateral Program

9102 ꞏ PSL Levy Principal 89,508.97 79,300.00 10,208.97 112.87%

9105 ꞏ PSL Direct Pay Off 10,758.58

9101 ꞏ Private Sewer Lateral Program - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 9101 ꞏ Private Sewer Lateral Program 100,267.55 79,300.00 20,967.55 126.44%

9773 ꞏ Miscellaneous Income 97,684.19 1,250.00 96,434.19 7,814.74%

9000 ꞏ Property Tax Revenue

9001 ꞏ Property Tax - Current Secured 1,154,215.88 1,239,692.00 -85,476.12 93.11%

9002 ꞏ Property Tax - Current Unsecure 20,100.51 20,000.00 100.51 100.5%

9004 ꞏ Prior Secured Redemption 111.34 400.00 -288.66 27.84%

9006 ꞏ Prior Unsecured 1,135.94 2,000.00 -864.06 56.8%

Total 9000 ꞏ Property Tax Revenue 1,175,563.67 1,262,092.00 -86,528.33 93.14%

9040 ꞏ Supp. Assmnts - Property Tax

9041 ꞏ Current Supplemental Assmts 40,966.33 27,695.00 13,271.33 147.92%

Total 9040 ꞏ Supp. Assmnts - Property Tax 40,966.33 27,695.00 13,271.33 147.92%

9046 ꞏ ERAF 495,552.23 584,867.00 -89,314.77 84.73%

9280 ꞏ HOPTR 4,280.18 4,453.00 -172.82 96.12%

9021 ꞏ Franchise Revenue 166,059.34 169,776.00 -3,716.66 97.81%

9010 ꞏ Federal and State Grants 3,120.00 5,000.00 -1,880.00 62.4%

9015 ꞏ Donations (received) 4,750.00

9033 ꞏ Insurance Dividends 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

9023 ꞏ Connection Fees CapX 325,673.00 1,740,572.00 -1,414,899.00 18.71%

9881 ꞏ MMWD Buy-in & Bond Share CapX 388,733.03 619,633.00 -230,899.97 62.74%

9100 ꞏ Reimbursements

9103 ꞏ Reimbusement for services 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

9104 ꞏ Passthru (Expense 2355) 28,739.00 25,000.00 3,739.00 114.96%

9100 ꞏ Reimbursements - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 9100 ꞏ Reimbursements 28,739.00 25,000.00 3,739.00 114.96%

9200 ꞏ Interest Income

9208 ꞏ Interest on IBank ISRF 1,578.04

9210 ꞏ Bank Interest 3,934.36 2,240.00 1,694.36 175.64%

9206 ꞏ Interest Connection Fees CapX 2,815.24 964.00 1,851.24 292.04%

9204 ꞏ Interest on Bond Funds 6.03 7.00 -0.97 86.14%

9209 ꞏ Interest - LAIF 397,390.96 63,600.00 333,790.96 624.83%

 Page 1 of 754



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

9201 ꞏ Interest on Reserves 4,592.76 4,500.00 92.76 102.06%

9211 ꞏ Interest PSL Program

9212 ꞏ PSL Investment Interest 1,160.31 400.00 760.31 290.08%

Total 9211 ꞏ Interest PSL Program 1,160.31 400.00 760.31 290.08%

Total 9200 ꞏ Interest Income 411,477.70 71,711.00 339,766.70 573.8%

Total Revenue 20,492,415.19 21,749,377.00 -1,256,961.81 94.22%

Expense

1001 ꞏ Employee Costs

1001.1 ꞏ Salaries

1003 ꞏ Regular Staff Salaries 3,562,206.42 4,071,400.00 -509,193.58 87.49%

1008 ꞏ Overtime 100,464.30 132,600.00 -32,135.70 75.77%

1011 ꞏ Doubletime 26,717.43 33,100.00 -6,382.57 80.72%

1010 ꞏ Stand By  (pre-2008 Sick Pay) 99,380.21 92,500.00 6,880.21 107.44%

1014 ꞏ Emergency Response Stipend 56,122.16 46,900.00 9,222.16 119.66%

1015 ꞏ Certification Stipends 115,355.67 84,000.00 31,355.67 137.33%

1016 ꞏ Longevity Pay 102,999.97 71,200.00 31,799.97 144.66%

1005 ꞏ Contract Personnel 47,692.50 5,200.00 42,492.50 917.16%

1036 ꞏ Director's Compensation 65,702.00 80,600.00 -14,898.00 81.52%

1001.1 ꞏ Salaries - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total 1001.1 ꞏ Salaries 4,176,640.66 4,617,500.00 -440,859.34 90.45%

1001.2 ꞏ Employee Benefits

1901 ꞏ COVID Leave 27,429.53 1,000.00 26,429.53 2,742.95%

1009 ꞏ Vacation/Sick Accrual 84,901.91 64,000.00 20,901.91 132.66%

1037 ꞏ Directors Health Benefits 10,593.55 9,700.00 893.55 109.21%

1404 ꞏ Social Security Expense 293,401.93 287,100.00 6,301.93 102.2%

1502 ꞏ Group Life Insurance 10,493.73 8,700.00 1,793.73 120.62%

1506 ꞏ Pension Expense

1507 ꞏ PERS 720,954.19 787,500.00 -66,545.81 91.55%

Total 1506 ꞏ Pension Expense 720,954.19 787,500.00 -66,545.81 91.55%

1509 ꞏ Health Insurance

1509.1 ꞏ Health Insurance-Actives 487,780.07 509,200.00 -21,419.93 95.79%

1509.3 ꞏ Health Insurance-Admin Fee 2,101.02 1,700.00 401.02 123.59%

1509.2 ꞏ Health Insurance-Retirees 99,840.22 112,900.00 -13,059.78 88.43%

1509.4 ꞏ Health Insurance-OPEB Pre-fund 139,560.00 163,200.00 -23,640.00 85.52%

Total 1509 ꞏ Health Insurance 729,281.31 787,000.00 -57,718.69 92.67%

1510 ꞏ Dental Insurance 44,440.97 16,500.00 27,940.97 269.34%

1514 ꞏ Vision Services 3,653.29 3,300.00 353.29 110.71%

1516 ꞏ Long Term Disability 29,113.26 34,100.00 -4,986.74 85.38%

2006 ꞏ Auto Allowance 10,981.14 16,800.00 -5,818.86 65.36%

Total 1001.2 ꞏ Employee Benefits 1,965,244.81 2,015,700.00 -50,455.19 97.5%

1006 ꞏ Payroll Processing Fees 24,596.15 24,900.00 -303.85 98.78%

Total 1001 ꞏ Employee Costs 6,166,481.62 6,658,100.00 -491,618.38 92.62%

2059 ꞏ Insurance

1701 ꞏ Workers Comp Insurance 138,848.00 72,900.00 65,948.00 190.46%

 Page 2 of 755



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

2060 ꞏ Fire, General Casualty & Liab 267,222.49 230,000.00 37,222.49 116.18%

2061 ꞏ Fidelity Bond 1,100.00 1,100.00 0.00 100.0%

Total 2059 ꞏ Insurance 407,170.49 304,000.00 103,170.49 133.94%

2080 ꞏ Repairs and Maintenance

2083 ꞏ Vehicle Parts & Repairs 54,736.31 31,600.00 23,136.31 173.22%

2096 ꞏ Building Maintenance 32,271.83 96,300.00 -64,028.17 33.51%

2097 ꞏ Grounds Maintenance 44,419.68 109,300.00 -64,880.32 40.64%

2538 ꞏ Power Generation Maint.&  Rep 22,900.83 32,800.00 -9,899.17 69.82%

2365 ꞏ Equipment Maint 87,476.45 81,500.00 5,976.45 107.33%

2366 ꞏ Equipment Repair 185,995.49 174,900.00 11,095.49 106.34%

2367 ꞏ Capital Replacement 150,637.38 322,400.00 -171,762.62 46.72%

Total 2080 ꞏ Repairs and Maintenance 578,437.97 848,800.00 -270,362.03 68.15%

2331 ꞏ Reclamation Expenses

2332 ꞏ General - Reclamation expenses 0.00 9,500.00 -9,500.00 0.0%

2333 ꞏ Pasture Disk 98,452.90 123,900.00 -25,447.10 79.46%

2334 ꞏ Sludge Inject 102,650.00 102,700.00 -50.00 99.95%

2335 ꞏ Marsh Pond Vegetation Removal 0.00 60,000.00 -60,000.00 0.0%

Total 2331 ꞏ Reclamation Expenses 201,102.90 296,100.00 -94,997.10 67.92%

2101 ꞏ Chemicals and Lab Supplies

2107 ꞏ Hypochlorite 279,139.41 206,900.00 72,239.41 134.92%

2110 ꞏ Bisulfite 139,036.92 85,400.00 53,636.92 162.81%

2109 ꞏ Miscellaneous Chemicals 59,188.35 73,100.00 -13,911.65 80.97%

2115 ꞏ Laboratory Supplies 44,264.34 23,900.00 20,364.34 185.21%

Total 2101 ꞏ Chemicals and Lab Supplies 521,629.02 389,300.00 132,329.02 133.99%

2111 ꞏ Pollution Prevention

2119 ꞏ Pollution Prevention Contract 24,488.73 11,700.00 12,788.73 209.31%

2111 ꞏ Pollution Prevention - Other 0.00 4,900.00 -4,900.00 0.0%

Total 2111 ꞏ Pollution Prevention 24,488.73 16,600.00 7,888.73 147.52%

2117 ꞏ Lab Contract Services 63,185.72 54,400.00 8,785.72 116.15%

2249 ꞏ Small Tools 14,627.76 24,600.00 -9,972.24 59.46%

2320 ꞏ Outside Services

2321 ꞏ Personnel & HR Services 33,797.33 160,600.00 -126,802.67 21.04%

2322 ꞏ General 16,972.22 22,000.00 -5,027.78 77.15%

2323 ꞏ Labor Relations 16,392.34 16,400.00 -7.66 99.95%

2324 ꞏ Janitorial 23,988.44 22,500.00 1,488.44 106.62%

2326 ꞏ Other Outside Services 17,145.93 111,700.00 -94,554.07 15.35%

2327 ꞏ Uniform Maintenance 14,304.61 13,600.00 704.61 105.18%

2360 ꞏ Other Consultants 294,982.33 198,700.00 96,282.33 148.46%

Total 2320 ꞏ Outside Services 417,583.20 545,500.00 -127,916.80 76.55%

2330 ꞏ Damage Claims 0.00 20,000.00 -20,000.00 0.0%

2356 ꞏ Engineering

2354 ꞏ SCADA Engineering Support 77,571.23 67,200.00 10,371.23 115.43%

2355 ꞏ Passthru 29,165.00 1,200.00 27,965.00 2,430.42%

2357 ꞏ Environmental 149,765.50 186,400.00 -36,634.50 80.35%

 Page 3 of 756



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

2358 ꞏ General Small Projects 24,271.00 14,700.00 9,571.00 165.11%

2359 ꞏ Feasibility Studies 53,083.00 91,600.00 -38,517.00 57.95%

Total 2356 ꞏ Engineering 333,855.73 361,100.00 -27,244.27 92.46%

2362 ꞏ General Operating Supplies 23,207.96 61,400.00 -38,192.04 37.8%

2530 ꞏ Utilities

2533 ꞏ Internet Services 11,291.90 7,800.00 3,491.90 144.77%

2534 ꞏ Contract Telephone 44,994.55 49,600.00 -4,605.45 90.72%

2535 ꞏ Utility Power 824,544.50 476,100.00 348,444.50 173.19%

2536 ꞏ Water 47,015.69 33,900.00 13,115.69 138.69%

Total 2530 ꞏ Utilities 927,846.64 567,400.00 360,446.64 163.53%

2501 ꞏ Fuels

2502 ꞏ Diesel 16,053.49 14,400.00 1,653.49 111.48%

2503 ꞏ Propane 6,897.29 8,500.00 -1,602.71 81.15%

2504 ꞏ Vehicle Gas 19,573.31 12,700.00 6,873.31 154.12%

2505 ꞏ Vehicle Natural Gas 1,005.07 4,200.00 -3,194.93 23.93%

2506 ꞏ Oil (vehicle and drum product) 3,123.49 3,200.00 -76.51 97.61%

Total 2501 ꞏ Fuels 46,652.65 43,000.00 3,652.65 108.5%

2389 ꞏ Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only 57,715.67 49,000.00 8,715.67 117.79%

2397 ꞏ Safety Contractor Services 57,469.32 57,400.00 69.32 100.12%

2801 ꞏ Lateral Rehab Assistance Prog 68,045.00 59,800.00 8,245.00 113.79%

2802 ꞏ Low-Income Sewer  Rate Ast Prog 1,568.00 50,000.00 -48,432.00 3.14%

2400 ꞏ General and Administrative

2499 ꞏ COVID-19 Expenses 0.00 1,700.00 -1,700.00 0.0%

2129 ꞏ Election Expenses 250.00 25,000.00 -24,750.00 1.0%

2133 ꞏ Office Supplies & Equipment 70,539.73 42,800.00 27,739.73 164.81%

2134 - Meeting Supplies & Expen 5,292.01 2,100.00 3,192.01 252.0%

2135 ꞏ Bank Charges 1,850.00 200.00 1,650.00 925.0%

2137 ꞏ Donations to non-profits 9,000.00 10,000.00 -1,000.00 90.0%

2221 ꞏ Publications & Legal Ads 13,397.76 12,800.00 597.76 104.67%

2223 ꞏ Public Education 59,846.96 74,700.00 -14,853.04 80.12%

2246 ꞏ Rents & Leases - Office & Equip 135,196.85 192,700.00 -57,503.15 70.16%

2264 ꞏ Taxes, Other 1,397.00 1,900.00 -503.00 73.53%

2272 ꞏ Memberships 54,522.73 69,100.00 -14,577.27 78.9%

2363 ꞏ Permits and Fees 77,859.34 119,300.00 -41,440.66 65.26%

2364 ꞏ Penalties and Fines 66,384.70

2477 ꞏ Conferences 67,965.85 52,600.00 15,365.85 129.21%

2479 ꞏ Mileage & Travel 413.87 4,600.00 -4,186.13 9.0%

2713 ꞏ Legal

2714 ꞏ Legal MPFA 500.00

2713 ꞏ Legal - Other 104,721.25 186,600.00 -81,878.75 56.12%

Total 2713 ꞏ Legal 105,221.25 186,600.00 -81,378.75 56.39%

2716 ꞏ Computer Software & Services

2716.1 ꞏ Consultant IT Services 68,584.61

2716.2 ꞏ Incidental Software 30,094.06

 Page 4 of 757



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

2716.3 ꞏ Subscription Software SaaS 49,110.00

2716 ꞏ Computer Software & Services - Other 0.00 97,600.00 -97,600.00 0.0%

Total 2716 ꞏ Computer Software & Services 147,788.67 97,600.00 50,188.67 151.42%

2717 ꞏ Audit 29,840.00 27,200.00 2,640.00 109.71%

2718 ꞏ Financial Services 26,669.00 35,400.00 -8,731.00 75.34%

9778 ꞏ User Chg / Collection Fee Exp. 34,356.72 36,900.00 -2,543.28 93.11%

9786 ꞏ Employee Recognition 6,922.55 5,600.00 1,322.55 123.62%

9787 ꞏ Employee Education & Training 14,927.26 49,400.00 -34,472.74 30.22%

9999 ꞏ Miscellaneous expense 59,600.00 4,200.00 55,400.00 1,419.05%

Total 2400 ꞏ General and Administrative 989,242.25 1,052,400.00 -63,157.75 94.0%

9800 ꞏ Debt Service

9810 ꞏ Principal Payments

9811 ꞏ 2004 COP/Refunded Principal 630,000.00 630,000.00 0.00 100.0%

9812 ꞏ IBank Principal 359,654.11 359,654.00 0.11 100.0%

9813 ꞏ State Revolving Fund Loan Princ 218,699.40 218,699.00 0.40 100.0%

9814 ꞏ 2011Bank of Marin Loan Principa 237,887.71 237,888.00 -0.29 100.0%

9815 ꞏ 2012Bank of Marin Loan Principa 39,064.29 39,064.00 0.29 100.0%

9816 ꞏ 2017 Revenue Bonds Principal 1,110,000.00 1,110,000.00 0.00 100.0%

Total 9810 ꞏ Principal Payments 2,595,305.51 2,595,305.00 0.51 100.0%

9820 ꞏ Interest Payments

9821 ꞏ 2004 COP/Refunded Interest 78,665.40 78,665.00 0.40 100.0%

9822 ꞏ IBank Loan Interest 324,085.54 324,086.00 -0.46 100.0%

9823 ꞏ State Revolving Fund Loan Inter 66,765.05 66,765.00 0.05 100.0%

9824 ꞏ 2011Bank of Marin Loan Interest 94,793.69 94,794.00 -0.31 100.0%

9825 ꞏ 2012Bank of Marin Loan Interest 160.56 160.00 0.56 100.35%

9826 ꞏ 2017 Revenue Bonds Interest 1,335,000.00 1,335,000.00 0.00 100.0%

Total 9820 ꞏ Interest Payments 1,899,470.24 1,899,470.00 0.24 100.0%

9830 ꞏ Loan Annual Fees - IBank 32,948.03 32,948.00 0.03 100.0%

Total 9800 ꞏ Debt Service 4,527,723.78 4,527,723.00 0.78 100.0%

Total Expense 15,428,034.41 15,986,623.00 -558,588.59 96.51%

Net Ordinary Revenue 5,064,380.78 5,762,754.00 -698,373.22 87.88%

Other Revenue/Expenditures

Other Revenue

9900 ꞏ Interfund Transfers In/Out

9860 ꞏ Transfer - I Bank Loan 0.00 567,760.00 -567,760.00 0.0%

Total 9900 ꞏ Interfund Transfers In/Out 0.00 567,760.00 -567,760.00 0.0%

Total Other Revenue 0.00 567,760.00 -567,760.00 0.0%

Other Expenditures (Capital Outlay)

4000 ꞏ Construction Projects

Administration Improvements

4826 ꞏ Website Improvement 0.00 25,000.00 -25,000.00 0.0%

4825 ꞏ Caselle Accounting Software 4,090.94 53,798.00 -49,707.06 7.6%

4873 ꞏ Fleet Maintenance Software Annu 0.00 2,160.00 -2,160.00 0.0%

4872 ꞏ IT Pipes Software Upgrade-Video 27,200.00 35,000.00 -7,800.00 77.71%

 Page 5 of 758



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

4871 ꞏ Standard Specs & Drawings Updat 2,132.50 50,000.00 -47,867.50 4.27%

4870 ꞏ Sea Level Rise Mitigation Progr 965.25 100,000.00 -99,034.75 0.97%

4861 ꞏ OCC Admin Building Design 67,590.00 1,525,000.00 -1,457,410.00 4.43%

4821 ꞏ Drafting AutoCAD Computers 1,741.68 6,000.00 -4,258.32 29.03%

4361 ꞏ Administrative Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

4362 ꞏ Integrated Wastewater MP 130,244.40 548,910.00 -418,665.60 23.73%

Total Administration Improvements 233,964.77 2,345,868.00 -2,111,903.23 9.97%

Collection System Improvements

4153 ꞏ Annual Sewer Rehab 76,925.00 400,000.00 -323,075.00 19.23%

4377 ꞏ Trunk Sewer Capacity Analysis 8,560.20 730,927.00 -722,366.80 1.17%

4413 ꞏ Geographical Information System 10,000.00 40,000.00 -30,000.00 25.0%

Total Collection System Improvements 95,485.20 1,170,927.00 -1,075,441.80 8.16%

Pump Station Improvements

4173 ꞏ Venetia Harbor PS 310.50

4162 ꞏ SCADA pump stations 10,734.60

Total Pump Station Improvements 11,045.10

Recycled Water Improvements

4501 ꞏ Recycled Water Facility 909,390.26 7,315,476.00 -6,406,085.74 12.43%

Total Recycled Water Improvements 909,390.26 7,315,476.00 -6,406,085.74 12.43%

Treatment Plant Improvements

4852 ꞏ Maint Shop & Locker Room Improv 0.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 0.0%

4851 ꞏ Annual Plant Paving Various Loc 0.00 60,000.00 -60,000.00 0.0%

4849 ꞏ Plant Lighting Improvement Elec 0.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 0.0%

4117 ꞏ On-Call Construction/Engineerin 404,535.34 354,910.00 49,625.34 113.98%

4225 ꞏ Secondary Plant Upgrade 5,390,154.62 1,290,966.00 4,099,188.62 417.53%

4330 ꞏ Solar Phase II 0.00 300,000.00 -300,000.00 0.0%

4440 ꞏ Spare Parts 0.00 40,000.00 -40,000.00 0.0%

Total Treatment Plant Improvements 5,794,689.96 2,145,876.00 3,648,813.96 270.04%

Total 4000 ꞏ Construction Projects 7,044,575.29 12,978,147.00 -5,933,571.71 54.28%

4200 ꞏ Capacity and Effluent Quality

Collection Improvements

4415 ꞏ Tractor for camera - CSO 17,036.48

4154 ꞏ Collection System Vehicles

4154-4 ꞏ 4" Trash Pump 39,970.13

Total 4154 ꞏ Collection System Vehicles 39,970.13

4412 ꞏ Creek and Watershed Programs 77,576.24 75,000.00 2,576.24 103.44%

4808 ꞏ Hydraulic Modeling 172,014.45

Total Collection Improvements 306,597.30 75,000.00 231,597.30 408.8%

Pump Station Improvements

4876 ꞏ St. Vincent Pump Station Improv 16,298.00 100,000.00 -83,702.00 16.3%

4875 ꞏ Mulligan PS Wetwell Upgrade 0.00 60,000.00 -60,000.00 0.0%

4874 ꞏ Rafael  Meadows Pump Station 0.00 180,000.00 -180,000.00 0.0%

4837 ꞏ Annual PS Facility PavingVariou 0.00 35,000.00 -35,000.00 0.0%

4835 ꞏ Emergency Bypass Pumping Analys 28,652.25 105,000.00 -76,347.75 27.29%

 Page 6 of 759



 9:36 AM
 08/17/23
 Accrual Basis

 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

4834 ꞏ Automatic Transfer Switches PS 45,717.50 260,000.00 -214,282.50 17.58%

4833 ꞏ Shock Arc Flash Analysis PS 143.00

4832 ꞏ Fencing Improvements Various 6,613.33 60,000.00 -53,386.67 11.02%

4831 ꞏ Pump Station Site Lighting Safe 35,299.40 241,877.00 -206,577.60 14.59%

4830 ꞏ Standby/Towable Generator Minor 328,063.18 357,044.00 -28,980.82 91.88%

4828 ꞏ Smith Ranch PS Electrical Upgra 37,996.85 300,000.00 -262,003.15 12.67%

4238 ꞏ Captain Cove Pump Station Upgrd 1,647.50 50,000.00 -48,352.50 3.3%

4246 ꞏ Rafael Meadows PS Electrical 111,727.75 160,000.00 -48,272.25 69.83%

4481 ꞏ Marin Lagoon Pump Station 18,363.87

4485 ꞏ Pump Station Pump Replacement 138,043.45

Total Pump Station Improvements 768,566.08 1,908,921.00 -1,140,354.92 40.26%

Treatment Plant Improvements

4878 ꞏ Primary Clarifier #1 Repair 0.00 300,000.00 -300,000.00 0.0%

4299 ꞏ Asset CMMS Onboarding 0.00 400,000.00 -400,000.00 0.0%

4862 ꞏ Digester Improvement 0.00 300,000.00 -300,000.00 0.0%

4856 ꞏ Shock Arc Flash Analysis Plant 143.00

4855 ꞏ Misc Plant Equip Demo Disposal 220.50 30,000.00 -29,779.50 0.74%

4848 ꞏ Grit Chambers Coating & Auger 57,693.75 300,000.00 -242,306.25 19.23%

4846 ꞏ Digester Room MCC#2 Upgrade 45,073.60 682,000.00 -636,926.40 6.61%

4217 ꞏ Engineering/Incidentals 189,394.05 45,000.00 144,394.05 420.88%

4328 ꞏ Flow Equalization 837.50 375,000.00 -374,162.50 0.22%

4488 ꞏ All Plant Vehicles 31,712.33

4801 ꞏ Equipment 14,284.64

Total Treatment Plant Improvements 339,359.37 2,432,000.00 -2,092,640.63 13.95%

Reclamation Improvements

4334 ꞏ Solar Power Purchase Agreement 25,550.65

4859 ꞏ Biosolids System Program 333,892.52 107,000.00 226,892.52 312.05%

4843 ꞏ Shock Arc Flash Analysis Reclam 11,496.00

4841 ꞏ Pasture Irrigation System Study 0.00 45,000.00 -45,000.00 0.0%

4838 ꞏ Reclamation Pump Station Improv 1,110.00 130,000.00 -128,890.00 0.85%

4262 ꞏ Replace Pivots 1, 3,4 & 5 159,892.00

4332 ꞏ Water Reclamation 3,250.00

4459 ꞏ Miscellaneous Replacements 36,261.73

Total Reclamation Improvements 571,452.90 282,000.00 289,452.90 202.64%

Total 4200 ꞏ Capacity and Effluent Quality 1,985,975.65 4,697,921.00 -2,711,945.35 42.27%

Total Other Expenditures (Captial Outlay) 9,030,550.94 17,676,068.00 -8,645,517.06 51.09%

Net Other Revenue -9,030,550.94 -17,108,308.00 8,077,757.06 52.79%

Net Revenue -3,966,170.16 -11,345,554.00 7,379,383.84 34.96%

 Page 7 of 760



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\STRAW\ASR Blue Point STRAW donation report 22-23.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Report on Point Blue Conservation Science’s STRAW Program 2022-2023 

Item Type:   Consent   Action        Information    X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Receive report from Laurette Rogers, STRAW Founder and Ambassador, Point Blue 
Conservation Science on their Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) 
program.  
 
BACKGROUND 
On September 1, 2022, Point Blue Conservation Science requested continuing support from the 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District for the restoration of Miller Creek, the longest restoration 
project in the STRAW program. Students have been involved in the restoration of Miller Creek 
every year since 1999. 
 
A request for a $9,000 donation was made to educate students and restore degraded riparian 
habitat in the Miller Creek watershed during the 2022-2023 school year. 
 
The District’s Donation Policy F-140 establishes formal procedures for allocating funds to 
nonprofit community groups requesting contributions from the District. Recipients of the donation 
must provide a written report to the District within six months of the event program end date. The 
program end date was the end of the school year in June 2023. 
 
STRAW is part of the Education and Outreach Group of Point Blue Conservation Science. The 
most recent audited financials for fiscal year April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022 is available at the 
District office for review. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On September 1, 2022, the Board approved a $9,000 donation to help fund the STRAW 
program in fiscal year 2022-2023.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
  

Item Number_____3.7_________ 

GM Review   __CP____________ 

61

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

 
 
July 24, 2023 
 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board 
Smith Ranch Road 
San Rafael, CA  94903 
 
Dear Board Members,  
 

Thank you once again for your donation of $9,000 to Point Blue’s Students and Teachers 
Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) Program for the 2022-2023 school year, our biggest year ever with 
180 restoration days! Because of your ongoing support, we were again able to engage Miller Creek 
Middle School (MCMS) students and teachers in three days of habitat restoration on Miller Creek. It is 
the only site where we’ve been able to return every year since 1999. Your donation enabled us to work 
with five science teachers and their 360 6th, 7th, and 8th grade students. As in past years, restoration 
activities included non-native invasive removal as well as the planting of 60 native plants and 
transplanting of native sedge. 

STRAW Education Staff and Apprentices facilitated pre-restoration lessons in the classroom on 
Designing a Riparian Area. The students learned the story of STRAW, and how this year’s restoration 
days relate to our shared restoration work and vision at Miller Creek through the decades. Next, 
students had the opportunity to create watershed models with school yard materials (twigs, leaves, 
rocks, etc.), and learned about the different features of watersheds. Lastly, they were introduced to 
the specific invasive species they would be removing as well as the native species they were going to 
be helping. In 2022-2023, we taught a total of 15 MCMS classes. Additionally, the MCMS science 
teachers were invited to Watershed Week 2023 which focused on the importance of pollinators. This 
professional development offering included presentations via zoom as well as in-person group 
fieldwork. 

The classroom lessons additionally support STRAW Apprentices (young adults in STRAW’s early 
career training program) to develop their in-class environmental educator skills. In addition to these 
Apprentices who were trained as part of the Miller Creek education and restoration, we hosted a team 
of young adults from the National Civilian Conservation Corps, or NCCC. As a result, Point Blue was 
selected as Sponsor of the Year for the National Civilian Conservation Corps, which is an AmeriCorps 
program. We were chosen from more than 50 other projects.   

We are very grateful for your donation to our Miller Creek STRAW project, which supports 
teaching, learning, and restoration opportunities. Thank you for your partnership! 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Laurette Rogers 
STRAW Founder and Ambassador 

62



 
 

Miller Creek Students and Teachers Restoring A Watershed (STRAW) Project 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Budget Report 

October 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023 
 
 

Expense Budget Actual 

Salary  $  4,421.00  $  4,281.17 

Benefits  $  2,246.00  $  2,174.85 

Supplies  $            -    $        20.00 

Mileage  $            -    $     190.65 

Indirect  $  2,333.00  $  2,333.33 

Total  $  9,000.00  $  9,000.00 

 
 
 
 

63



 

 
Students gather to be trained and put on teams to work 
 
 

  
John Parodi, STRAW’s Restoration Director, teaches us all 

64



 

 
Gray, one of the NCCC team members, prepares the students 
 

 
MCMS students remove non-native ivy from the creekbank 

65



 

 
MCMS students got the ivy root! 
 

 
It’s fun to work as a team.  MCMS students hauling the ivy to the truck. 

66



 

  
Some of the native plants laid out for planting. 

 
Planting container plants near Miller Creek. 
 

67



 

 
Planting in teams. 

  
Retired STRAW teacher and donor, Ro Rigney, comes to observe the restoration. 
 

68



 

 
Closing circle.  Time to reflect on what was done, express gratitude! 
 

Thank you, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District!   
We couldn’t do this without you! 
 
 

69



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\STRAW\ASR Donation Request STRAW D2324-001.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
        

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Request for Donation  Point Blue Conservation Science STRAW Program 
Item Type:   Consent   Action      X  Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to consider a request by Point Blue Conservation Science for donation of up to $9,000 to 
educate students and perform habitat restoration to the Miller Creek watershed as part of their 
Students and Teachers Restoring a Watershed (STRAW) program. 

BACKGROUND 
The Board occasionally considers making donations to educational or non-profit organizations 
that serve to benefit the public through efforts that promote the protection of the environment. A 
donation policy was developed which defines the purpose, eligibility, procedure for requesting 
and receiving contributions, and management of the program.   

Laurette Rogers, STRAW Founder and Ambassador at Point Blue Conservation Science, 
submitted a request for donation via email on August 21, 2023 asking the District if it would like 
to continue its partnership supporting Miller Creek restoration through their Students and 
Teachers Restoring a Watershed (STRAW) program.  The donation requested is $9,000.  The 
District has supported the STRAW program in prior years, most recently in 2022. 

Staff has reviewed the application and confirmed eligibility. The STRAW budget and preliminary 
unaudited financial statement is included in the application packet.  Blue Point Conservation 

als for fiscal year 2022 are available at the District office. 

The Board should review the donation request and make a finding that the program presented 
benefits the District and the community it serves.  

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
None. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal year 2023-2024 budget includes $10,000 that can be used towards non-profit 
donations. There is sufficient funding in the account to approve the requested donation.  

 

Item Number______4________ 

GM Review   ______CP________ 

 

70



71



72



LGVSD Donation Application Form  (6/2/2022)  1 of 2 

LGVSD Tracking No.
 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

Request for Donation
Donations must serve a District public purpose.  The gift of public funds, such as any expenditure which benefits an 
individual or small class of individuals only, with no benefit to all of the residents of the District is prohibited by the 
Constitution of the State of California, Article  XVI, Section 6. 

 

Applicant Information 

Date: Project / Program / Event Title:  

Applicant Organization Name:  

Address:  

Contact Person / Title:  

Contact Phone Number:  Email:  

Organization Federal Tax ID:  Amount of Request: $

Brief Project or Program Description

( Attach written request for donation on applicant’s letterhead )
 

Certification

I certify that all information provided herein is true. I am aware that submission of this application and supporting documents
are subject to approval by the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District and that not all applications will be approved.

Applicant Signature (Board Chair / Director or Designee) Date

Please send you completed application and attachments to:

1) MAIL: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Attn: Request for Donation

2) OR, DELIVER IN-PERSON: 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA 94903
3) OR, E-MAIL: info@lgvsd.org with “Request for Donation” in the “Subject” line.

Ensure you include:

4) This application form, and

5) Written request on applicant’s letterhead describing how the donation will benefit the residents of the District, and

6) Detailed project or program budget, and

7) Current organization budget and latest financial statement.
 

101 Lucas Valley Rd Ste 300, San Rafael CA 94903    Phone: 415-472-1734 / Fax: 415-785-4347 Web: www.lgvsd.org
 
 

 

73



74



75



76



77



78



79



 

 
 

 

9/7/2023 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) BETWEEN THE 
LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT (LGVSD) AND  

OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL THREE (OE3) 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

 Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Discussion  

□ Presentation 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 5 

80



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\Mgmt Contracts\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements.docx Page 1 of 4 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Curtis Paxton, General Manager 
 (415) 526-1511   cpaxton@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Management and Unrepresented Employment Agreement Modifications  

Item Type:   Consent   Action     X   Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Board to review and approve the employment agreements and authorize the General Manager 

to execute the agreements for the following management and unrepresented employees: 

 

• Administrative/Financial Specialist Schultz 

• Administrative Services Manager McDonald 

• Collections/Safety/Maintenance Manager Pease 

• District Engineer Cortz 

• Plant Manager Liebmann 

 

BACKGROUND 

The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District”) began bargaining negotiations with 

Operating Engineers Local 3 (“OE3”) in March 2023 for a new labor agreement between the 

District and OE3.  Employment agreements with management and one unrepresented employee 

were set to expire on June 30, 2023. Management supported the District completing its 

negotiations with OE3 for its represented members before considering modifications to their 

contracts. As negotiations continued, it became clear a successor Memorandum of 

Understanding (“MOU”) between the District and OE3 would not be completed before June 30.  

Extensions of employment agreements were executed with management and the District’s one 

unrepresented employee. The employment extensions require that any increase in salary, 

benefits, or terms negotiated with OE3 be retroactive to the first pay period that encompasses 

July 1, 2023. 

 

Salary adjustments and annual general wage increases were discussed along with other 

benefits during the OE3 negotiation process.  Negotiations ended when the Board approved a 

Total Tentative Agreement between the District and OE3 on August 17, 2023, and authorized 

execution of a MOU between the District and OE3, which was considered immediately prior to 

this agenda item. 

 

Item Number________6______ 

GM Review   _____Y_________ 

81

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\Mgmt Contracts\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements.docx Page 2 of 4 

 

 

Managers restarted contract discussions in earnest on August 21 with follow-up meetings with 

the General Manager held as needed.  All parties came to a unified agreement, accepting the 

OE3 negotiated terms and benefits as the basis for modifications to the management and 

unpresented employment agreements as summarized below: 

 

Modifications for Management/Unrepresented Employee Contracts 

1. Employment Agreement terms to coincide with the negotiated MOU term; July 1, 2023 

through June 30, 2026. 

2. General Wage Increase Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) to mirror the percentage 

increases represented employees receive; retroactive to the pay period that encompasses 

July 1, 2023 an increase of 5.0% will apply. Effective July 1, 2024 an increase of 3.0% will 

apply. Effective July 1, 2025 an increase of 3.0% will apply. 

3. A sixth salary step, 5% above the existing fifth salary step, will be added to the salary pay 

schedule for each classification.  Three management employees will be placed at the sixth 

step. 

4. Juneteenth and one floating holiday added to the list of paid holidays bringing the total to 12 

fixed holidays and 1 floating holiday per year. 

5. Annual employee match of up to $1,200 to a Deferred Compensation 457 Plan. 

6. Increase life insurance coverage up to $100,000. 

7. Increase the dental benefit cap to $4,000 per patient. 

8. Increase the boot stipend to $325 for eligible employees.  

The above modifications are based on the benefits offered to the members of the OE3 

bargaining unit and are incorporated into the Summary of Benefit Provisions for the 

Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group included as Exhibit C within the 

Employment Agreements. 

 

Additional Management Contracted Benefit 

 

1. Vacation accrual for management to be calculated based on years of CalPERS service 

credit. 

2. Remove restriction requiring submittal of vacation cash out requests by June 1 and/or 

December 1 for payment the following pay period.   

 

The Salary Pay Schedule for management and unrepresented classifications will be modified 

based on the General Wage Increase and the addition of a sixth salary step as shown on the 

table on the following page. 

 

82



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\Mgmt Contracts\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements.docx Page 3 of 4 

 
 

Salary Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2023 - Management & Unrepresented Group 

Classification Title  Monthly 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 

Administrative/Financial Specialist   8,767   9,205   9,666   10,149   10,656   11,189  

Administrative Services Manager   15,470   16,244   17,056   17,909   18,804   19,744  

Collection System / Maintenance / 
Safety Manager 

 
 15,093   15,848   16,640   17,472   18,346   19,263  

District Engineer   15,857   16,650   17,482   18,357   19,274   20,238  

Plant Manager   15,470   16,244   17,056   17,909   18,804   19,744  

 

The published Salary Pay Schedule combining represented, unrepresented, and management 

employees will be considered for approval by Resolution immediately following this agenda item. 

 

Employment Agreements were modified to incorporate the above changes and are included as 

attachments A through E for Board review and approval.  
 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

On June 15, 2023, the Board approved the Extension of Employment Agreements for 

management and unrepresented employees through December 31, 2023. 
 

On August 17, 2023, the Board approved entering into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

between the District and OE3. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

N/A 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The cost to implement modifications to the management and unrepresented employee 

agreements fall within the adopted budget. 

 

Effective August 1, 2023, by contract the General Manager is entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase that will be commensurate with that given to other management employees.  The 

General Wage COLA for 2023 is 5%.  Included in the Year 1 estimate of costs below is the 

General Manager’s COLA. 

 

It is estimated that the modifications to management and unrepresented group agreements 

would cost the District: 

Year 1  $135,402 

Year 2    $67,947  

Year 3    $81,338  

TOTAL $284,687  

83



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\Mgmt Contracts\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements.docx Page 4 of 4 

 

 

The additional vacation accrual costs for management are anticipated to be minimal. The 

additional leave value for management employees is $12,054.  There would be no additional 

cost to the District unless vacation days were not used, and instead cashed out.  Vacation 

accrual liability would grow if vacation leave was not taken. 

 

Attachments: 

A. Employment Agreement – Administrative Financial Specialist Schultz 

B. Employment Agreement – Administrative Services Manager McDonald 

C. Employment Agreement – Collection System / Maintenance / Safety Manager Pease 

D. Employment Agreement – District Engineer Cortez 

E. Employment Agreement – Plant Manager Liebmann 
 

84



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 1 
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this _____ 

day of _______, 2023, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special district, 

(“District or Employer”) and Amy Schultz, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Amy Schultz as 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, this position is identified in the codified Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District as Title 1, Chapter 5; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as Administrative/Financial 

Specialist - Confidential of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

85

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Confidential Nature of Position 

 This position is authorized by Title 1, Chapter 5 of the Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District.  The position is confidential and Employee shall maintain all information 

as confidential as required by the Ordinance. 

Section 2: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Amy Schultz as Administrative/Financial 

Specialist - Confidential to perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, 

attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions 

as the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential.  

B. The Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential shall meet all job duties as 

described in the attached Exhibit “A”.  The Administrative/Financial Specialist – Confidential 

shall do and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary to conduct the general business and 

governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States of America and 

the State of California governing special districts as directed by the Administrative Services 

Manager and as outlined in the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential job description.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity.   

86



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 3 
 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential at the pleasure of the 

General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without 

cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall commence on September 7, 2023and end later on 

June 30, 2026 unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the provisions 

of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District and the District 

has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 30, 2026, 

Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from her position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to compensate Employee based on the appropriate salary step 

identified in the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential Salary Schedule attached as 

Exhibit “B”.   

87



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 4 
 

B. Prior to or within one month of her anniversary date, the Administrative Services 

Manager shall review the performance of Employee and, with the authorization of the General 

Manger, may increase Employee’s salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential Salary Schedule.   

C. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on District 

Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase determined 

by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

D. Effective the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2023, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $10,656 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2023. 

E. Effective July 1, 2024, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of  3.0%. 

F. Effective July 1, 2025, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of  3.0%.  

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The Administrative Services Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the 

Employee at least once annually, beginning with her first anniversary date as 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential. Said review and evaluation shall be in 

accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop 

annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District 

and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among 

those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

88



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 5 
 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential.   

Section 5: Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

i. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees' 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. ("PERL")), Employee is required to contribute 

8% of the Employee's "compensation earnable and reportable" ("PERSable compensation") 

toward the costs of said benefit plan. 

Section 6: Professional Development 

Employee shall receive make efforts to continue performance development.  Employee 

shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses for professional development.  

The General Manager’s determination for such expenses are solely within his or her discretion. 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge that 

Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

89



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 6 
 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate her employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to one month of Employee’s 

current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the Employee agrees 

to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases the District from 

any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the Employee refuses to sign 

this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to the severance 

pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in accordance with Government 

Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the maximum cash settlement that 

Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of Employee multiplied by 

the number of months left on the unexpired term of the Agreement.  However, if the unexpired 

term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the maximum cash settlement shall be an amount 

equal to the monthly salary of the employee multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation, compensatory time, and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits 

shall be paid in accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 7.E. 

90



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 7 
 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Amy Shultz 
956 Edwards Ave 
Santa Rosa, CA 95401 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the date 

of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of transmission 

in the United States Postal Service. 

 

Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

91



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 8 
 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or promise 

not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the Agreement will 

be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2026.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2026. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or disclosing 

information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any 

other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful. 

 

92



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 9 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by its General Manager, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and year 

first above written. 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
Curtis Paxton 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
Amy Schultz 
 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Teri Lerch 
District Secretary Pro      Seal 
 
 
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

93



EXHIBIT A 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
February 2021 

FLSA: NON‐EXEMPT 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE/FINANCIAL SPECIALIST 
 

DEFINITION 
 
Under  general  supervision  of  the  Administrative  Services  Manager,  performs  a  variety  of 
specialized and technical duties in support of the District’s accounting, finance, audit and human 
resources programs; assists the Administrative Services Manager in planning, coordinating and 
implementing accounting, finance, administrative and human resources projects; and performs 
related work as assigned. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives  general  supervision  from  the  Administrative  Services  Manager.  Exercises  no  direct 
supervision of staff.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 

Incumbents  regularly  work  on  tasks  which  are  varied  and  complex,  requiring  considerable 
discretion  and  independent  judgment.  Positions  in  the  classification  rely  on  experience  and 
judgement  to  perform  technical  and  programmatic  work  requiring  the  interpretation  and 
application of policies, procedures and regulations and involving frequent contact with staff and 
the public, as well as performing various research functions. Assignments are given with general 
guidelines and incumbents are responsible for establishing objectives, timelines and methods to 
complete  assignments.  Work  is  typically  reviewed  upon  completion  for  soundness, 
appropriateness and conformity to policy and requirements. This class is distinguished from the 
District  Administrative  Secretary  in  that  the  latter  serves  as  the  Secretary  to  the  Board  of 
Directors and does not handle financial nor Human Resources matters.   
 
EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FUNCTIONS (Illustrative Only) 
The following functions are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all of the 
listed functions and/or may be required to perform additional or different functions from those 
set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 
 
 Performs a  variety of  specialized and  technical  accounts  receivable  and accounts payable 

duties,  including  verifying,  posting,  balancing,  adjusting  and  maintaining  accounting  and 
financial records according to established policies and procedures.  

 Creates new vendor accounts; obtains necessary information and paperwork from vendors; 
tracks and processes approved purchase orders; reviews invoices and reports for accuracy 
and appropriate authorization; ensures that funds are budgeted and available and prepares 
documentation for payment; enters and verifies data into the automated accounts payable 
system to produce payment. 

94



Administrative/Financial Specialist 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 Processes payments by referencing chart of accounts to code bills, matching bills to purchase 

orders, coordinating signature approval, preparing documentation for payment, generating 
payments by check, direct deposit or online, and preparing payments for mailing and files 
copies with backup. 

 Receives vendor inquiries via telephone, fax or mail; resolves any issues, problems or requests 
using established procedures; prepares annual 1099 statements and uses tax refunds.  

 Prepares  invoices  for  permits,  connection  fees  and  other  services  as  directed  by  the 
Administrative Services Manager. 

 Assists with  daily  administration  of  bank  accounts;  prepares  bank  transfer  paperwork  for 
interfund  and  Local  Agency  Investment  Fund  (LAIF)  transfers;  initiates  electronic  funds 
transfer (EFT) and automated clearing house (ACH) payments as required; handles positive 
pay notifications from bank; maintains professional relationship with key bank contacts.  

 Audits,  verifies,  codes  and  batches  accounts  payable  transactions;  reconciles  credit  card 
purchases; researches and resolves discrepancies and unauthorized purchases. 

 Prepares warrant list for Board approval. 
 Receives and reconciles revenues received; allocates payments to proper account; prepares 

documentation  and  coordinates  management  review  and  approval;  records  and  submits 
journal entries; prepares and maintains deposit receipts. 

 Prepares new hire packets and coordinates onboarding activities with management; sets up 
new employees with access  to timecard system; meets with new employees upon hire  to 
ensure a smooth transition into the work environment.  

 Administers the District’s multi‐tiered employee benefits programs that include plans such as 
retirement, long‐term disability, health, life, dental, vision and worker’s compensation; sets 
up  benefits  for  new  employees  and  assists  with  enrollment  in  retirement  programs; 
administers  retiree  health  benefit  program;  maintains,  reconciles  and  updates  benefit 
enrollment and changes. 

 Prepares reports and payments for employee retirement benefits and other insurances. 
 Assists  in  administering  human  resources  and  risk  management  programs,  including 

recruitment and selection, classification and compensation and training and development. 
 Assists  in  calculating  sewer  service  user  charges  and  assists  in  calculating  same  via  the 

property  tax  rolls; prepares  invoices  for direct bill  customers;  responds  to questions  from 
customers; researches and reconciles variances in bills. 

 Receives,  reviews,  verifies  and  processes  time  recording,  payroll  action  and  personnel 
transaction documents to prepare payroll  for all District employees; audits documents for 
completeness, accuracy and compliance with rules and regulations. 

 Processes payroll through electronic payroll processing system ensuring adherence to strict 
payroll  deadlines;  acts  as  administrative  contact  for  management  of  payroll  system; 
troubleshoots  and  adjusts  payroll  discrepancies  identified;  prepares  and  balances  payroll 
reports and records; provides payroll reports to management as requested. 

 Assists  in  maintaining  the  integrity  of  accounting  and  finance  programs,  including 
implementing and ensuring compliance with generally accepted accounting procedures. 

 Assists  in  researching  and  preparing  accounting,  financial  and  statistical  information  and 
materials for various reports and year‐end auditing process; compiles, reconciles and verifies 
information and assists in preparing various reports, schedules and statements such as the 

95



Administrative/Financial Specialist 
Page 3 of 5 

 
Comprehensive  Annual  Financial  Report  (CAFR),  State  Controller's  Report  and  related 
financial, accounting and human resources reports. 

 Notarizes  legal documents by verifying the authenticity and witnessing the signing of such 
documents. 

 Assists customers and staff by providing answers and information regarding specific account 
information,  discrepancies  and/or  general  accounting  and  human  resources  procedures; 
researches issues regarding specific transactions; and updates related files. 

 Composes, types, formats and proofreads a wide variety of reports, letters, documents and 
correspondence; checks drafts for punctuation, spelling and grammar; suggests corrections.  

 Maintains, updates and retrieves information from District record systems.  
 Assists  with  a  variety  of  administrative  and  customer  support  duties  such  as  answering 

phones and maintaining office supplies. 
 Attends and participates in professional group meetings related to financial administration 

and human resource activities that may affect assigned areas of responsibility; recommends 
modifications to assigned programs and District policies, procedures and ordinances. 

 Observes  safe work methods  and makes  appropriate  use  of  related  safety  equipment  as 
required. 

 Performs related duties as assigned. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
  
 Terminology and practices of financial and account document processing and record‐keeping, 

including accounts payable, accounts receivable and payroll. 
 Public agency finance and accounting functions, payroll processes and techniques. 
 Basic practices and techniques of human resources administration including recruitment and 

selection,  classification  and  compensation,  training  and  development  and  workers’ 
compensation. 

 Basic benefit program principles and practices, including claims processing, benefits reporting 
and insurance/benefit plan record‐keeping. 

 Methods and techniques of posting journal entries. 
 Cash handling techniques. 
 Principles and practices of auditing financial documents. 
 Applicable  federal,  state  and  local  laws,  regulatory  codes,  ordinances,  policies  and 

procedures relevant to assigned area of responsibility. 
 Techniques  for  providing  a  high  level  of  customer  service  by  effectively  dealing with  the 

public, vendors, contractors and District staff. 
 The  structure  and  content of  the English  language,  including  the meaning  and  spelling of 

words, rules of composition and grammar. 
 Modern  equipment  and  communication  tools  used  for  business  functions  and  program, 

project and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to work 
performed. 

 
 

96



Administrative/Financial Specialist 
Page 4 of 5 

 
Ability to: 
 
 Perform detailed accounting and financial support work accurately and in a timely manner. 
 Provide technical and administrative support to the District’s human resources management 

system and programs. 
 Review financial documents for completeness and accuracy. 
 Review, post, balance, reconcile and maintain accurate financial records. 
 Make accurate arithmetic, financial and statistical computations. 
 Establish and maintain a variety of filing, record‐keeping and tracking systems. 
 Follow and apply written and oral instructions. 
 Prepare clear and accurate financial records. 
 Exercise  tact  and  diplomacy  in  dealing  with  sensitive  and  confidential  personnel  issues, 

employee information and employee situations. 
 Understand,  interpret,  and  apply  all  pertinent  laws,  codes,  regulations,  policies  and 

procedures and standards relevant to work performed. 
 Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, and other written materials. 
 Organize own work, set priorities and meet critical time deadlines. 
 Effectively use computer systems, software applications and modern business equipment to 

perform a variety of work tasks. 
 Communicate  clearly  and  concisely,  both  orally  and  in  writing,  using  appropriate  English 

grammar and syntax. 
 Use tact,  initiative, prudence and  independent  judgment within general policy, procedural 

and legal guidelines. 
 Establish,  maintain  and  foster  positive  and  effective  working  relationships  with  those 

contacted in the course of work.  
 
Education and Experience 
Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills, 
and abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the required qualifications would be: 
 
Equivalent  to  an  Associate  degree  from  an  accredited  college  with  major  coursework  in 
accounting,  finance,  human  resources  management,  public  or  business  administration  or  a 
related field and two (2) years of increasingly responsible providing technical support to a fiscal 
program and/or increasingly responsible human resources program administrative experience.  
 
Licenses and Certifications: 
 
 Possession of a valid California Notary Public license is desirable. 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to operate a motor vehicle to visit various District and meeting sites; vision 
to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate  in 
person  and  over  the  telephone.  This  is  primarily  a  sedentary  office  classification,  although 

97



Administrative/Financial Specialist 
Page 5 of 5 

 
standing and walking between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is needed to access, 
enter and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office 
equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push and pull 
drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. Employees must possess the ability to 
lift, carry, push and pull materials and objects weighing up to 30 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS 
 

Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions and no direct exposure to potentially hazardous physical substances. 

 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Per  California  Government  Code,  Title  1,  Division  4,  Chapter  8,  Section  3100,  "all  public 
employees are hereby declared to be disaster service workers subject to such disaster service 
activities as may be assigned to them by their superiors or by law." Performance of job functions 
may  involve  extended  workdays  to  attend  Board  meetings  when  directed  by  the  General 
Manager or to meet project deadlines. 
 

98



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT B

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2023

(Management and Unpresented Employee Group)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Administrative/Financial Specialist 8,767     9,205      9,666      10,149    10,656   11,189    

Full Time Positions

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\MOU Confidential\MOU 2023\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - Management and Unrepresented Group99



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 1 of 2 

 
In addition to the benefits specifically discussed in the employment contracts, the following benefits 
offered to the members of the OE3 bargaining unit will apply: 
 

Benefits Section 
(in MOU) 

Summary 

Holidays 15.1 12 holidays per year plus 1 floating holiday 
Max Vacation Accrual 15.2 272 hours 
Vacation Time Awarded 15.2 For Management Employees Only, accrual is based 

on years of CalPERS service credit 
  Years 1-3  14 days 
  Years 4 to 10 19 days 
  Years 11 to 15 22 days 
  Years 16+ 24 days 
  A one-time 5-day vacation bonus is given after 20 

years of service. 
Vacation Cash-Out Per contract Cash-out hours twice-yearly, with a minimum balance 

remaining of 40 hours 
Administrative Leave Per Contract Exempt Management Employees Only 

Lump sum of 80 hours reset each year on July 1st 
Admin Leave – Safety 
Award 

 4 hours added to leave bi-annually if No Accidents in 
the Plant 

Sick Leave 15.4 Accrue (1) 8-hr day a month – No Cap 
  After 3 Years – If you Resign - 50% Cash Out 
  After 3 Years – If you Retire – 50% Cash Out 50% 

CalPERS Service Credit 
Bereavement Leave 15.4 3 days paid leave specified family members 
Cell Phone  Per Contract Reimburse for Cell purchase with Cap 
  Reimburse one personal cell line monthly costs  
Auto Allowance Per Contract Allowance Reimbursement or use of District Vehicle 
Technology Per Contract Reimbursed for iPad or Laptop – Limit of $1,347 per 

Administrative Policy A-03. 
Longevity Pay Per Contract Employees Hired prior to 7/1/2016 Only 

After 6 years – 5% 
After 10 years – 3% 
After 15 years – 2% 

Medical Cafeteria Plan 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
 
EE Contribution 

17.1/17.2 PERS Health Plan 
 
Kaiser family rate 
 
Excess monthly cost for plan over Kaiser plan  

Dental 17.3 Annual cap of $3,000 per covered individual after 
applicable co-pay. Annual cap of $4,000 effective 
January 1, 2024. 

100



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 2 of 2 

Vision 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
EE Contribution 

17.5 VSP 
 
50% of the cost 
50% of the cost 

Waive District Health 
Insurance 

Per Contract On proof of coverage, a $250 reimbursement per 
month. 

Life/AD&D Insurance 17.7 1 x Salary up to $100,000 
Long-term Disability 17.11 66.67% of monthly salary up to $15,000 of salary 
Wellness Program 17.12 $500 per calendar year reimbursement 
CalPERS Retirement 18.1 Classic Employees – 2.7% at 55, highest year, EE 

pays 8% pretax 
PEPRA Employees – 2% at 62, final 3 years of 
compensation; EE pays 8% pre-tax  

Deferred Comp 457 18.1 District match up to $1,200 per calendar year  
Retiree Medical 18.2.2 Hired pre-1/1/03: State one party rate employee only; 

5 year vesting 
 
Hired post 1/1/03 and pre-7/1/2014: State 100/90 
plan EE, EE + sp, EE + dependents; 10 years PERS 
service 50% vested, 20 years PERS service 100% 
vested, 5 years with LGVSD 

18.2.3 Hired after 7/1/2014: 
10 years of District service, 50% vested, 100% vested 
at 20 years of District service.  Employee only 
coverage based on the One Party State Rate. 

Boot Stipend 19 Annual $325, to eligible employees to be paid on first 
full pay period check in January 
 

Prescription Safety 
Glasses 

19 Every two years $305, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible 
employees 
 
 

 
Note: Employees of the Unrepresented Bargaining Group do not have rights under the MOU as they 

pertain to discipline, discharge or employment status.  Reference to the MOU sections in this 
document in terms of defining benefits offered to this group is for convenience only. 

 
 
 
 

101



Employment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 1 
 

 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 
Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

DALE MCDONALD (Administrative Services Manager) 
 
 
This  EMPLOYMENT  AGREEMENT  ("Agreement")  is  made  and  entered  into  this 

_____ day  of     __________ , 2023, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District,  a special district, ("District  or Employer")  and DALE MCDONALD,  

("Employee") both of whom understand as follows: 

 
WITNESSETH 

 
WHEREAS,  Employer  desires  to  employ  the  services  of  DALE  

MCDONALD  as Administrative Services Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, ("Board") to provide certain 

benefits, to establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of 

said Employee; and 

WHEREAS,  Employer  and  Employee  now  desire  to  set  forth  their  

agreement  for employment of Employee on the terms and subject to the conditions set 

forth herein. 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and 

understand its contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the provisions and 

promises hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows: 

102

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text
Attachment B

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text



Employment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 2 

 

TERMS 
 

Section 1: Duties 
 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ DALE MCDONALD as 

Administrative Services Manager to perform the functions and duties specified in the job 

description, attached as Exhibit "A" and to perform other legally permissible and 

proper duties and functions as the Administrative Services Manager. 

B. The Administrative Services Manager shall be in charge of and responsible 

for the operation and management of the Administrative Office and the general 

business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the 

United States of America and the State of California governing special districts as 

directed by the General Manager and as outlined in the Administrative Services 

Manager job description. The Administrative Services Manager shall do and perform all 

services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the business 

and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager. 

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall 

devote Employee's full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the 

performance of the duties and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall 

not conduct any business or render services of any kind for compensation, or undertake 

other business, professional or commercial activity without written approval of the 

General Manager. 

D. Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best 

interest of Employer in mind. 

103



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 3 

 

 
Section 2: Term 

 
A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is "at will". 

Specifically, Employee serves as Administrative Services Manager at the pleasure of 

the General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either 

with or without cause. 

B.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on September 7, 2023 and end 

l a t e r  on June 30,  2026, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in  

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. In the event Employee continues 

employment with the District and the District has not completed  contract  negotiations  

with  management  employees  by June 30, 2026, Employee's employment with the 

District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 

right of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, 

subject only to the provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

D.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 

right of the Employee to resign at any time from their position  with Employer, subject 

only to the provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 
Section 3: Salary 

 
A. Employer agrees to compensate Employee based on the  appropriate salary 

step identified in the Administrative Services  Manager Salary Pay Schedule attached as 

Exhibit "B". 

104



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 4 

 

B. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General 

Manager shall review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, 

may increase Employee's salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in 

Administrative Services Manager Salary Schedule. 

C. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based 

on District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage 

salary increase determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

D. Effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2023 the 

Employee's compensation will be $17,056 per month (Step 3) as set forth in Exhibit 

"B", the pay scale as of July 1, 2023. 

E. Effective July 1, 2024, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage 

COLA of 3.0%.  

F. Effective July 1, 2025, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage 

COLA of 3.0%.  

G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager 

for more than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee's pay will be 

increased by 5% until the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General 

Manager. 

 
 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 
 

The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee 

at least once annually, beginning with their first anniversary date as Administrative 

105



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 5 

 

Services Manager. Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance with specific 

criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop annual goals, 

objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District and in 

attainment of the District's policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among 

those goals, objectives, and performance standards. Additionally, the District may 

periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee's performance of the 

duties of Administrative Services Manager. 

 
 

Section 5: Management Benefits 
 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented 

Bargaining Group in the attached Exhibit "C". However, a specific description of 

certain of those benefits follows and the specific description below controls the rights 

and obligations of Employee and Employer for that specific benefit. 

B. Employee  shall  be  compensated  $430.72  monthly  for  a vehicle  

allowance.  The amount will increase each year based on Board approved COLA 

increases. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 

hours of Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every 

year, regardless of the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees' 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. ("PERL")), Employee is required 

to contribute 8% of the Employee's "compensation earnable and reportable" ("PERSable 

106



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 6 

 

compensation") toward the costs of said benefit plan. 

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be 

reimbursed the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T,  

Sprint and Verizon). Employee can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 

3 years up to $295.16. The allowance will be based on  Board approved COLA 

increases of each year. It is the sole responsibility of the Employee to maintain their 

Employee owned phone. Employee shall be on call and maintain their phone in good 

working condition and in close proximity to respond to District emergencies as 

necessary or directed by the General Manager. Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a 

reimbursement for a phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so 

reimbursed. 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt 

out of the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per 

month to offset the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide 

proof of health insurance coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager's consent, may purchase a tablet 

computer or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District 

policy. Should the Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the 

reimbursement, the Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Vacation accrual shall be calculated based on years of CalPERS public sector 

service credit beginning the first pay period after this agreement is executed. For the 

107



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 7 

 

purposes of calculating vacation accrual, public sector service means service with a 

CalPERS agency or an agency with CalPERS reciprocity. 

I. Cash out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time 

EMPLOYEE may accrue is 272 hours. EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 

hours of vacation time twice a year. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated 

at the EMPLOYEE's current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE's 

accumulated vacation balance. In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a 

vacation balance of less than 40 hours. Such requests for cash-out of vacation hours 

shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the General Manager, who will verify 

and approve the request. This cash-out will be subject to applicable Federal and State 

Payroll Tax Law. 

 
Section 6: Professional Development 

 
A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for associations, publications 

and subscriptions for Employee necessary for their continuation and full participation  

in national regional, state, and local associations and organizations necessary and desirable 

for their continued professional participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good 

of the Employer as determined solely by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and 

occasions necessary to continue the professional development of Employee and 

maintenance of required licenses as determined solely by the General Manager. 

108



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 8 

 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences and seminars 

that are necessary for their professional development and for the good of the Employer 

as determined solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager's prior approval for any 

expenses in this Section which are not in the approved budget. 

 
Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

 
A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

 
B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance 

notice of termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. "At Will" Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly 

acknowledge that Employee is "at will" and serves at the pleasure of the General 

Manager. Employee may be terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole 

discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate their employment at any time with or 

without reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the 

death or permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to 

cause, then Employee may be entitled to severance  pay in a lump sum equal to three 

109



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 9 

 

months of Employee's current salary. The District shall only be obligated to pay this 

severance if the Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by 

the District that releases the District from any and all claims the Employee may have 

against the District.  If the Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release 

agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to the severance pay. Notwithstanding 

any other provision in this Agreement, in accordance with Government Code § 53260, 

in the event this Agreement is terminated, the maximum cash settlement that Employee 

may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of Employee multiplied by 

the number of months left on the unexpired term of the Agreement. However, if the 

unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the maximum cash settlement 

shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for 

accrued but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits 

shall be paid in accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee 

shall be deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set 

forth under Section 7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 
 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the 

United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District 101 Lucas Valley Road, 
Suite 300 San Rafael, CA 94903 

110



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 10 

 

 
 

DALE MCDONALD 
675 Edwards St. 
Crockett, CA 94525 

 
 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally 

served in the same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be 

deemed given as of the date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such 

written notice in the course of transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
Section 9: General 

Provisions 
 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District 

and the Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties 

with respect to such employment in any manner whatsoever. Any prior agreements 

merge into this Agreement and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this 

agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, 

inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any 

party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which  are not embodied herein,  and no 

other agreement, statement, or promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid 

or binding. Any modification of the Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing 

and signed by both the General Manager and the Employee. 

111



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 11 

 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

heirs of Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, 

shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of 

California. Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the 

District's policies. Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and 

procedures when they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2026.  

Any increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2026. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or 

disclosing information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or 

discrimination or any other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful.

112



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has 

caused this Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by the General 

Manager, and duly attested by its District Secretary, and the Employee has 

signed and executed this Agreement the day and year first above written. 

 
 

Date:  ___________ 
 
 
 
 

Date: ___________ 
 
    
 ATTEST:   
_________________________ __________________________  Teresa Lerch 
District Secretary 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 _______________________________ 
Curtis Paxton 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
 ______________________________ 

DALE MCDONALD 
 
 
 
 

Seal

   __________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Employment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager)
 Page 11 

 
113



EXHIBIT A 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
November 2018 
FLSA: EXEMPT 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES MANAGER 

 
DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction of  the General Manager, plans, organizes,  coordinates,  and manages 
administrative  services  functions  including  accounting,  budget,  human  resources,  risk 
management,  procurement,  records management,  and  administrative  support;  serves  as  the 
District’s Chief Financial Officer; serves as a liaison and coordinates assigned activities with other 
District  personnel  and  external  agencies  to  ensure  compliance  with  reporting  requirements; 
provides  responsible  and  complex  administrative  and  operational  assistance  to  the  General 
Manager; and performs related work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the General Manager.  Exercises direct supervision over assigned 
staff.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 

This  is  a  management  classification  responsible  for  planning,  organizing,  and  managing 
administrative  services  staff,  operations,  and  activities.    The  incumbent  is  responsible  for 
performing  diverse,  specialized,  and  complex  work  involving  significant  accountability  and 
decision‐making  responsibilities,  which  include  developing  and  implementing  policies  and 
procedures for assigned programs, reporting, compliance, and program evaluation.  Incumbents 
serve as a professional resource for organizational, managerial, and administrative analyses and 
studies.    The  incumbent  is  accountable  for  accomplishing  administrative  services  goals  and 
objectives, and for furthering District goals and objectives within general policy guidelines.   

 
EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FUNCTIONS (Illustrative Only) 
The following functions are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all of the 
listed functions and/or may be required to perform additional or different functions from those 
set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 
 
 Assumes  managerial  responsibility  for  all  administrative  services  functions,  including 

accounting,  budget,  human  resources,  risk  management,  procurement,  records 
management, and administrative support.  

 Participates  in  the  development  and  implementation  of  goals,  objectives,  policies,  and 
priorities for the District; recommends, within District policy, appropriate service and staffing 
levels;  recommends  and  administers  policies  and  procedures  while  ensuring  financial, 
regulatory, and legal requirements are met. 

114



Administrative Services Manager 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 Selects,  trains,  motivates,  and  directs  assigned  staff;  evaluates  and  reviews  work  for 

acceptability and conformance with District standards; provides or coordinates staff training; 
works  with  employees  to  correct  deficiencies;  recommends  discipline  and  termination 
procedures; responds to staff questions and concerns.  

 Contributes  to  the  overall  quality  of  District  services  by  continuously  monitoring  and 
evaluating  the  efficiency  and  effectiveness  of  service  delivery  methods  and  procedures; 
assesses  and  monitors  distribution  of  work,  support  systems,  and  internal  reporting 
relationships; identifies and recommends opportunities for improvements. 

 Manages  and  participates  in  all  activities  related  to  the  District’s  finance  and  accounting 
programs,  including accounts payable, accounts receivable, payroll, year‐end closing, bank 
reconciliation,  and  financial  reporting;  makes  investments  and  monitors  performance  of 
revenues pursuant to Board policy. 

 Develops and administers the District’s annual budget; works with management to provide 
technical expertise on budget related matters and to ensure that the budget is completed in 
a timely manner; facilitates budget workshops.   

 Prepares applications for and administers grant, loan, and bond financing for District Capital 
Improvement Programs. 

 Prepares and analyzes a variety of  financial  statements; analyzes budget  to actual  trends; 
prepares  periodic  and  special  reports,  including  monthly,  quarterly  and  annual  financial 
reports, grant reports, and the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  

 Maintains,  reconciles,  and  approves  a  variety  of  accounting  records  and  transactions  in 
accordance  with  generally  accepted  accounting  principles  and  Government  Accounting 
Standards Board  requirements;  supervises and participates  in month‐end,  fiscal  year‐end, 
and calendar year‐end reconciliation and closing processes.  

 Coordinates the annual audit of financial statements; prepares supporting documents.  
 Prepares financial components and schedules supporting Proposition 218 rate analyses. 
 Calculates sewer service user charges and assists in calculating same via the property tax rolls; 

prepares invoices for direct bill customers; responds to questions from customers; researches 
and reconciles variances in bills. 

 Administers  human  resources  and  risk  management  programs,  including  benefits 
administration,  recruitment  and  selection,  classification  and  compensation,  training  and 
development, employee relations, and liability insurances. 

 Oversees procurement functions and activities; develops and manages requests for proposals 
for  professional  and/or  contracted  services  including  information  technology  support; 
evaluates proposals and recommends award; prepares and negotiates contracts; administers 
contracts  to  ensure  compliance  with  District  specifications,  policies,  and  procedures  and 
service quality. 

 Manages Board support activities  including legislative functions and records management; 
performs  duties  of  District  Secretary  in  absence  of  the  District  Administrative  Assistant; 
regularly attends Board meetings. 

 Provides highly complex staff assistance to the General Manager; develops and reviews staff, 
financial, and regulatory reports related to assigned activities and services; presents to the 
Board  of  Directors;  performs  a  variety  of  public  relations  and  outreach  work  related  to 
assigned activities. 

115



Administrative Services Manager 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 Attends and participates  in professional group meetings;  stays abreast of new trends and 

innovations  in  the  field  of  administrative  services;  monitors  changes  in  regulations  and 
technology that may affect District operations;  implements policy and procedural changes 
after approval.  

 Receives, investigates, and responds to difficult and sensitive problems and complaints in a 
professional manner; identifies and reports findings and takes necessary corrective action. 

 Performs related duties as assigned.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
  
 Administrative  principles  and  practices,  including  goal  setting,  program  development, 

implementation,  and  evaluation,  and  supervision  of  staff,  either  directly  or  through 
subordinate levels of supervision. 

 Principles, practices, and methods of governmental accounting, public finance administration 
and budgeting, auditing, and reconciliation. 

 Principles,  practices,  and  techniques  of  human  resources  and  risk management  program 
administration. 

 Public  agency  budget  development,  contract  administration,  District‐wide  administrative 
practices, and general principles of risk management related to the functions of the assigned 
area. 

 Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment review 
and evaluation, and the training of staff in work procedures. 

 Organization  and  management  practices  as  applied  to  the  development,  analysis,  and 
evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs of the assigned functional area. 

 Applicable  federal,  state,  and  local  laws,  regulatory  codes,  ordinances,  and  procedures 
relevant to assigned area of responsibility. 

 Practices of researching issues, evaluating alternatives, making sound recommendations, and 
preparing and presenting effective staff reports. 

 Technical, legal, financial, and public relations problems associated with the management of 
administrative services projects and programs. 

 Modern office practices, methods, and computer equipment and applications. 
 English usage, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and punctuation. 
 Techniques  for effectively  representing the District  in contacts with government agencies, 

community  groups,  and  various  business,  professional,  regulatory,  and  legislative 
organizations. 

 Techniques  for  providing  a  high  level  of  customer  service  by  effectively  dealing with  the 
public, vendors, contractors, and District staff. 

 
Ability to: 
 
 Develop and implement goals, objectives, policies, procedures, and work standards.   
 Administer complex and technical administrative services programs in an independent and 

cooperative manner. 

116



Administrative Services Manager 
Page 4 of 5 

 
 Plan, organize, assign, review, and evaluate the work of staff; train staff in work procedures. 
 Apply relevant accounting standards to prepare monthly, quarterly, and annual budgets and 

financial reports. 
 Evaluate and develop improvements in processes and procedures. 
 Analyze, interpret, summarize, and present administrative and financial information and data 

in an effective manner. 
 Interpret,  apply,  explain,  and  ensure  compliance  with  federal,  state,  and  local  policies, 

procedures, laws, and regulations. 
 Conduct complex  research projects, evaluate alternatives, make sound  recommendations, 

and prepare effective technical staff reports. 
 Effectively  represent  the  District  in  meetings  with  governmental  agencies,  community 

groups, various businesses, professional, and regulatory organizations, and in meetings with 
individuals. 

 Research, analyze, and evaluate new service delivery methods, procedures, and techniques. 
 Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, procedures, and other written materials. 
 Oversee and coordinate the maintenance of District records and files. 
 Organize  and prioritize  a  variety of  projects  and multiple  tasks  in  an  effective  and  timely 

manner; organize own work, set priorities, and meet critical time deadlines. 
 Effectively use computer systems, software, and modern business equipment to perform a 

variety of work tasks. 
 Use English effectively to communicate in person, over the telephone, and in writing. 
 Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy, procedural, 

and legal guidelines. 
 Establish,  maintain,  and  foster  positive  and  effective  working  relationships  with  those 

contacted in the course of work.  
 
Education and Experience 
Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills, 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required qualifications would be: 
 
Equivalent  to  graduation  from  an  accredited  four‐year  college  or  university  with  major 
coursework in business management, accounting, public administration, or a closely related field, 
and five (5) years of increasingly responsible experience managing and/or supervising accounting 
and/or administrative services functions.   
 
Licenses and Certifications: 
 
 Possession  of  a  valid  California  Driver’s  License  by  time  of  appointment  and  satisfactory 

driving record consistent with requirements established by the District. 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to operate a motor vehicle to visit various District and meeting sites; vision 
to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate  in 

117



Administrative Services Manager 
Page 5 of 5 

 
person  and  over  the  telephone.    This  is  primarily  a  sedentary  office  classification,  although 
standing and walking between work areas may be required.  Finger dexterity is needed to access, 
enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office 
equipment.  Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull 
drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information.  Employees must possess the ability to 
lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects weighing up to 25 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS 
 

Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to potentially hazardous physical substances.  

 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Per  California  Government  Code,  Title  1,  Division  4,  Chapter  8,  Section  3100,  "all  public 
employees are hereby declared to be disaster service workers subject to such disaster service 
activities as may be assigned to them by their superiors or by law." 

118



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT B

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2023

(Management and Unpresented Employee Group)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Administrative Services Manager 15,470   16,244    17,056    17,909    18,804   19,744    

Full Time Positions

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\MOU Confidential\MOU 2023\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - Management and Unrepresented Group119



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 1 of 2 

 
In addition to the benefits specifically discussed in the employment contracts, the following benefits 
offered to the members of the OE3 bargaining unit will apply: 
 

Benefits Section 
(in MOU) 

Summary 

Holidays 15.1 12 holidays per year plus 1 floating holiday 
Max Vacation Accrual 15.2 272 hours 
Vacation Time Awarded 15.2 For Management Employees Only, accrual is based 

on years of CalPERS service credit 
  Years 1-3  14 days 
  Years 4 to 10 19 days 
  Years 11 to 15 22 days 
  Years 16+ 24 days 
  A one-time 5-day vacation bonus is given after 20 

years of service. 
Vacation Cash-Out Per contract Cash-out hours twice-yearly, with a minimum balance 

remaining of 40 hours 
Administrative Leave Per Contract Exempt Management Employees Only 

Lump sum of 80 hours reset each year on July 1st 
Admin Leave – Safety 
Award 

 4 hours added to leave bi-annually if No Accidents in 
the Plant 

Sick Leave 15.4 Accrue (1) 8-hr day a month – No Cap 
  After 3 Years – If you Resign - 50% Cash Out 
  After 3 Years – If you Retire – 50% Cash Out 50% 

CalPERS Service Credit 
Bereavement Leave 15.4 3 days paid leave specified family members 
Cell Phone  Per Contract Reimburse for Cell purchase with Cap 
  Reimburse one personal cell line monthly costs  
Auto Allowance Per Contract Allowance Reimbursement or use of District Vehicle 
Technology Per Contract Reimbursed for iPad or Laptop – Limit of $1,347 per 

Administrative Policy A-03. 
Longevity Pay Per Contract Employees Hired prior to 7/1/2016 Only 

After 6 years – 5% 
After 10 years – 3% 
After 15 years – 2% 

Medical Cafeteria Plan 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
 
EE Contribution 

17.1/17.2 PERS Health Plan 
 
Kaiser family rate 
 
Excess monthly cost for plan over Kaiser plan  

Dental 17.3 Annual cap of $3,000 per covered individual after 
applicable co-pay. Annual cap of $4,000 effective 
January 1, 2024. 

120



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 2 of 2 

Vision 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
EE Contribution 

17.5 VSP 
 
50% of the cost 
50% of the cost 

Waive District Health 
Insurance 

Per Contract On proof of coverage, a $250 reimbursement per 
month. 

Life/AD&D Insurance 17.7 1 x Salary up to $100,000 
Long-term Disability 17.11 66.67% of monthly salary up to $15,000 of salary 
Wellness Program 17.12 $500 per calendar year reimbursement 
CalPERS Retirement 18.1 Classic Employees – 2.7% at 55, highest year, EE 

pays 8% pretax 
PEPRA Employees – 2% at 62, final 3 years of 
compensation; EE pays 8% pre-tax  

Deferred Comp 457 18.1 District match up to $1,200 per calendar year  
Retiree Medical 18.2.2 Hired pre-1/1/03: State one party rate employee only; 

5 year vesting 
 
Hired post 1/1/03 and pre-7/1/2014: State 100/90 
plan EE, EE + sp, EE + dependents; 10 years PERS 
service 50% vested, 20 years PERS service 100% 
vested, 5 years with LGVSD 

18.2.3 Hired after 7/1/2014: 
10 years of District service, 50% vested, 100% vested 
at 20 years of District service.  Employee only 
coverage based on the One Party State Rate. 

Boot Stipend 19 Annual $325, to eligible employees to be paid on first 
full pay period check in January 
 

Prescription Safety 
Glasses 

19 Every two years $305, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible 
employees 
 
 

 
Note: Employees of the Unrepresented Bargaining Group do not have rights under the MOU as they 

pertain to discipline, discharge or employment status.  Reference to the MOU sections in this 
document in terms of defining benefits offered to this group is for convenience only. 

 
 
 
 

121



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 1 
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2023, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Greg Pease, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as 

follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Greg Pease as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to become employed as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

 

122

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text
Attachment C



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Greg Pease as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager to perform the functions and duties specified in the job 

description attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties 

and functions as the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager.  

B. The Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager shall be in charge of and 

responsible for the operation and management of the Collection System, Pump Stations, Safety 

Program, Maintenance, and the general business and governmental affairs of Employer in 

accordance with the laws of the United States of America and the State of California governing 

special districts as directed by the General Manager and as outlined in the Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager job description. The Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager shall do and perform all services, acts, and functions 

necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the business and governmental affairs of 

Employer as determined by the General Manager. 

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

123



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 3 
 

E. Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to 

Employer's facilities, Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence within a 45-minute 

automobile drive to the Employer’s office during non-commute hours.  Employee is entitled to 

an Emergency Response Stipend of $300 per month as a benefit for being a Stand-by Emergency 

Response employee. 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager at the pleasure of the 

General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or 

without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall commence on September 7, 2023 and end later 

on June 30, 2026, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2026, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

  

124



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 4 
 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to compensate Employee based on the appropriate salary step 

identified in the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager Salary Pay Schedule attached 

as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.  

B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee is entitled to receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year 

of employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0% of base salary. 

ii. Effective the first pay period in January 2015, employees in the “management 

bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a longevity step equal to five percent of 

base salary (3%) at the completion of 10 years of continuous employment with 

the District. 

iii. Effective the first pay period in January 2015, employees in the “management 

bargaining unit” are eligible to receive an additional longevity step equal to two 

percent of base salary (2%) at the completion of 15 years of continuous 

employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his/her anniversary date, the General Manager 

shall review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase 

Employee’s salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

125



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 5 
 

E. Effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2023, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $19,263 per month (Step 6) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2023.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2024, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of 3.0%.  

G. Effective July 1, 2025, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of 3.0%. 

H. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with their first anniversary date as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager. Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance with 

specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop annual goals, 

objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District and in 

attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among those 

goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager.   

126



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 6 
 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee shall be entitled to a District vehicle. Employer shall pay for all 

expenses associated with this vehicle. Employee shall be permitted to use the vehicle for limited 

personal use only when Employee is either engaged in Employer activities or commuting to and 

from work. Reasonable personal use is allowable.  If Employee ceases to be Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager but is otherwise employed by Employer this vehicle benefit 

shall end. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $295.16.  The 

allowance will be based on Board approved General Wage COLA increase of each year. It is the 

127



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 7 
 

sole responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Vacation accrual shall be calculated based on years of CalPERS public sector 

service credit beginning the first pay period after this agreement is executed. For the purposes of 

calculating vacation accrual, public sector service means service with a CalPERS agency or an 

agency with CalPERS reciprocity. 

I. Cash out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours.  EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

twice a year.  All vacation hours cashed out shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s current 

rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  In no 

event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

128



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 8 
 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  This cash-out will be subject to 

applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his/her continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, 

and local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

General Manager. 

C. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

129



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 9 
 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

130



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 10 
 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Greg Pease 
 767 Riesling Road 
 Petaluma, CA 94954 
 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

131



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 11 
 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2026.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2026. 

132



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 12 
 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or disclosing 

information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any 

other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by the General Manager, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and 

year first above written. 

 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
Curtis Paxton 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
Dated: _________________    _________________________ 
       Greg Pease 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
David Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

133



EXHIBIT A 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
February 2021 
FLSA: EXEMPT 

 
COLLECTION SYSTEM/MAINTENANCE/SAFETY MANAGER 

DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction of the General Manager, plans, organizes, coordinates and manages the 
work  of  field  crews  responsible  for  the  construction,  installation,  inspection,  cleaning, 
preventative  and  corrective  maintenance  and  repair  of  the  District’s  wastewater  collection 
system;  responsible  for  the  maintenance  of  the  treatment  plant  and  related  facilities  and 
infrastructure; oversees the administration of the District safety program; ensures compliance 
with  federal,  state  and  local  requirements;  provides  responsible  and  complex  technical  and 
operational assistance to the General Manager; and performs related work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the General Manager. Exercises direct supervision over assigned 
staff.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 

This  is  a  management  classification  responsible  for  planning,  organizing  and  managing 
maintenance  and  collection  system  staff  activities,  projects  and  programs.  The  incumbent  is 
responsible  for  performing  diverse,  specialized  and  complex  work  involving  significant 
accountability and decision‐making responsibilities, which include developing and implementing 
policies and procedures for assigned programs, reporting, compliance and program evaluation. 
The incumbent is accountable for accomplishing maintenance program goals and objectives and 
for furthering District goals and objectives within general policy guidelines.  

 
EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FUNCTIONS (Illustrative Only) 
The following functions are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all of the 
listed functions and/or may be required to perform additional or different functions from those 
set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 
 
 Assumes  managerial  responsibility  for  the  construction,  installation,  inspection,  cleaning, 

preventative and corrective maintenance and repair of the District’s wastewater collection 
systems, treatment plant, reclamation area, pump stations and related facilities, equipment 
and infrastructure.  

 Manages  and  administers  District  Sewer  Lateral  Inspection  program,  including  reviewing 
applications  and  videos,  corresponding  with  customers  and  approving  and  generating 
certifications of compliance; may enforce actions for non‐compliance.  

 Participates  in  the  development  and  implementation  of  goals,  objectives,  policies  and 
priorities for the District; recommends, within District policy, appropriate service and staffing 

134



Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 
Page 2 of 5 

 
levels;  recommends  and  administers  policies  and  procedures  while  ensuring  financial, 
regulatory and legal requirements are met. 

 Selects,  trains,  motivates  and  directs  assigned  staff;  evaluates  and  reviews  work  for 
acceptability and conformance with District standards; provides or coordinates staff training; 
works  with  employees  to  correct  deficiencies;  recommends  discipline;  responds  to  staff 
questions and concerns.  

 Contributes  to  the  overall  quality  of  District  services  by  continuously  monitoring  and 
evaluating  the  efficiency  and  effectiveness  of  service  delivery  methods  and  procedures; 
assesses  and  monitors  distribution  of  work,  support  systems  and  internal  reporting 
relationships; identifies and recommends opportunities for improvements. 

 Manages and administers the department’s budget; directs the forecast of additional funds 
needed for planned work, staffing, equipment and supplies; directs the monitoring of and 
approves expenditures; purchases supplies and equipment; maintains adequate inventory of 
supplies, tools and equipment to efficiently operate and maintain the District’s facilities and 
equipment. 

 Manages  computerized  maintenance  management  system  including  creating  and  editing 
asset data and generating work orders and reviewing upon completion; reviews data to plan, 
schedule and ensure regular  inspection and proper maintenance of  the collection system, 
treatment plant, reclamation area, vehicles and related assets.  

 Investigates  the  cause  of  sewer  overflows  and  acts  to  prevent  future  overflows;  informs 
General Manager and Plant Manager of collection system problems. 

 Responds to emergency call‐outs 24 hours per day, 7 days per week when coverage requires; 
serves  as  Legally  Responsible Official  responsible  for  the  immediate  reporting of  Sanitary 
Sewer Overflow’s (SSO’s) to the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and State Regional 
Water Quality Board (SRWCB) and oversees the entire event to include notification, reporting 
and area of hazard posting. 

 Works  with  the  District  Engineer,  other  District  departments  and  outside  engineers  and 
contractors to develop and review collection system projects. 

 Collaborates with consultants to manage the District’s safety program; updates policies on a 
regular basis; ensures completion of required safety training; works with qualified personnel 
and  consultants  to  ensure  Occupational  Safety  and  Health  Administration  (OSHA) 
requirements  are  met;  assists  with  facilitating  safety  trainings  and  meetings;  purchases 
required safety equipment and supplies. 

 Manages the tracking and general oversight of District’s tool management system. 
 Manages  utility marking  and  locating  functions  for  the  District  pursuant  to  Underground 

Service Alert requirements and standards. 
 Coordinates  maintenance  activities  with  other  districts  and  outside  agencies  regarding 

standards, ordinances, easements and leases as may be required. 
 Develops and manages requests for proposals for professional and/or contracted services; 

evaluates proposals and recommends award; prepares and negotiates contracts; administers 
contracts  and  oversees  consultants  and  contractors  to  ensure  compliance  with  District 
standards, contract specifications and service quality. 

 Prepares  a  variety  of  written  correspondence,  reports,  procedures  and  other  written 
materials; completes and submits reports to regulatory agencies. 

 Maintains and directs the maintenance of working and official departmental files. 

135



Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 Monitors  changes  in  laws,  regulations  and  technology  that  may  affect  operations; 

implements policy and procedural changes as required. 
 Attends Board of Director and committee meetings as required; prepares and presents staff 

reports and agenda items for consideration by the Board; serves as advisor to the General 
Manager and Board on District maintenance matters; assists the General Manager in carrying 
out directives of the Board of Directors. 

 Occasionally performs the duties of wastewater collection system and maintenance staff. 
 Observes  safe work methods  and makes  appropriate  use  of  related  safety  equipment  as 

required. 
 Performs related duties as assigned. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
  
 Administrative  principles  and  practices,  including  goal  setting,  program  development, 

implementation  and  evaluation,  and  supervision  of  staff,  either  directly  or  through 
subordinate levels of supervision. 

 Principles and practices of traffic control and safe work practices. 
 Principles and practices of the development, operations, maintenance and management of 

wastewater collection systems, pump stations, treatment plant and related facilities. 
 Principles and practices of the safety training and program management. 
 Principles and practices of project management, budgeting and contract administration. 
 General principles of risk management related to the functions of the assigned area. 
 Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment review 

and evaluation and the training of staff in work procedures. 
 Organization  and  management  practices  as  applied  to  the  development,  analysis  and 

evaluation of programs, policies and operational needs of the assigned functional area. 
 Applicable  federal,  state  and  local  laws,  regulatory  codes,  ordinances,  policies  and 

procedures relevant to assigned area of responsibility. 
 Practices of researching issues, evaluating alternatives, making sound recommendations and 

preparing and presenting effective staff reports. 
 Technical,  legal,  financial  and  public  relations  associated  with  the  management  of 

maintenance projects and programs. 
 Techniques  for  providing  a  high  level  of  customer  service  by  effectively  dealing with  the 

public, vendors, contractors and District staff. 
 The  structure  and  content of  the English  language,  including  the meaning  and  spelling of 

words, rules of composition and grammar. 
 Modern  equipment  and  communication  tools  used  for  business  functions  and  program, 

project and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to work 
performed. 

 
Ability to: 
 
 Develop and implement goals, objectives, policies, procedures and work standards.  

136



Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 
Page 4 of 5 

 
 Plan, organize, administer, coordinate, review and evaluate a comprehensive construction, 

maintenance and repair program. 
 Plan, organize, assign, review and evaluate the work of staff; train staff in work procedures. 
 Evaluate and develop improvements in processes and procedures. 
 Read and interpret plans, specifications and diagrams used in the design and construction of 

a wastewater collection systems, pump stations, treatment plant and related facilities. 
 Interpret,  apply,  explain  and  ensure  compliance  with  federal,  state  and  local  policies, 

procedures, laws and regulations. 
 Effectively  represent  the  District  in  meetings  with  governmental  agencies,  community 

groups, various businesses, professional and regulatory organizations and in meetings with 
individuals. 

 Research, analyze and evaluate new service delivery methods, procedures and techniques. 
 Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, procedures and other written materials. 
 Establish and maintain a variety of filing, record‐keeping and tracking systems. 
 Organize  and prioritize  a  variety of  projects  and multiple  tasks  in  an  effective  and  timely 

manner; organize own work, set priorities and meet critical time deadlines. 
 Effectively use computer systems, software applications and modern business equipment to 

perform a variety of work tasks. 
 Communicate  clearly  and  concisely,  both  orally  and  in  writing,  using  appropriate  English 

grammar and syntax. 
 Use tact,  initiative, prudence and  independent  judgment within general policy, procedural 

and legal guidelines. 
 Establish,  maintain  and  foster  positive  and  effective  working  relationships  with  those 

contacted in the course of work.  
 
Education and Experience 
Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills, 
and abilities is qualifying. A typical way to obtain the required qualifications would be: 
 
Equivalent  to  graduation  from  an  accredited  four‐year  college  or  university  with  major 
coursework in engineering, environmental science, business or public administration or a closely 
related  field  and  five  (5)  years  of  increasingly  responsible  experience  managing  and/or 
supervising sewer line construction or maintenance.  
 
Licenses and Certifications: 
 
 Possession  of  a  valid  California  Driver’s  License  by  time  of  appointment  and  satisfactory 

driving record consistent with requirements established by the District. 
 Possession  of  a  valid  Grade  I  Collection  System  Maintenance  certificate  issued  by  the 

California Water Environment Association (CWEA). 
 Ability to obtain a valid Grade III Collection System Maintenance certificate issued by CWEA 

within three (3) years of appointment to the classification. 

137



Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 
Page 5 of 5 

 
 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to inspect various wastewater treatment facilities and systems and pump 
and lift station sites; to operate a motor vehicle and to visit various District and meeting sites; 
vision to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate 
in person, before groups, and over the telephone. Finger dexterity is needed to access, enter and 
retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office equipment. 
Positions in this classification bend, stoop, kneel, reach and climb to perform work and inspect 
work sites. Employees must possess the ability to lift, carry, push and pull materials and objects 
weighing  50  pounds,  on  average,  or  heavier weights with  the  use  of  proper  equipment  and 
assistance from other staff. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS 
 
Employees work  in both a  field and office environment;  the office environment, comprises of 
moderate noise levels, controlled temperature conditions and no direct exposure to hazardous 
physical substances. When working in the field, employees are occasionally exposed to pollen, 
dust, loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather conditions, road hazards, 
vehicle  traffic,  vibration,  confining  workspaces,  mechanical  and/or  electrical  hazards  and 
hazardous chemical substances and fumes such as raw sewage.  

 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Per  California  Government  Code,  Title  1,  Division  4,  Chapter  8,  Section  3100,  "all  public 
employees are hereby declared to be disaster service workers subject to such disaster service 
activities as may be assigned to them by their superiors or by law." 

 

 

138



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT B

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2023

(Management and Unpresented Employee Group)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 15,093   15,848    16,640    17,472    18,346   19,263    

Full Time Positions

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\MOU Confidential\MOU 2023\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - Management and Unrepresented Group139



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 1 of 2 

 
In addition to the benefits specifically discussed in the employment contracts, the following benefits 
offered to the members of the OE3 bargaining unit will apply: 
 

Benefits Section 
(in MOU) 

Summary 

Holidays 15.1 12 holidays per year plus 1 floating holiday 
Max Vacation Accrual 15.2 272 hours 
Vacation Time Awarded 15.2 For Management Employees Only, accrual is based 

on years of CalPERS service credit 
  Years 1-3  14 days 
  Years 4 to 10 19 days 
  Years 11 to 15 22 days 
  Years 16+ 24 days 
  A one-time 5-day vacation bonus is given after 20 

years of service. 
Vacation Cash-Out Per contract Cash-out hours twice-yearly, with a minimum balance 

remaining of 40 hours 
Administrative Leave Per Contract Exempt Management Employees Only 

Lump sum of 80 hours reset each year on July 1st 
Admin Leave – Safety 
Award 

 4 hours added to leave bi-annually if No Accidents in 
the Plant 

Sick Leave 15.4 Accrue (1) 8-hr day a month – No Cap 
  After 3 Years – If you Resign - 50% Cash Out 
  After 3 Years – If you Retire – 50% Cash Out 50% 

CalPERS Service Credit 
Bereavement Leave 15.4 3 days paid leave specified family members 
Cell Phone  Per Contract Reimburse for Cell purchase with Cap 
  Reimburse one personal cell line monthly costs  
Auto Allowance Per Contract Allowance Reimbursement or use of District Vehicle 
Technology Per Contract Reimbursed for iPad or Laptop – Limit of $1,347 per 

Administrative Policy A-03. 
Longevity Pay Per Contract Employees Hired prior to 7/1/2016 Only 

After 6 years – 5% 
After 10 years – 3% 
After 15 years – 2% 

Medical Cafeteria Plan 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
 
EE Contribution 

17.1/17.2 PERS Health Plan 
 
Kaiser family rate 
 
Excess monthly cost for plan over Kaiser plan  

Dental 17.3 Annual cap of $3,000 per covered individual after 
applicable co-pay. Annual cap of $4,000 effective 
January 1, 2024. 

140



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 2 of 2 

Vision 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
EE Contribution 

17.5 VSP 
 
50% of the cost 
50% of the cost 

Waive District Health 
Insurance 

Per Contract On proof of coverage, a $250 reimbursement per 
month. 

Life/AD&D Insurance 17.7 1 x Salary up to $100,000 
Long-term Disability 17.11 66.67% of monthly salary up to $15,000 of salary 
Wellness Program 17.12 $500 per calendar year reimbursement 
CalPERS Retirement 18.1 Classic Employees – 2.7% at 55, highest year, EE 

pays 8% pretax 
PEPRA Employees – 2% at 62, final 3 years of 
compensation; EE pays 8% pre-tax  

Deferred Comp 457 18.1 District match up to $1,200 per calendar year  
Retiree Medical 18.2.2 Hired pre-1/1/03: State one party rate employee only; 

5 year vesting 
 
Hired post 1/1/03 and pre-7/1/2014: State 100/90 
plan EE, EE + sp, EE + dependents; 10 years PERS 
service 50% vested, 20 years PERS service 100% 
vested, 5 years with LGVSD 

18.2.3 Hired after 7/1/2014: 
10 years of District service, 50% vested, 100% vested 
at 20 years of District service.  Employee only 
coverage based on the One Party State Rate. 

Boot Stipend 19 Annual $325, to eligible employees to be paid on first 
full pay period check in January 
 

Prescription Safety 
Glasses 

19 Every two years $305, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible 
employees 
 
 

 
Note: Employees of the Unrepresented Bargaining Group do not have rights under the MOU as they 

pertain to discipline, discharge or employment status.  Reference to the MOU sections in this 
document in terms of defining benefits offered to this group is for convenience only. 

 
 
 
 

141



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 1 
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Michael Cortez (District Engineer) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2023, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Michael Cortez, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as 

follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Michael Cortez as District 

Engineer of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as District Engineer of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

  

142

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text
Attachment D

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Michael Cortez as District Engineer to 

perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to 

perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the District Engineer.  

Employee is presently employed as a District Engineer. 

B. The District Engineer shall perform civil engineering, project management, 

construction management and inspections, reviews of private improvement projects to ensure 

conformance with District standards and other engineering or technical services and the general 

business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States 

of America and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the General 

Manager and as outlined in the District Engineer job description. The District Engineer shall do 

and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the 

business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

 

 

143



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 3 
 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as District Engineer at the pleasure of the General Manager, and as an at-will 

employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall commence on September 7, 2023 and end later 

on June 30, 2026, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2026, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to compensate Employee based on the appropriate salary step 

identified in the District Engineer Salary Pay Schedule attached as Exhibit “B” plus any 

appropriate longevity amounts. 

B. Longevity Amounts 

144



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 4 
 

i. Employee is entitled to receive a longevity step calculated at the beginning of 

their 7th year of employment with the District. The longevity pay shall be 5.0% of 

base salary. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to three percent of base salary (3%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District. Employees in the 

“management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive an additional longevity step 

equal to two percent of base salary (2%) at the completion of 15 years of 

continuous employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee’s 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in District Engineer Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2023, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $20,238 per month (Step 6) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2023.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2024, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 3.0%. 

145



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 5 
 

G. Effective July 1, 2025, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 3.0%. 

H. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his first anniversary date as District Engineer. Said review and 

evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and 

Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for 

the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further 

establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the 

District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance 

of the duties of District Engineer.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

146



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 6 
 

B. Employee shall be compensated $430.72 monthly for a vehicle allowance. The 

amount will increase each year based on Board approved General Wage COLA 

increases. 

C. On July 1 of every year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours 

per year of Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, 

regardless of the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employee can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $295.16.  The 

allowance will be based on Board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is 

the sole responsibility of the Employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee 

shall be on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to 

respond to District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the 

Employee terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a 

reimbursement for a phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so 

reimbursed. 

F.  If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

147



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 7 
 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Vacation accrual shall be calculated based on years of CalPERS public sector 

service credit beginning the first pay period after this agreement is executed. For the purposes of 

calculating vacation accrual, public sector service means service with a CalPERS agency or an 

agency with CalPERS reciprocity. 

I. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

twice a year. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s current 

rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  In no 

event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request. This cash-out will be subject to 

applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 
Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

148



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 8 
 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee and maintenance of required 

licenses as determined solely by the General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 
Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

149



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 9 
 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

 

150



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 10 
 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Michael Cortez 
901 Innisfree Court 
Vallejo, CA 94591 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

151



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 11 
 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2026.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2026. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or disclosing 

information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any 

other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful. 

 

 

 

 

152



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 12 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by the General Manager, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and 

year first above written. 

 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
Curtis Paxton 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
Dated: _________________    _________________________ 

Michael Cortez 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________      Seal 
Teresa Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

153



EXHIBIT A 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
November 2018 
FLSA: EXEMPT 

 
DISTRICT ENGINEER 

 
DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction of  the General Manager, plans, organizes,  coordinates,  and manages 
engineering  functions  including  design,  project  management,  construction  management  and 
inspections, and review of private improvement projects, to ensure conformance with District 
standards  and  federal,  state,  and  local  regulatory  requirements;  provides  engineering  and 
technical support to the General Manager in areas of capital improvement program and budget 
and  engineering  and  constructions  programs;  administers  contracts,  manages  projects,  and 
conducts  studies  regarding  capital  projects  and  treatment  plant  processes  and  optimization; 
maintains  records  of  facility  components  and  property  rights;  fosters  cooperative  working 
relationships with  intergovernmental  and  regulatory  agencies  and  various  public  and  private 
groups; and performs related work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the General Manager.  Exercises direct supervision over assigned 
staff.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 

This  is  a  management  classification  responsible  for  planning,  organizing,  and  managing 
engineering staff, projects, and activities.  The incumbent is responsible for performing diverse, 
specialized,  and  complex  work  involving  significant  accountability  and  decision‐making 
responsibilities, which include developing and implementing policies and procedures for assigned 
programs, reporting, compliance, and program evaluation.  Incumbents serve as a professional 
resource for organizational, managerial, and engineering analyses and studies.  The incumbent is 
accountable for accomplishing engineering goals and objectives, and for furthering District goals 
and objectives within general policy guidelines. 

 
EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FUNCTIONS (Illustrative Only) 
 
 Assumes managerial  responsibility  for  all  engineering  functions;  ensures  compliance with 

engineering  principles  and  practices,  District  standards,  and  federal,  state,  and  local 
regulatory requirements.  

 Participates  in  the  development  and  implementation  of  goals,  objectives,  policies,  and 
priorities for the District; recommends, within District policy, appropriate service and staffing 
levels;  recommends  and  administers  policies  and  procedures  while  ensuring  financial, 
regulatory, and legal requirements are met. 

154



District Engineer 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 Selects,  trains,  motivates,  and  directs  assigned  staff;  evaluates  and  reviews  work  for 

acceptability and conformance with District standards; provides or coordinates staff training; 
works  with  employees  to  correct  deficiencies;  recommends  discipline  and  termination 
procedures; responds to staff questions and concerns.  

 Contributes  to  the  overall  quality  of  District  services  by  continuously  monitoring  and 
evaluating  the  efficiency  and  effectiveness  of  service  delivery  methods  and  procedures; 
assesses  and  monitors  distribution  of  work,  support  systems,  and  internal  reporting 
relationships; identifies and recommends opportunities for improvements. 

 Manages and administers the department’s budget; directs the forecast of additional funds 
needed for planned work, staffing, equipment, and supplies; directs the monitoring of and 
approves expenditures; calculates capacity fees; purchases supplies and equipment. 

 Coordinates the administration of the District’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP), Renewal 
and Replacement  (R&R) projects, and select Operations and Maintenance  (O&M) projects 
with the General Manager and senior management. 

 Manages  projects  through  all  phases  including  planning,  design,  construction  and 
implementation,  and  close‐out;  serves  as  project  manager,  resident  engineer,  and/or 
engineer‐of‐record; leads intra‐agency project teams; develops work plans, scope of work, 
budget, schedules, and baseline requirements. 

 Prepares  engineering  designs,  drawings,  specifications,  contracts,  plans,  and  other 
supporting  documentation  for  proposed  engineering  projects;  reviews  and  comments  on 
drawings,  plans,  environmental  impact  reports,  and  other  work  submitted  by  external 
consultants,  engineers,  contractors,  and  developers  for  conformance  with  professional 
codes, standards, District specifications, and regulatory requirements; prepares technical and 
administrative correspondence and reports. 

 Coordinates  and  ensures  compliance  with  California  Environmental  Quality  Act  (CEQA) 
requirements, encroachment permits, and other environmental permitting requirements. 

 Manages bid and contract administration processes; develops bid documents and scopes of 
work  for  professional  and/or  contracted  services;  evaluates  proposals  and  recommends 
award; prepares and negotiates contracts, amendments, and change orders.  

 Supervises  or  acts  as  construction  manager  including  conducting  and  documenting  
inspections, making design changes  in the field, reviewing and recommending approval of 
progress payments, and preparing or approving as‐built record drawings. 

 Analyzes  treatment  plant,  collection  system,  pump  stations,  and  processes;  evaluates 
alternatives, prepares recommendations, and written reports. 

 Coordinates  engineering  activities  and  projects with  other  District  departments  and  legal 
counsel and those of outside agencies,  including joint studies, easement negotiations, and 
lease agreements. 

 Represents  the  District  and makes  presentations  to  governmental,  regulatory,  or  private 
organizations, professional groups, and the public. 

 Prepares  a  variety  of  written  correspondence,  reports,  procedures,  and  other  written 
materials; completes and submits reports to regulatory agencies. 

 Maintains and directs the maintenance of working and official departmental files including 
as‐built records and property holdings. 

 Monitors changes in laws, regulations, and technology that may affect programs and projects; 
implements policy and procedural changes as required. 

155



District Engineer 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 Attends Board of Director and committee meetings as required; prepares and presents staff 

reports and agenda items for consideration by the Board; serves as advisor to the General 
Manager and Board on engineering and regulatory compliance matters; assists the General 
Manager in carrying out directives of the Board of Directors. 

 Performs related duties as assigned. 
  
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
  
 Administrative  principles  and  practices,  including  goal  setting,  program  development, 

implementation,  and  evaluation,  and  supervision  of  staff,  either  directly  or  through 
subordinate levels of supervision. 

 Engineering  theories,  principles,  and  practices  and  their  application  to  the  design, 
construction,  operation,  and  maintenance  of  a  wide  variety  of  wastewater  treatment 
facilities and collection systems. 

 Principles and techniques of capital improvement and Renewal & Replacement maintenance 
project design, construction, inspection, funding, and long‐term maintenance. 

 Principles and practices of project management, budgeting, and contract administration. 
 General principles of risk management related to the functions of the assigned area. 
 Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment review 

and evaluation, and the training of staff in work procedures. 
 Organization  and  management  practices  as  applied  to  the  development,  analysis,  and 

evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs of the assigned functional area. 
 Applicable  federal,  state,  and  local  laws,  regulatory  codes,  ordinances,  and  procedures 

relevant to assigned area of responsibility. 
 Practices of researching issues, evaluating alternatives, making sound recommendations, and 

preparing and presenting effective staff reports. 
 Technical,  legal,  financial,  and  public  relations  associated  with  the  management  of 

engineering projects and programs. 
 Modern office practices, methods, and computer equipment and applications. 
 English usage, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and punctuation. 
 Techniques  for effectively  representing the District  in contacts with government agencies, 

community  groups,  and  various  business,  professional,  regulatory,  and  legislative 
organizations. 

 Techniques  for  providing  a  high  level  of  customer  service  by  effectively  dealing with  the 
public, vendors, contractors, and District staff. 

 
Ability to: 
 
 Develop and implement goals, objectives, policies, procedures, and work standards.   
 Plan, organize, administer, coordinate,  review, and evaluate a comprehensive engineering 

program. 
 Plan, organize, assign, review, and evaluate the work of staff; train staff in work procedures. 
 Evaluate and develop improvements in processes and procedures. 

156



District Engineer 
Page 4 of 5 

 
 Apply  engineering  principles,  practices,  concepts,  and  standards  to  a  variety  of  design, 

construction, operations, and maintenance activities. 
 Independently conduct comprehensive and complex engineering studies, investigations, and 

analyses and perform engineering calculations. 
 Prepare, understand, and  interpret construction plans,  specifications, drawings, and other 

engineering documents. 
 Interpret,  apply,  explain,  and  ensure  compliance  with  federal,  state,  and  local  policies, 

procedures, laws, and regulations. 
 Effectively  represent  the  District  in  meetings  with  governmental  agencies,  community 

groups, various businesses, professional, and regulatory organizations, and in meetings with 
individuals. 

 Research, analyze, and evaluate new service delivery methods, procedures, and techniques. 
 Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, procedures, and other written materials. 
 Establish and maintain a variety of filing, record keeping, and tracking systems. 
 Organize  and prioritize  a  variety of  projects  and multiple  tasks  in  an  effective  and  timely 

manner; organize own work, set priorities, and meet critical time deadlines. 
 Effectively use computer systems, software, and modern business equipment to perform a 

variety of work tasks. 
 Use English effectively to communicate in person, over the telephone, and in writing. 
 Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy, procedural, 

and legal guidelines. 
 Establish,  maintain,  and  foster  positive  and  effective  working  relationships  with  those 

contacted in the course of work. 
 
Education and Experience 
Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills, 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required qualifications would be: 
 
Graduation from a four‐year ABET‐accredited college or university with major coursework in civil, 
mechanical, environmental, or sanitary engineering and five (5) years of increasingly responsible 
experience  managing  and/or  supervising  engineering  programs,  including  three  (3)  years  of 
design and project leadership experience.   
 
Licenses and Certifications: 
 
 Possession  of  a  valid  California  Driver’s  License  by  time  of  appointment  and  satisfactory 

driving record consistent with requirements established by the District. 
 Possess and maintain a valid license as a Professional Engineer issued by the California Board 

for Professional Engineers, Land Surveyors, and Geologists. 
 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to inspect various project or construction sites; to operate a motor vehicle 

157



District Engineer 
Page 5 of 5 

 
and to visit various District and meeting sites; vision to read printed materials and a computer 
screen;  and  hearing  and  speech  to  communicate  in  person,  before  groups,  and  over  the 
telephone.    Finger  dexterity  is  needed  to  access,  enter,  and  retrieve  data  using  a  computer 
keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office equipment.  Positions in this classification 
bend, stoop, kneel, reach, and climb to perform work and inspect work sites.  Employees must 
possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects weighing up to 30 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS 
 

Employees work  in both a  field and office environment;  the office environment, comprises of 
moderate noise levels, controlled temperature conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous 
physical substances.  When working in the field, employees are occasionally exposed to pollen, 
dust, loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather conditions, road hazards, 
vibration, confining workspaces, mechanical and/or electrical hazards, and hazardous chemical 
substances and fumes.   

 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Per  California  Government  Code,  Title  1,  Division  4,  Chapter  8,  Section  3100,  "all  public 
employees are hereby declared to be disaster service workers subject to such disaster service 
activities as may be assigned to them by their superiors or by law." 

158



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT B

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2023

(Management and Unpresented Employee Group)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

District Engineer 15,857   16,650    17,482    18,357    19,274   20,238    

Full Time Positions

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\MOU Confidential\MOU 2023\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - Management and Unrepresented Group159



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 1 of 2 

 
In addition to the benefits specifically discussed in the employment contracts, the following benefits 
offered to the members of the OE3 bargaining unit will apply: 
 

Benefits Section 
(in MOU) 

Summary 

Holidays 15.1 12 holidays per year plus 1 floating holiday 
Max Vacation Accrual 15.2 272 hours 
Vacation Time Awarded 15.2 For Management Employees Only, accrual is based 

on years of CalPERS service credit 
  Years 1-3  14 days 
  Years 4 to 10 19 days 
  Years 11 to 15 22 days 
  Years 16+ 24 days 
  A one-time 5-day vacation bonus is given after 20 

years of service. 
Vacation Cash-Out Per contract Cash-out hours twice-yearly, with a minimum balance 

remaining of 40 hours 
Administrative Leave Per Contract Exempt Management Employees Only 

Lump sum of 80 hours reset each year on July 1st 
Admin Leave – Safety 
Award 

 4 hours added to leave bi-annually if No Accidents in 
the Plant 

Sick Leave 15.4 Accrue (1) 8-hr day a month – No Cap 
  After 3 Years – If you Resign - 50% Cash Out 
  After 3 Years – If you Retire – 50% Cash Out 50% 

CalPERS Service Credit 
Bereavement Leave 15.4 3 days paid leave specified family members 
Cell Phone  Per Contract Reimburse for Cell purchase with Cap 
  Reimburse one personal cell line monthly costs  
Auto Allowance Per Contract Allowance Reimbursement or use of District Vehicle 
Technology Per Contract Reimbursed for iPad or Laptop – Limit of $1,347 per 

Administrative Policy A-03. 
Longevity Pay Per Contract Employees Hired prior to 7/1/2016 Only 

After 6 years – 5% 
After 10 years – 3% 
After 15 years – 2% 

Medical Cafeteria Plan 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
 
EE Contribution 

17.1/17.2 PERS Health Plan 
 
Kaiser family rate 
 
Excess monthly cost for plan over Kaiser plan  

Dental 17.3 Annual cap of $3,000 per covered individual after 
applicable co-pay. Annual cap of $4,000 effective 
January 1, 2024. 

160



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 2 of 2 

Vision 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
EE Contribution 

17.5 VSP 
 
50% of the cost 
50% of the cost 

Waive District Health 
Insurance 

Per Contract On proof of coverage, a $250 reimbursement per 
month. 

Life/AD&D Insurance 17.7 1 x Salary up to $100,000 
Long-term Disability 17.11 66.67% of monthly salary up to $15,000 of salary 
Wellness Program 17.12 $500 per calendar year reimbursement 
CalPERS Retirement 18.1 Classic Employees – 2.7% at 55, highest year, EE 

pays 8% pretax 
PEPRA Employees – 2% at 62, final 3 years of 
compensation; EE pays 8% pre-tax  

Deferred Comp 457 18.1 District match up to $1,200 per calendar year  
Retiree Medical 18.2.2 Hired pre-1/1/03: State one party rate employee only; 

5 year vesting 
 
Hired post 1/1/03 and pre-7/1/2014: State 100/90 
plan EE, EE + sp, EE + dependents; 10 years PERS 
service 50% vested, 20 years PERS service 100% 
vested, 5 years with LGVSD 

18.2.3 Hired after 7/1/2014: 
10 years of District service, 50% vested, 100% vested 
at 20 years of District service.  Employee only 
coverage based on the One Party State Rate. 

Boot Stipend 19 Annual $325, to eligible employees to be paid on first 
full pay period check in January 
 

Prescription Safety 
Glasses 

19 Every two years $305, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible 
employees 
 
 

 
Note: Employees of the Unrepresented Bargaining Group do not have rights under the MOU as they 

pertain to discipline, discharge or employment status.  Reference to the MOU sections in this 
document in terms of defining benefits offered to this group is for convenience only. 

 
 
 
 

161



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 1 
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2023, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Robert Liebmann, (“Employee”) both of whom understand 

as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Robert Liebmann as Plant 

Manager  of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as Plant Manager of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

 

162

dmcdonald
Typewritten Text
Attachment E



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Robert Liebmann as Plant Manager to perform 

the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform 

other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the Plant Manager.  

B. The Plant Manager shall be in charge of and responsible for the operation and 

management of the Treatment Plant, Laboratory, Reclamation Area, and the general business and 

governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States of America 

and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the General Manager and as 

outlined in the Plant Manager job description. The Plant Manager shall do and perform all 

services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the business and 

governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager.    

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

E. Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to 

Employer's facilities, Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence to a distance within 

a 45-minute automobile drive of the Employer's office during non-commute hours.  Employee is 

163



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 3 
 

entitled to an Emergency Response Stipend of $300 per month as a benefit for being a Stand-by 

Emergency Response employee. 

 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Plant Manager at the pleasure of the General Manager, and as an at-will 

employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall commence on September 7, 2023 and end later 

on June 30, 2026, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2026, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to compensate Employee the salary identified in Plant Manager 

Salary Schedule attached as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.  

164



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 4 
 

B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee is entitled to receive a longevity step calculated at the beginning of 

their 7th year of employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0% of 

base salary. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to three percent of base salary (3%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District. Employees in the 

“management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive an additional longevity step 

equal to two percent of base salary (2%) at the completion of 15 years of 

continuous employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee’s 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Plant Manager Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the first period that encompasses July 1, 2023, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $19,744 per month (Step 6) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2023.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2024, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 3.0%.  

165



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 5 
 

G. Effective July 1, 2025, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 3.0%. 

H. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his first anniversary date as Plant Manager. Said review and 

evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and 

Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for 

the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further 

establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the 

District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance 

of the duties of Plant Manager.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee  shall  be  compensated  $430.72  monthly  for  a vehicle  allowance.  

The amount will increase each year based on Board approved COLA increases.. 

166



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 6 
 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $295.16.  The 

allowance will be based on board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is the 

sole responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

167



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 7 
 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Vacation accrual shall be calculated based on years of CalPERS public sector 

service credit beginning the first pay period after this agreement is executed. For the purposes of 

calculating vacation accrual, public sector service means service with a CalPERS agency or an 

agency with CalPERS reciprocity. 

I. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

twice a year. All vacation hours cashed out shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s current 

rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  In no 

event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  This cash-out will be subject to 

applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

168



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 8 
 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

169



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 9 
 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

170



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 10 
 

Robert Liebmann 
75 Rockrose Way 
Novato, CA 94945 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 

Section 9: General Provisions 
 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

171



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 11 
 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2026.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2026. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or disclosing 

information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any 

other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

172



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 12 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by the General Manager, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and 

year first above written. 

 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
Curtis Paxton 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
 
Dated: _________________    _________________________ 

Robert Liebmann 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Teresa Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

173



EXHIBIT A 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
February 2021 
FLSA: EXEMPT 

 
PLANT MANAGER 

 
DEFINITION 
 
Under  general  direction  of  the General Manager,  plans,  organizes,  coordinates  and manages 
operations and maintenance of the wastewater treatment and recycled water and reclamation 
facilities; serves as Chief Plant Operator; serves as a liaison and coordinates assigned activities 
with  other  District  personnel  and  external  agencies  to  ensure  compliance  with  reporting 
requirements; works  collaboratively with  the Environmental  Services Manager  and Collection 
System/Maintenance/Safety  Manager;  provides  responsible  and  complex  administrative  and 
operational assistance to the General Manager; and performs related work as required. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 
 
Receives general direction from the General Manager.  Exercises direct supervision over assigned 
staff.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 

This  is  a management  classification  responsible  for  planning,  organizing  and managing  plant 
operations  and maintenance  staff,  projects  and  programs.  The  incumbent  is  responsible  for 
performing  diverse,  specialized  and  complex  work  involving  significant  accountability  and 
decision‐making  responsibilities,  which  include  developing  and  implementing  policies  and 
procedures, reporting, compliance and program evaluation.  Incumbents serve as a professional 
resource for organizational, managerial and operational analyses and studies.  The incumbent is 
accountable for accomplishing operations goals and objectives and for furthering District goals 
and objectives within general policy guidelines. 

 
EXAMPLES OF TYPICAL FUNCTIONS (Illustrative Only) 
The following functions are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all of the 
listed functions and/or may be required to perform additional or different functions from those 
set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 
 
 Assumes managerial  responsibility  for all operations and maintenance  for  the wastewater 

treatment and recycled water and reclamation facilities; serves as the District’s Chief Plant 
Operator.  

 Participates  in  the  development  and  implementation  of  goals,  objectives,  policies  and 
priorities for the District; recommends, within District policy, appropriate service and staffing 
levels;  recommends  and  administers  policies  and  procedures  while  ensuring  financial, 
regulatory and legal requirements are met. 

174



Plant Manager 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 Selects,  trains,  motivates  and  directs  assigned  staff;  evaluates  and  reviews  work  for 

acceptability and conformance with District standards; provides or coordinates staff training; 
works  with  employees  to  correct  deficiencies;  recommends  discipline;  responds  to  staff 
questions and concerns.  

 Contributes  to  the  overall  quality  of  District  services  by  continuously  monitoring  and 
evaluating  the  efficiency  and  effectiveness  of  service  delivery  methods  and  procedures; 
assesses  and  monitors  distribution  of  work,  support  systems  and  internal  reporting 
relationships; identifies and recommends opportunities for improvements. 

 Manages and administers the department’s budget; directs the forecast of additional funds 
needed  for  staffing,  equipment  and  supplies;  directs  the  monitoring  of  and  approves 
expenditures; purchases supplies and equipment; maintains adequate inventory of supplies, 
tools  and  equipment  to  efficiently  operate  and  maintain  the  District’s  facilities  and 
equipment. 

 Develops and manages requests for proposals for professional and/or contracted services; 
evaluates proposals and recommends award; prepares and negotiates contracts; administers 
contracts  and  oversees  consultants  and  contractors  to  ensure  compliance  with  District 
standards, contract specifications and service quality. 

 Participates  in  the  development  and  administration of  the District’s  Capital  Improvement 
Program (CIP), including planning, prioritizing and scheduling long‐term capital improvement 
and  Renewal  &  Replacement  maintenance  projects  in  coordination  with  the  General 
Manager and other management staff. 

 Participates in the design, engineering, construction and field inspection processes for District 
CIP and maintenance projects; attends pre‐construction and construction status meetings; 
develops and reviews plans and specifications and recommends changes as appropriate to 
meet operational needs. 

 Coordinates activities with other District departments and legal counsel and those of outside 
agencies regarding standards, easements and leases as may be required. 

 Meets and confers with contractors, engineers, developers, architects, outside agencies and 
the general public  in acquiring  information and coordinating operations and maintenance 
projects, programs and services; provides information regarding District requirements.  

 Manages  the  development  and  implementation  of  various  operations  and  maintenance 
programs,  including  alternative  energy/sustainability,  treatment  plant  related  emergency 
preparedness and response and asset management programs. 

 Works closely with the Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager on developing and 
implementing  a  comprehensive  preventative  maintenance  program  and  coordinating 
corrective maintenance and repair activities and projects.  

 Works closely with the Environmental Services Manager to ensure compliance with federal, 
state, and local regulatory requirements including National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permit; ensures compliance with operating parameters; provides operations 
data to the Environmental Services Manager for regulatory reporting purposes.    

 Represents  the  District  and  makes  presentations  to  governmental,  regulatory  or  private 
organizations,  professional  groups  and  the  public;  assists  in  coordinating  public  tours  of 
District facilities. 

 Prepares  a  variety  of  written  correspondence,  reports,  procedures  and  other  written 
materials. 

175



Plant Manager 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 Maintains and directs the maintenance of working and official departmental files. 
 Monitors changes in laws, regulations and technology that may affect programs and projects; 

implements policy and procedural changes as required. 
 Attends Board of Director and committee meetings as required; prepares and presents staff 

reports and agenda items for consideration by the Board; serves as advisor to the General 
Manager and Board on District operations matters; assists the General Manager in carrying 
out directives of the Board of Directors. 

 Observes  safe work methods  and makes  appropriate  use  of  related  safety  equipment  as 
required. 

 Performs related duties as assigned. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
 
Knowledge of: 
  
 Administrative  principles  and  practices,  including  goal  setting,  program  development, 

implementation  and  evaluation,  and  supervision  of  staff,  either  directly  or  through 
subordinate levels of supervision. 

 Principles  and  practices  of  wastewater  treatment  and  recycled  water  and  reclamation 
facilities program management. 

 Basic principles of laboratory and environmental services programs. 
 Principles and techniques of capital improvement and Renewal & Replacement maintenance 

project design, construction, inspection, funding and long‐term maintenance. 
 Principles and practices of project management, budgeting and contract administration. 
 General principles of risk management related to the functions of the assigned area. 
 Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment review 

and evaluation and the training of staff in work procedures. 
 Organization  and  management  practices  as  applied  to  the  development,  analysis  and 

evaluation of programs, policies and operational needs of the assigned functional area. 
 Applicable  federal,  state  and  local  laws,  regulatory  codes,  ordinances,  policies  and 

procedures relevant to assigned area of responsibility. 
 Practices of researching issues, evaluating alternatives, making sound recommendations and 

preparing and presenting effective staff reports. 
 Technical,  legal,  financial  and  public  relations  associated  with  the  management  of 

wastewater operations and maintenance projects and programs. 
 Techniques  for  providing  a  high  level  of  customer  service  by  effectively  dealing with  the 

public, vendors, contractors and District staff. 
 The  structure  and  content of  the English  language,  including  the meaning  and  spelling of 

words, rules of composition and grammar. 
 Modern  equipment  and  communication  tools  used  for  business  functions  and  program, 

project and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to work 
performed. 

 
 
 

176



Plant Manager 
Page 4 of 5 

 
Ability to: 
 
 Develop and implement goals, objectives, policies, procedures and work standards.   
 Plan, organize, administer, coordinate, review and evaluate a comprehensive wastewater and 

recycled water and reclamation operations programs. 
 Plan, organize, assign, review and evaluate the work of staff; train staff in work procedures. 
 Evaluate and develop improvements in processes and procedures. 
 Analyze  laboratory  results  and operations  data  to  determine  root  cause of  problems  and 

recommend process optimization changes.   
 Prepare,  understand  and  interpret  construction  plans,  designs,  specifications  and  related 

documents. 
 Interpret,  apply,  explain  and  ensure  compliance  with  federal,  state  and  local  policies, 

procedures, laws and regulations. 
 Effectively  represent  the  District  in  meetings  with  governmental  agencies,  community 

groups, various businesses, professional and regulatory organizations and in meetings with 
individuals. 

 Research, analyze and evaluate new service delivery methods, procedures and techniques. 
 Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, procedures and other written materials. 
 Establish and maintain a variety of filing, record keeping and tracking systems. 
 Organize  and prioritize  a  variety of  projects  and multiple  tasks  in  an  effective  and  timely 

manner; organize own work, set priorities and meet critical time deadlines. 
 Effectively use computer systems, software applications and modern business equipment to 

perform a variety of work tasks. 
 Communicate  clearly  and  concisely,  both  orally  and  in  writing,  using  appropriate  English 

grammar and syntax. 
 Use tact,  initiative, prudence and  independent  judgment within general policy, procedural 

and legal guidelines. 
 Establish,  maintain  and  foster  positive  and  effective  working  relationships  with  those 

contacted in the course of work.  
 
Education and Experience 
Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills, 
and abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required qualifications would be: 
 
Equivalent  to  graduation  from  an  accredited  four‐year  college  or  university  with  major 
coursework in environmental engineering, environmental science, biology, chemistry, business 
or public administration or a closely related field and five (5) years of  increasingly responsible 
experience  managing  and/or  supervising  wastewater  treatment  plant  operations  and 
maintenance. 
 
Licenses and Certifications: 
 
 Possession  of  a  valid  California  Driver’s  License  by  time  of  appointment  and  satisfactory 

driving record consistent with requirements established by the District. 

177



Plant Manager 
Page 5 of 5 

 
 Possess and maintain a valid Grade IV or Grade V Wastewater Treatment Operator certificate 

issued by the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including  a  computer,  and  to work  in  a wastewater  treatment  plant  setting  and  in  the  field; 
strength, stamina and mobility to perform light physical work, to work in confined spaces, around 
machines, to climb and descend ladders and to operate a motor vehicle to visit various District 
and meeting  sites;  vision  to  read  printed materials  and  a  computer  screen;  and  hearing  and 
speech to communicate in person and over the telephone or radio. The job involves walking in 
operational areas to identify problems or hazards and to conduct field inspections of projects and 
work  sites.  Finger  dexterity  is  needed  to  access,  enter  and  retrieve  data  using  a  computer 
keyboard or calculator and to operate tools and equipment. Positions in this classification bend, 
stoop, kneel, reach and climb to perform work in and inspect work sites. Employees must possess 
the ability to lift, carry, push and pull materials and objects weighing up to 30 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS 
 
Employees  work  primarily  in  an  office  environment  with  moderate  noise  levels,  controlled 
temperature  conditions and no direct exposure  to potentially hazardous physical  substances.  
Employees also work in a wastewater treatment plant and in the field and are exposed to pollen, 
dust, loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather conditions, road hazards, 
vibration, confining workspaces, chemicals, mechanical, and/or electrical hazards and hazardous 
physical substances and fumes.   

 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Per  California  Government  Code,  Title  1,  Division  4,  Chapter  8,  Section  3100,  "all  public 
employees are hereby declared to be disaster service workers subject to such disaster service 
activities as may be assigned to them by their superiors or by law." 

 

178



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT B

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2023

(Management and Unpresented Employee Group)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Plant Manager 15,470   16,244    17,056    17,909    18,804   19,744    

Full Time Positions

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\MOU Confidential\MOU 2023\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - Management and Unrepresented Group179



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 1 of 2 

 
In addition to the benefits specifically discussed in the employment contracts, the following benefits 
offered to the members of the OE3 bargaining unit will apply: 
 

Benefits Section 
(in MOU) 

Summary 

Holidays 15.1 12 holidays per year plus 1 floating holiday 
Max Vacation Accrual 15.2 272 hours 
Vacation Time Awarded 15.2 For Management Employees Only, accrual is based 

on years of CalPERS service credit 
  Years 1-3  14 days 
  Years 4 to 10 19 days 
  Years 11 to 15 22 days 
  Years 16+ 24 days 
  A one-time 5-day vacation bonus is given after 20 

years of service. 
Vacation Cash-Out Per contract Cash-out hours twice-yearly, with a minimum balance 

remaining of 40 hours 
Administrative Leave Per Contract Exempt Management Employees Only 

Lump sum of 80 hours reset each year on July 1st 
Admin Leave – Safety 
Award 

 4 hours added to leave bi-annually if No Accidents in 
the Plant 

Sick Leave 15.4 Accrue (1) 8-hr day a month – No Cap 
  After 3 Years – If you Resign - 50% Cash Out 
  After 3 Years – If you Retire – 50% Cash Out 50% 

CalPERS Service Credit 
Bereavement Leave 15.4 3 days paid leave specified family members 
Cell Phone  Per Contract Reimburse for Cell purchase with Cap 
  Reimburse one personal cell line monthly costs  
Auto Allowance Per Contract Allowance Reimbursement or use of District Vehicle 
Technology Per Contract Reimbursed for iPad or Laptop – Limit of $1,347 per 

Administrative Policy A-03. 
Longevity Pay Per Contract Employees Hired prior to 7/1/2016 Only 

After 6 years – 5% 
After 10 years – 3% 
After 15 years – 2% 

Medical Cafeteria Plan 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
 
EE Contribution 

17.1/17.2 PERS Health Plan 
 
Kaiser family rate 
 
Excess monthly cost for plan over Kaiser plan  

Dental 17.3 Annual cap of $3,000 per covered individual after 
applicable co-pay. Annual cap of $4,000 effective 
January 1, 2024. 

180



 Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT C 
Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining Group 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026 

Note: This summary is for administrative convenience only. If there is a discrepancy  
between the information in the table and contract, the contract will apply. 

 
Q:\PERSONNEL\Benefit Summary\Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23.docx 
Last updated: 8/25/2023   Page 2 of 2 

Vision 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
EE Contribution 

17.5 VSP 
 
50% of the cost 
50% of the cost 

Waive District Health 
Insurance 

Per Contract On proof of coverage, a $250 reimbursement per 
month. 

Life/AD&D Insurance 17.7 1 x Salary up to $100,000 
Long-term Disability 17.11 66.67% of monthly salary up to $15,000 of salary 
Wellness Program 17.12 $500 per calendar year reimbursement 
CalPERS Retirement 18.1 Classic Employees – 2.7% at 55, highest year, EE 

pays 8% pretax 
PEPRA Employees – 2% at 62, final 3 years of 
compensation; EE pays 8% pre-tax  

Deferred Comp 457 18.1 District match up to $1,200 per calendar year  
Retiree Medical 18.2.2 Hired pre-1/1/03: State one party rate employee only; 

5 year vesting 
 
Hired post 1/1/03 and pre-7/1/2014: State 100/90 
plan EE, EE + sp, EE + dependents; 10 years PERS 
service 50% vested, 20 years PERS service 100% 
vested, 5 years with LGVSD 

18.2.3 Hired after 7/1/2014: 
10 years of District service, 50% vested, 100% vested 
at 20 years of District service.  Employee only 
coverage based on the One Party State Rate. 

Boot Stipend 19 Annual $325, to eligible employees to be paid on first 
full pay period check in January 
 

Prescription Safety 
Glasses 

19 Every two years $305, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible 
employees 
 
 

 
Note: Employees of the Unrepresented Bargaining Group do not have rights under the MOU as they 

pertain to discipline, discharge or employment status.  Reference to the MOU sections in this 
document in terms of defining benefits offered to this group is for convenience only. 

 
 
 
 

181



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Packet 2023\09072023\PaySchedule\ASR Pay Scale Rate Changes Resolution No 2023-2316.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  

 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Resolution Approving Pay Scales for Represented Classifications Effective July 1, 
2023, Pursuant to the California code of Regulation, Subchapter 1, Employees’ 
Retirement System Regulations Section 570.5. 

Item Type:   Consent   Action      X  Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests that the Board approve the attached Salary Pay Schedule and associated 
Resolution 2023-2316. 
 
BACKGROUND 
As a result of a three-year successor Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) agreement 
between Operating Engineers Local 3 and the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District the 
represented salary schedules for employee classifications was modified effective July 1, 2023. 
The MOU provides for a Cost-of-Living Adjustment (“COLA”) pay increase of 5% as of July 1, 
2023 and added a sixth salary step to the Salary Pay Schedule.  
 
Management and unrepresented employee employment agreements were modified to incorporate 
the 5% COLA and add a sixth step as well. 
 
The attached Salary Pay Schedule for fiscal year 2023-2024 combines changes across all 
represented, unrepresented, and management classifications. Longevity pay has been removed 
from the salary schedule and is now referenced as footnotes for eligible employees. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
Approval of the MOU and employment agreements were considered by the Board immediately 
prior to this agenda item. The previous salary schedule as of October 31, 2022 was approved 
on October 20, 2022. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal year 2023-2024 budget provides funding for the pay increases negotiated. 
 
  
 
  

Item Number____7__________ 

GM Review   ____CP__________ 

 

182

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


   

Resolution 2023-2316  Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-2316 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE PAY SCALES EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023 
PURSUANT TO THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, SUBCHAPTER 1, 

EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM REGULATIONS SECTION 570.5 
 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District”) adopted a Salary Pay Schedule 

for all employees on October 20, 2022; and  

WHEREAS, the District has approved a three-year successor Memorandum of Understanding 

with Operating Engineers Local 3 (“OE3”) on September 7, 2023 which includes a General 

Wage Cost-of-Living Adjustment (“COLA”) of 5% effective July 1, 2023; and  

WHEREAS, the District and OE3 has agreed to add a sixth salary step to the Salary Pay 

Schedule for all employee classifications; and  

WHEREAS, the management and unrepresented employee group agreed to incorporate the 

OE3 negotiated COLA and sixth salary step into their employment agreements; and 

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has contracted with CalPERS to provide 

certain retirement benefits to its employees; and  

WHEREAS, the governance of retirement benefits provided to public employees in the state of 

California is governed by California Government Code Title 2, Division 5, Part 3 Public 

Employees’ Retirement System; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Administration of the Public Employees’ Retirement System has 

promulgated regulations to implement requirements of the governing law; and 

WHEREAS, the California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System 

Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5) states that  

“(a) For purposes of determining the amount of “compensation earnable” pursuant to 

Government Code Sections 20630, 20636, and 20636.1, payrate shall be limited to the 

amount listed on a pay schedule that meets all of the following requirements: 

(1) Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in 

accordance with requirements of applicable public meeting laws;  

(2) Identifies the position title for every employee position;  

(3) Shows the payrate for each identified position, which may be stated as a 

single amount or as multiple amounts within a range;  

183



   

Resolution 2023-2316  Page 2 of 3 

(4) Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is 

hourly, daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually;  

(5) Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and 

available for public review from the employer during normal business hours or 

posted on the employer's internet website;  

(6) Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions;  

(7) Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less 

than five years; and  

(8) Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the payrate”. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District does hereby adopt the Salary Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2023, which is attached as 

Exhibit A and is included by reference, in accordance with the requirements of the California 

Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System Regulations section 570.5 

(2 CCR § 570.5). 

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, at a regular meeting thereof held on September 7, 2023, by the following 

vote of the members thereof: 

 AYES, and in favor thereof, Members: 

 NOES, Members: 

 ABSENT, Members: 

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

   

         ________________________________ 

           Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary 

           Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 

 

APPROVED: 

           (seal) 

___________________________________ 

Megan Clark, Board President 

184



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT A

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2023

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

Administrative Assistant 6,360           6,678           7,012           7,362           7,730           8,117           

Administrative/Financial Specialist 8,767           9,205           9,666           10,149        10,656        11,189        

Administrative Services Manager 15,470        16,244        17,056        17,909        18,804        19,744        

Assistant Engineer 9,677           10,161        10,669        11,202        11,763        12,351        

Associate Engineer 11,791        12,380        12,999        13,649        14,332        15,048        

Civil Engineering Technician 7,749           8,136           8,543           8,970           9,419           9,890           

Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 15,093        15,848        16,640        17,472        18,346        19,263        

Collection System Operator (1) 6,053           6,356           6,674           7,007           7,358           7,726           

Collection System Operator I  (1) 6,360           6,678           7,012           7,362           7,730           8,117           

Collection System Operator II 6,682           7,016           7,367           7,735           8,122           8,528           

Collection System Operator III 7,195           7,555           7,933           8,330           8,746           9,183           

Collection System Operator Lead 7,749           8,136           8,543           8,970           9,419           9,890           

CMMS Technician 7,749           8,136           8,543           8,970           9,419           9,890           

District Engineer 15,857        16,650        17,482        18,357        19,274        20,238        

Executive Assistant / Board Secretary 13,103        13,758        14,446        15,168        15,927        16,723        

Electrical Instrumentation Technician 9,211           9,671           10,155        10,663        11,196        11,756        

Environmental Services Supervisor 11,222        11,784        12,373        12,991        13,641        14,323        

Laboratory Analyst-in-Training  (1) 7,375           7,744           8,131           8,538           8,965           9,413           

Laboratory Analyst I    (1) 7,749           8,136           8,543           8,970           9,419           9,890           

Laboratory Analyst II 8,553           8,981           9,430           9,901           10,396        10,916        

Laboratory Analyst III 9,919           10,415        10,936        11,483        12,057        12,659        

Maintenance Supervisor 11,222        11,784        12,373        12,991        13,641        14,323        

Plant Manager 15,470        16,244        17,056        17,909        18,804        19,744        

Plant Operator-in-Training (1) 6,682           7,016           7,367           7,735           8,122           8,528           

Plant Operator I   (1) 7,020           7,371           7,740           8,126           8,533           8,959           

Plant Operator II 7,749           8,136           8,543           8,970           9,419           9,890           

Plant Operator III 8,553           8,981           9,430           9,901           10,396        10,916        

Plant Operator Lead 9,211           9,671           10,155        10,663        11,196        11,756        

Plant Operations Supervisor 11,222        11,784        12,373        12,991        13,641        14,323        

Skilled Maintenance Worker I   (1) 6,682           7,016           7,367           7,735           8,122           8,528           

Skilled Maintenance Worker II 7,749           8,136           8,543           8,970           9,419           9,890           

General Manager (2)

  How to Use this Pay Scale:  Steps 1 through 6 are the regular base wage levels for all positions.
  Longevity Pay is available to eligible employees hired prior to 9/7/2023. Employees hired after 9/7/2023 are not eligible for longevity pay.
  Longevity Pay equal to 5% of employee's base wage rate is given beginning on the 7th year of employment for eligible employees. 
  Additional Longevity Pay of 3%  is given beginning on the 11th year of employment for eligible employees.
  Additional Longevity Pay equal to 2% is given beginning on the 16th year of employment for management hired prior to 7/1/2016.
   (1) Employees in entry level classifications are not eligible for longevity pay.  
   (2) The General Manager position is an executive contract position. General Wage COLA effective August 1, 2023.

Resolution No. 2023-2316

Revised / Adopted ___________

Full Time Positions

23,333 Effective July 1, 2023    /  24,500 Effective August 1, 2023

Monthly Salary

Q:\PERSONNEL\PAYSCALES\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Res 2023-2316 Exhibit A185



Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report  

To: Board of Directors 

From: Curtis Paxton, General Manager 
  (415) 526-1511; cpaxton@lgvsd.org 

Mtg. Date: September 7, 2023 

Re: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Response to the Grand Jury Report (ADUs) 

Item Type: Consent  Action X  Information 

Standard Contract:    Yes   No (See attached) Not Applicable    . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Receive the 2022-23 Marin County Civil Grand Jury report titled “Build More ADUs – an Rx to 
Increase Marin’s Housing Supply” dated June 15, 2023. 

Review the draft response to the Grand Jury Report, and authorize the General Manager to 
provide the response to the Grand Jury. 

BACKGROUND 
The 2022-23 Marin County Civil Grand Jury issued a report titled “Build More ADUs – An Rx to 
Increase Marin’s Housing Supply” dated June 15, 2023.  A copy of the report is attached.  The 
Grand Jury is requesting that the District provide a response to Finding F7 and Recommendation 
R4 of the report by September 15, 2023.  A draft response is attached for the Board’s review and 
consideration.  

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On May 6, 2021, the Board adopted Ordinance 186 related to impact fees for ADUs. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Grand Jury Report: “Build More ADUs – An Rx to Increase Marin’s Housing Supply” dated
June 15, 2023

• Draft Response Letter

• Ordinance 186

Item 

Number_____8_________ 

GM Review       CP__________ 

186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



 

 

September 8, 2023 

The Honorable Judge James Chou 
Marin County Superior Court 
P.O. Box 4988 
San Rafael, CA  94913-4988 
Via PDF file to: departmentb@marin.courts.ca.gov 
 
Pat Shepherd, Foreperson 
Marin County Civil Grand Jury 
3501 Civic Center Drive, Room #275 
San Rafael, CA  94903 
Via PDF file to: grandjury@marincounty.org 
 
Re:  Response to Finding F7 and Recommendation R4 of Grand Jury Report (“Build More ADUs – An 

Rx to Increase Marin’s Housing Supply) dated June 15, 2023. 

 Dear Honorable Judge Chou and Foreperson Shepherd: 

Please find the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (LGVSD) response to the Grand Jury Report (“Build 

More ADUs – An Rx to Increase Marin’s Housing Supply) dated June 15, 2023.  

Finding F7 – Impact, connection, and capacity fees vary considerable throughout the County and such 

fees can be a disincentive to homeowners considering ADU development. 

LGVSD partially disagrees with the finding. 

LGVSD agrees that “Impact, connection, and capacity fees vary considerably throughout the County . . . “ 

LGVSD disagrees that “ . . . such fees can be a disincentive to homeowners considering ADU 

development.”  LGVSD has not received information or feedback from its customers that these fees are 

an obstacle that prevents them from developing ADUs.  Furthermore, as noted below, the “Finding” 

does not specifically apply to LGVSD as the District does not charge impact and/or connection fees for 

ADUs that are 1200 square feet or less.  It should also be noted, that “connection” and “capacity fees” 

are synonymous pursuant to the District’s Ordinance No. 186.   

Recommendation R4 -  By December 1, 2023, begin a feasibility assessment of waiving or significantly 

lowering impact and connection fees for units smaller than 750 square feet. 

This recommendation has already been implemented.  LGVSD adopted Ordinance No. 186 on 

05/06/2021 related to impact fees for ADUs.  The Ordinance states that LGVSD will not charge impact 

and connection fees for ADUs that are 1200 square feet or less. 

The LGVSD Board of Directors reviewed and discussed the Grand Jury Report and the LGVSD response at 

their Board Meeting on 09/07/2023.  The Board appreciates the work of the Grand Jury and the 

opportunity to respond. 

Please contact me at cpaxton@lgvsd.org or (415) 526-1511 if you have any questions or need any 

additional information. 

Sincerely,  

Curtis Paxton 

208

mailto:departmentb@marin.courts.ca.gov
mailto:grandjury@marincounty.org
mailto:cpaxton@lgvsd.org


 

 

General Manager 

209



210



211



212



213



 

 
 

 

9/7/2023 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, 2023 Operations Control Center 
Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

FORD 
NBWRA, 2023 Operations Control Center Ad Hoc 
Committee, 2023 GM Evaluation Ad Hoc Committee, 2023 
McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  2023 Fleet Management 
Ad Hoc Committee, 2023 SF Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, 
Other Reports  
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, CASA Energy Committee, 2023 Biosolids Ad 
Hoc Committee, 2023 Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
2023 SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, 2023 Engineering 
Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  2023 McInnis Marsh Ad 
Hoc Committee, 2023 GM Evaluation Ad Hoc Committee, 
2023 Development Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Marin Special Districts Association, 
2023 Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-Committee re: STPURWE, 
2022 Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 9 

214



215



216



217



218



219



                                                                                  AGENDA ITEM 10A 
                                                                                 DATE: September 7, 2023             

REVISED 06012021 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER 

 MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

                  YES     NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference:          

 

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

220



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2023\Agenda Scans 2023\09072023\10B Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

9/7/2023 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 10B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239


	Agenda 09072023
	A Closed Session
	1 Public Comment
	2A Board minutes 08172023
	2B Draft Warrant List
	2C Award of Contract for PC#1
	2D Award of Contract for On-Call Construction
	2E App of Allocation 350 Merrydale
	ASR 350 Merrydale
	350 Merrydale Rd Will Serve Letter
	Re: Will–Serve Letter


	2F Solar PV System Upgrades NOE
	3.1 General Manager Report
	3.2 Collections Quarterly Report
	3.3 Operations Quarterly Report
	3.4 Engineering Quarterly Report
	3.5 Administration Quarterly Report
	3.6 4th QTR Treasurer's Report June 2023
	4th QTR Treasurers Report June 2023 packet.pdf
	4th QTR Treasurers Report June 2023
	Qtrly Interest June 30 2023- LAIF Operating 70-21-005
	715679 CD Recycled Water
	716073 CD SRF
	P&L Budget vs Actuals June 2023


	3.7 Blue Point STRAW donation report 22-23
	4 Donation Request STRAW 2023-24
	5 LGVSD and OE3 MOU
	6 Unrepresented Employees Contract Terms and Agreements
	Attachments A-E Manager Contracts.pdf
	Attachment A ASchultz
	_LGVSD_Schultz Employment Agreement 09 07 2023 to 06 30 2026
	Exhibit A - contract 12-2-21 - LGVSD Admin Financial Specialist 01 21
	Exhibit B - Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - ASchultz 9-7-23
	Exhibit C - Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23

	Attachment B DMcDonald
	_LGVSD_2023_DMcdomald_Employment_Agreement Sept 7 2023 to June 30 2026
	Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
	And
	WITNESSETH
	Section 1: Duties
	Section 2: Term
	Section 3: Salary
	Section 4: Performance Evaluation
	Section 5: Management Benefits
	Section 6: Professional Development
	Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay
	Section 8: Notices
	Section 9: General Provisions

	Exhibit A contract 12-2-21 - LGVSD Administrative Services Manager 11 18
	Exhibit B - Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - DMcDonald 9-7-23
	Exhibit C - Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23

	Attachment C GPease
	_LGVSD_Greg Pease Employment Agreement 09 07 2023 to 06 30 2026
	Exhibit A - contract 12-2-21 - LGVSD Collect System Maint Safety Manager 01 21
	Exhibit B - Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - GPease 9-7-23
	Exhibit C - Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23

	Attachment D MCortez
	_LGVSD_Cortez Employment Agreement 09 07 2023 to 06 30 2026
	Exhibit A - contract 12-2-21 - LGVSD District Engineer 11 18
	Exhibit B - Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - MCortez 9-7-23
	Exhibit C - Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23

	Attachment E MLiebmann
	_LGVSD_Liebmann Employment Agreement 09 07 2023 to 06 30 2026
	Exhibit A - contract 12-2-21 - LGVSD Plant Manager 01 21
	Exhibit B - Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Exhibit B - MLiebmann 9-7-23
	Exhibit C - Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 09-07-23



	7 Resolution No 2023-2316 Pay Scale Rate Changes
	Exhibit A_Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2023 Res 2023-2316.pdf
	Salary Schedule


	8 Grand Jury Report Response ADUs
	9 Board Member Reports
	9.3 Murray Other Reports
	10A Board Member Meeting Attendance Request
	10B Board Agenda Item Requests
	11 Various Industry Articles (2)



